# A REVIEW OF RESEARCH ON ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE, CRIMINAL BEHAVIOR, AND THE CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM RESPONSE IN AMERICAN INDIAN AND ALASKA NATIVE COMMUNITIES

Darryl S. Wood

Program in Public Affairs

Washington State University Vancouver

December 2009

This report was supported by Contract TDL 2008-237 awarded by the National Institute of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice. Points of view in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily represent the official position or policies of the U.S. Department of Justice. All content within, including any errors or omissions, remains the responsibility of the author.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

Table of Contents	ii
Table of Tables	iii
Executive Summary	iv
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Chapter 2: Patterns of Alcohol and Drug Use and Abuse  National Estimates of AI/AN Alcohol and Drug Use  Localized Estimates of AI/AN Alcohol and Drug Use  Adult Alcohol and Drug Use  Alcohol and Drug Use by AI/AN Youth  Alcohol and Drug Use by Urban American Indians and Alaska Natives	5 12 12 17 25
Summary – Patterns of AI/AN Alcohol and Drug Use	
Chapter 3: The Connection Between Alcohol and Drug Use and Crime	32 32 39
Chapter 4: Responses to Alcohol and Drug Abuse in AI/AN Communities  Local Alcohol Prohibition  Alcohol Prohibition on Lower-48 Reservations  Alcohol Prohibition in Alaska Native Villages  Understanding the Effects of Local Prohibition  Other Criminal Justice Responses to Substance Abuse Related Crime	50 51 56 58
Chapter 5: Promising Research Approaches  Community Trials  Community Readiness  Considering Substance Abuse in the Local Non-AI/AN Population  Specific Useful Methodological Techniques	71 71 73
Chapter 6: Conclusions	79
Works Cited	82

# **TABLE OF TABLES**

Table 1:	Past Year Alcohol Use and Abuse, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 2001-2002	9
Table 2:	Individual and Relatives' Alcoholism and Problem Drinking among Current Drinkers, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 2001-2002	9
Table 3:	Past Year Alcohol Use and Abuse, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 1992.	11
Table 4:	Individual and Relatives' Alcoholism among Current Drinkers, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 1992.	11
Table 5:	Proportion of Sexual Assault and Family Violence Cases Reported to the Alaska State Troopers Involving Alcohol and/or Drug Use, Alaska Native Victims and Offenders vs. All Other Victims and Offenders, 2003 and 2004	34
Table 6:	Proportion of All Offenses Involving Alcohol or Drugs Occurring on Indian Reservations in 5 Northwestern States, 2004 to 2007.	36
Table 7:	Proportion of UCR Part I Index Offenses Involving Alcohol or Drugs Occurring on Indian Reservations in 5 Northwestern States, 2004 to 2007.	36
Table 8:	Violent Victimization and Perpetrator Intoxication in Two Reservation Populations, Circa 2001 to 2002.	41

## **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This report considers research on the problem of crime resulting from alcohol and other drug abuse in American Indian and Alaska Native (AI/AN) communities. It provides a review of published research from a variety of disciplines and it includes re-analyses of a number of secondary data sources. Overall, our understanding of alcohol and other drug related crime in AI/AN communities is mixed: the degree to which AI/AN substance use – especially alcohol abuse – accompanies violent crime is fairly well established while our knowledge about the criminal justice and legal remedies to the problem is sorely deficient.

To begin, this report first considered the epidemiology of AI/AN substance abuse so as to better understand the nature of the alcohol and other drug use underlying the offenses committed while under their influence. A number of key points emerged:

- On a national level, substance abuse appears to be a greater problem among AI/ANs relative to the general population. Although they are less likely to report drinking, AI/ANs are more likely than non-AI/ANs to report alcohol abuse in the form of binge drinking (i.e., five or more drinks in one sitting in the past month) and heavy drinking (i.e., binge drinking five or more times in the past month). When disaggregated by age, this "low frequency/high quantity" pattern is most apparent among adults whereas patterns of AI/AN underage drinking are similar to what is found for non-AI/AN youth.
- ➤ AI/AN respondents to national surveys report rates of illicit drug use that are greater than rates of non-AI/ANs. These elevated rates are reported by adult and adolescent AI/ANs.
- National surveys indicate AI/ANs are more likely than the general public to report being symptomatic of alcohol and drug use disorders as defined in the American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders*.
- ➤ Tribal and multi-tribal surveys largely confirm the findings of national surveys regarding AI/AN alcohol use, showing that relative to the general population, AI/ANs are less likely to consume alcohol but more likely to consume hazardous quantities per drinking occasion. In terms of illicit drug use, the few surveys of this type indicate that although AI/AN adults are more likely than non-AI/ANs to be current drug users, there is no evidence to indicate they have a higher lifetime prevalence or are more likely to suffer from drug use disorders.
- ➤ The alcohol and drug use of AI/AN youth has been the subject of considerable research, most of which indicates a higher lifetime prevalence relative to the

general population of American youth and that they are more likely to be current alcohol and/or drug users. A series of repeated cross-sectional surveys of American Indian youth conducted over the past 25 years has shown (1) that their substance use trends mirror those of non-AI/AN youth with increases and decreases over time resulting from fluctuations in the proportion of American Indian youth that are moderate users and (2) that the higher overall rate of American Indian youth substance use throughout the last quarter-century is a function of a consistently large proportion of American Indian youth who are high risk users.

Although it is more of a problem than in the general population, most AI/ANs are not alcohol and drug abusers while those that have used at some point in their lives live drug-free today. Likewise, even heavy drinkers on average only consume alcohol slightly more than once a week.

Research on substance abuse and crime in AI/AN communities was considered with a distinction drawn between studies using measures of co-occurrence (which tell us the proportion of offenses were determined to have involved drinking or drug use) and studies using measures of association (which gauge the extent to which variations in substance use are accompanied by variations in victimization or criminal behavior). Although these studies do not provide proof that alcohol use is a cause of crime in AI/AN communities, they do indicate that there are higher levels of alcohol involvement in AI/AN crime and that AI/ANs who use alcohol are more likely to be a crime victim or perpetrator:

- ➤ Police statistics from Indian Country and Alaska Native villages point to high levels of alcohol involvement in the commission of criminal acts. One study of crimes reported to tribal police serving Indian reservations in five Northwestern states found that about half of all violent crimes and about an eighth of property crimes involved alcohol while a much smaller proportion (3.3% and 1.8% of violent and property crimes, respectively) involved illicit drugs. Research from rural Alaska indicates that Alaska Natives were much more likely than non-Natives to have been drinking prior to committing sexual assaults or acts of family violence.
- National surveys (i.e., the National Crime Victimization Survey) and tribal surveys conducted in Alaska and Colorado indicate that in comparison to non-AI/AN victims, AI/AN victims were more likely to have been victimized by perpetrators that were under the influence of alcohol.

- Research on the association between alcohol use and violent crime among AI/ANs is unequivocal. Both bivariate and multivariate analyses have clearly established a strong correlation between alcohol use and AI/AN criminal victimization and perpetration. These studies indicate that AI/ANs who use alcohol are more likely to be involved with violence either as a victim or as a perpetrator.
- Studies that examine the association between substance use and crime in AI/AN communities have been limited methodologically by their cross-sectional designs (which makes it difficult to ascertain the direction of the association between substance use and crime) and their over reliance on self-report surveys (which are sensitive to social desirability bias). Case-control and longitudinal designs for studying the relationship between substance use and crime in AI/AN communities are considered as potential remedies to those shortcomings.

This report next focused upon research on responses to the abovementioned problems. With the exception of one policy – local alcohol prohibition – very little is known about the effects of criminal justice policy and specific initiatives aimed at reducing alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities:

- The effectiveness of local alcohol prohibition has been mixed and is mostly a function of geographic isolation. A number of studies from Alaska have shown that Alaska Native villages that are removed from the state's highway system can reduce the incidence of alcohol related violence by outlawing the importation and/or possession of alcohol. However, in the lower-48 states, where Indian reservations are connected to off-reservation alcohol merchants, local alcohol prohibition has been found to be largely futile.
- ➤ Earlier research indicates that local prohibition on lower-48 reservations has been ineffective because it leads to a hazardous binge drinking style that increases the likelihood of harm while doing little to reduce the availability of alcohol. However, over the past 20 years a number of changes have occurred including an increase in the number of tribes that allow alcohol sales as well as changes in American Indian drinking practices that call into question the continued validity of past conclusions about the effects of tribal alcohol bans.
- Although dry Alaska Native villages have less violence relative to wet villages, those villages that prohibit alcohol still have rates of violence and other alcohol related harms that are much higher than what is found in less isolated locales. The elevated rates of violence in dry Alaska Native villages compared to what is found generally raise the possibility that formal legal sanctions are limited as

prevention policy and that aggressive enforcement of liquor laws can accomplish only so much. Despite the best efforts of police and village leaders, bootlegging is common and residents of dry villages abuse other substances including marijuana, inhalants, homebrew, and non-beverage alcohol when the illicit alcohol supply is limited. There is also the possibility that local prohibition serves to displace problems of alcohol related violence when village alcoholics are banished and when village residents are victimized while binge drinking during trips to urban centers.

- Aside from local alcohol prohibition, little is known about the effect of legal and criminal justice policies upon alcohol and drug related crime. The effects of initiatives aimed at the problem in AI/AN communities are rarely the subject of robust evaluation and the studies that have been conducted generally are more formative than summative in nature. Likewise, the effects of day-to-day criminal justice policies such as Public Law 280 or the cross-deputization of tribal police upon alcohol and drug related crime are largely unknown.
- ➤ In addition to the general difficulties involved with research in the criminal justice system, evaluators of initiatives aimed at reducing alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities are hindered by difficulties measuring outcomes (including low base rates in small populations and poor recordkeeping), by political reluctance against evaluation, by *ex post facto* research execution, by unclear time demarcation of program implementation (which hampers the use of quasi experimental designs), and by a history of malfeasance in research experienced by AI/AN communities.

Prior to concluding, this report presents a number of research approaches that have the potential to improve our understanding of legal and criminal justice responses to alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities:

➤ Based upon community-researcher partnerships, community trials allow for the rigorous examination of the effects of environmental interventions upon the harms associated with substance abuse. The community trials approach to research has much to offer relative to the *ex post facto* evaluations of initiatives normally conducted in this area. Multiple interventions are employed in community trials to disrupt the complex, interconnected systems that influence substance use in order to bring about changes that are not possible when single interventions are employed. To test the effects of interventions, community trials employ quasi-experimental research designs with matched comparison groups which

- enhance the internal validity of the results and multiple outcome measures are used to account for the effects of the multiple interventions.
- Funding program managers and researchers should be sensitive to the idea that community readiness for change has a substantial effect upon the impact of interventions employed in AI/AN communities designed to reduce the incidence of alcohol and drug related crime. According to the Community Readiness Model, the success of interventions is partly a function the extent to which communities are capable of their implementation. This model sensitizes us to the idea that while the communities that are most in need of interventions are the same communities that are least able to enact the necessary changes, even those communities that seem beyond hope can eventually build the requisite capacity to prevent alcohol and drug related crime.
- Researchers should consider the larger geographic and cultural context when studying alcohol and drug use in AI/AN communities because alcohol and drug use behaviors among a given group of AI/ANs are often a reflection of what is found in the general population of a given locale. In a number of places the AI/AN and the non-AI/AN populations are both much more likely than average to have substance abuse problems. This is important because it may be an indication that AI/AN substance abuse is the result of factors unrelated to their cultural heritage and because it implies that prevention efforts focusing only on AI/AN communities without dealing with the larger drug and alcohol environment have much less chance of success.
- ➤ Specific underutilized methodological techniques have the potential to enhance research on the causes of, and the responses to, alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities. Where appropriate, it may be useful (1) to oversample AI/ANs in general population surveys to make reliable comparisons, (2) to measure outcomes using public health records in order to avoid the bias that afflicts measures derived from criminal justice records, and (3) use individual level surveys to examine the effects of community level policies such as local alcohol prohibition or Public Law 280.
- Finally, it is recommended that initiatives be given an adequate amount of time to develop before being subject to formal summative evaluation. The AI/AN communities that have been successful battling alcohol and drug related crime have taken much longer than the typical project funding cycle to turn things around. There is a risk that positive program effects might be missed when initiatives are evaluated too quickly.

#### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

For many in American Indian and Alaska Native (AI/AN) communities, crime – especially violent crime – is synonymous with the use and abuse of alcohol and other drugs. And while substance abuse touches all Americans in one way or another, its effects are especially acute in Indian Country and Alaska Native villages (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2008; May, 1996). This report provides a detailed review of the available literature on the problem of crime resulting from alcohol and other drug abuse in AI/AN communities. In doing so, this report considers (1) the epidemiology of AI/AN substance abuse, (2) the connection between alcohol and other drug abuse and crime in AI/AN communities, (3) the effects of policies and programs in AI/AN communities intended to diminish the incidence of alcohol and drug related crime problem, and (4) the research approaches that have the potential to refine our understanding of what American Indians and Alaska Natives (AI/ANs) can do to alleviate the problem.

This report is divided into six chapters. Chapter 1 introduces the report and provides a description of the methods used in the literature review. In Chapter 2, the empirical research on the prevalence of alcohol and other drug use among AI/ANs in the U.S is considered. This review of the epidemiology of AI/AN substance use serves as background for later chapters by providing an understanding of the nature of the drug and alcohol abuse underlying a substantial portion of the crime occurring in Indian Country and Alaska Native villages. Based upon the reviewed literature, it appears that substance abuse is a greater problem among AI/ANs than it is in the general population.

The connection between substance use and crime in AI/AN communities is the focus of Chapter 3 which considers both the co-occurrence and the association of substance use and crime. Co-occurrence is examined in terms of the extent to which offenses involve drinking or drug use. The official statistics and victimization survey results considered indicate that alcohol is more likely to be involved in crimes with AI/AN victims or perpetrators than in crimes with non-AI/AN victims or perpetrators. However, as is the case with most other phenomena, there is a great deal of variation in the co-occurrence of AI/AN crime and substance use that depends upon tribal affiliation and location. To examine the association between crime and substance abuse among AI/ANs, the literature review specifically considered correlational studies that allow for an understanding of the extent to which differences in levels of drug and/alcohol abuse

correspond with differences in the prevalence of criminal behavior. Although the published research generally indicates that there is indeed a statistical association between alcohol use and AI/AN offending and victimization, none of the studies considered were able to establish a causal relationship between drinking and crime.

Criminal justice and legal policy aimed at dealing with substance abuse and crime in AI/AN communities is the focus of Chapter 4. The effects of policies such as local alcohol prohibition and the outcomes of community initiatives are examined. As this report focuses on research dealing with drug and alcohol use *and crime*, the review of the literature presented within is limited primarily to legal and criminal justice system responses to substance abuse related crime in AI/AN communities. A substantial literature on the general issue of AI/AN drug and alcohol abuse already exists and is beyond the scope of the purpose of this report. An extensive review of drug and alcohol prevention among AI/AN youth by Beauvais and Trimble (2006), a classic examination of alcohol policy for reservations and bordertowns by May (1992), and a concise review of indigenous community-based treatment by Jiwa, Kelly, and Pierre-Hansen (2008) are all available for those that are interested.

Chapter 5 takes a look at a number of promising approaches for conducting research on substance abuse and crime in Indian Country and Alaska Native villages. These approaches include the community trials method and the community readiness model as well as a host of specific techniques that have been shown to enhance the validity of research on the subject. As will become apparent throughout this report, these suggested research approaches are aimed primarily toward studies of the effects of policies and initiatives against substance abuse and related criminal behavior; it is in the area of evaluation of efforts to deal with that problem that our knowledge is most deficient. Finally, Chapter 6 serves as a conclusion.

#### LITERATURE REVIEW METHODS

This report is based upon a review of the available literature on alcohol and drug use in relation to criminal perpetration and victimization among AI/ANs. Although it was intended that the literature search be as inclusive as possible in terms of the research considered, the nature of the task at hand precluded the use of truly systematic methods. The combinations of all of the potential factors to be taken into account put a full-fledged systematic review beyond the scope of work of this project.

When the permutations of these factors are considered, the difficulty of conducting literature searches in a completely systematic fashion becomes apparent. To begin with, this review is actually a combination of three separate literature reviews. As such, specific systematic review protocols would have had to been developed to find the literature on the topic of the epidemiology of AI/AN substance use, on the topic of the relationship between substance use and crime among AI/ANs, and on the topic of the responses to substance use related crime in AI/AN communities. A second factor considered was that these topics are the purview of multiple disciplines (e.g., public health, psychology, criminology, sociology) which would have required strategies for searching for research on all three topics across all specific disciplinary bibliographical databases. The next consideration was that the behaviors under consideration – substance use and crime – are multifaceted in their own right and subsume numerous acts that would have required an additional degree of specificity during database searches. For instance, to find articles about crime would have required searches on terms such as "assault," "rape," "intimate partner violence," "domestic violence," "conduct disorder," or "delinquency" while searches for substance use would have had to include alcohol as well as individual drugs (e.g. cocaine or methamphetamine). An additional factor to have been considered in the development of a truly systematic protocol for locating relevant literature is the multitude of specifications for the AI/AN population. Searches limited to "American Indian" or "Alaska Native" might miss research focusing only on a specific tribe or language group or fail to deal with all forms of the ever-changing vernacular (e.g., "American Indian" vs. "Native American," "Navajo" vs. "Diné," or "Eskimo" vs. "Yupik" and/or "Iñupiat") would have to be searched for in order to assure an exhaustive review. All together, the possibilities would have been endless if all four factors – topic X discipline X behavior X population/culture/tribe - had been taken into account in a systematic literature search.

Instead of a truly systematic review based only on completely specified searches of bibliographic databases, this review combined varied approaches for locating relevant literature. First, a number of search engines and bibliographic databases, including Criminal Justice Abstracts, Google Scholar, the National Criminal Justice Reference Service, PubMed, and the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism's ETOH database, were consulted to locate the relevant publications. The bibliographies of the research located by database searches were then examined in a "snowball" fashion to find additional relevant studies. Furthermore, specific

searches were conducted to insure studies by prolific researchers (e.g., Fred Beauvais, Phil May, Les Whitbeck) were located. Each of these techniques were augmented by a re-examination of publications accumulated by the author while studying the subject at hand over the past decade-and-a-half. Given the non-systematic methods used to find the research considered below, this review should not be considered exhaustive or definitive. There is, undoubtedly, research that should have been considered in this review that was not covered. The value of what is written here should be judged accordingly.

## CHAPTER 2: PATTERNS OF ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE AND ABUSE

It is necessary to first consider the patterns of substance use in AI/AN communities before examining research on the relationship between alcohol and other drug use and crime and the response of the criminal justice system to same. Doing so allows for an understanding of the nature of the substance use underlying the offenses that are committed under the influence drugs and alcohol. Furthermore, such a consideration makes it possible to dispel many of the stereotypes surrounding AI/AN drug, and, especially, alcohol use. This chapter considers the published results of national, regional, tribal, and local surveys on AI/AN drug and alcohol use and includes an examination of urban and adolescent patterns of substance use.

Across all of the research considered, a few generalizations about AI/AN substance use emerge. On balance, the research indicates that relative to the general population, AI/ANs are more likely to use drugs and to consume alcohol in ways that are considered problematic even though their rates of alcohol use are actually lower than average. These patterns hold true for adults and for AI/AN youth. However, although there are considerable substance use problems among AI/ANs, those problems afflict only a minority of the AI/AN population. Most AI/ANs are not currently drug users and those that have used at some point in their lives live drug-free today. Likewise, even though their prevalence of binge and heavy drinking is greater than what is reported for the general population, the large majority of AI/ANs that consume alcohol do so in moderation.

#### NATIONAL ESTIMATES OF AI/AN ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE

A number of different studies allow for national level estimates of substance use by AI/ANs. These include the National Survey on Drug Use and Health, the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey, the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions, and the National Longitudinal Alcohol Epidemiologic Survey. Large, nationally representative samples were used in each of these which makes possible comparisons of relatively small sub-populations such as AI/ANs. However, when considering estimates of AI/AN substance use based on these nationwide surveys, a couple of points should be kept in mind because of their possible effects upon comparability with more local AI/AN populations. First, even though the studies considered nationally representative samples, the extent to which the sub-sample of AI/ANs represents the AI/AN population as a whole is unknown but is thought to be

"predominantly nonreservation" (O'Connell, Novins, Beals, & Spicer, 2005, p. 108). Additionally, the extent to which respondents to nationwide surveys are tribally affiliated is unclear because AI/AN heritage was based upon self-identification. As will be seen in the latter part of this chapter, there are some differences between the results of nationwide surveys and those of surveys that have considered reservation populations.

The National Survey on Drug Use and Health (NSDUH)<sup>1</sup> is the first study considered here to examine the differences between AI/AN and non-AI/AN alcohol and drug use on a nationwide basis. Conducted on a regular basis since 1971 by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), the NSDUH uses a particularly large sample (67,802 respondents in 2006 which included 874 respondents who self-identified as AI/AN) which allows for comparisons between sub-populations (SAMSHA, 2007b). It is administered in-person to ensure completeness and to achieve a relative high response rate (75% in 2006) using computer-assisted, self-interview administration protocols to reduce social-desirability bias (SAMSHA, 2007b). A number of reports based on analyses of NSDUH data from various years provide for comparisons of the prevalence of drug and alcohol use by AI/ANs with that of the general population. Overall, when there were differences between AI/ANs and non-AI/ANs in the NSDUH, it was generally AI/ANs who reported higher rates of drug use substance use and abuse.

An early report using NSDUH data from 1999 to 2001 found few differences between AI/ANs and non-AI/ANs. For all respondents age 12 and over, AI/ANs were more likely than respondents of other racial/ethnic groups to report past month use of any illicit drug and to report rates of binge and heavy drinking<sup>2</sup> that were higher than those reported by blacks and Asians but similar to what was reported by whites and Hispanics (Office of Applied Studies, 2003). Compared to a combined non-AI/AN category, AI/ANs age 12 and over were more likely to report an alcohol or illicit drug use disorder<sup>3</sup> in the past year. There were also a few differences between AI/ANs and non-AI/ANs in the 1999 to 2001 NSDUH when comparisons were broken down by age groups. Among 12 to 17 year olds, AI/ANs reported higher rates of past month

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The NSDUH was known as the 'National Household Survey on Drug Abuse' until 2001.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>In the NSDUH, "binge drinking" is defined as five or more drinks in one setting in the past month and "heavy drinking" is binge drinking on five or more days in the past month (Office of Applied Studies, 2003).

<sup>3</sup>In the NSDUH, respondents are classified as having "alcohol use disorders" or "illicit drug disorders" if they reported symptoms of abuse of or dependence on alcohol or illicit drugs as defined by criteria specified in the American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.)(Office of Applied Studies, 2003).

illicit drug use and binge drinking (but not heavy drinking) (Office of Applied Studies, 2003). For young adults age 18 to 25 there were no statistically significant differences in rates of reported illicit drug use, binge drinking, or heavy drinking. The only difference for respondents age 26 and over was in the rate of reported past month illicit drug use; rates of reported binge drinking and heavy drinking were similar (Office of Applied Studies, 2003).

A more recent report on analyses of the 2002 to 2005 NSDUH provides the basis for further comparisons. In regards to alcohol use, AI/AN respondents were less likely than non-AI/ANs to report past year drinking but more likely to report symptoms characteristic of an alcohol use disorder (Office of Applied Studies, 2007a). With one exception – there was no difference in past year drinking among 12 to 17 year olds – this pattern held true for respondents of both genders and all age categories. Past year rates of reported illicit drug use or of symptoms of illicit drug use disorder were also higher for AI/ANs for the sample as a whole and across both genders and all three age categories (Office of Applied Studies, 2007a). Considering specific illicit drugs, AI/ANs were more likely than non-AI/ANs to report past year marijuana, cocaine, hallucinogen, and hallucinogen use (Office of Applied Studies, 2007a).

A pair of NSDUH reports regarding youth substance use allow for further comparisons. Analyses of five years of NSDUH data (2002-2006) to examine patterns of underage drinking among respondents age 12 to 20 provided largely equivocal results: compared with the sample as a whole, AI/ANs reported similar rates of lifetime, past year, and past month alcohol use and past month binge drinking (Pemberton, Colliver, T. Robbins, & Gfroerer, 2008). The only differences between the two groups is that underage AI/ANs were more likely to report past year alcohol use disorders and *less* likely to report past month heavy drinking (Pemberton et al., 2008). The other NSDUH report dealing with youth substance use specifically considered marijuana use in 2005. According to their analysis, AI/AN youth are much more likely than youth of any other race/ethnicity to report marijuana use; AI/AN 12 to 17 year olds reported past month marijuana use at least twice as often as 12 to 17 year old whites, blacks, Asians, or Hispanics (Office of Applied Studies, 2007b).

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The NSDUH does not distinguish between hallucinogen use for recreational purposes versus hallucinogen use for ceremonial purposes.

Surveys conducted for the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BFRSS) are another source for reliable national estimates of AI/AN substance use. Two reports have been published that allow for national comparisons of binge drinking. One such study by Denny, Holtzman, and Cobb (2003) considered Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) surveys from 1997 and 1999 to compare rates of self-reported binge drinking for AI/AN versus non-AI/AN respondents. Overall, although AI/AN respondents were slightly more likely to report binge drinking, that difference was not statistically significant (16.7% [95% c.i. 14.2-19.2] for AI/ANs, 14.6% [95% c.i. 14.4-14.9] for non-AI/ANs). A similar consideration of BRFSS data for the years 2000 to 2006 found no statistically significant differences between AI/ANs and non-Hispanic whites in rates of binge drinking or heavy drinking (Steele, Cardinez, Richardson, Tom-Orme, & Shaw, 2008).

Estimates of alcohol use and abuse from the 2001–2002 National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC) also allow for detailed comparisons of AI/AN drinking with that of the general population on a national level (Chen et al., 2006). A number of measures of adult alcohol use and abuse estimated from responses to the NESARC are presented in Table 1 to compare AI/AN drinking patterns with those of the general population. Reported standard errors were used to calculate 95 percent confidence intervals for each estimated rate and the overlap between confidence intervals was then examined to judge the statistical significance of differences in rates (Schenker & Gentleman, 2001) for each comparison.

Overall, the NESARC comparisons indicate AI/ANs are less likely to report alcohol use but those that do drink are more likely to report alcohol consumption patterns that are considered problematic. For instance, although relatively fewer AI/ANs reported having at least one drink in they year prior to responding to the NESARC, those that were "current drinkers" were more likely to report "heavy drinking" (defined as averaging 2 drinks per day for men or 1 drink per day for women) (Chen et al., 2006). Rates of binge drinking (defined as 5 or more drinks in a day for men or 4 or more drinks in a day for women) generally were also higher for AI/AN drinkers than what was found in the general population; a larger proportion of AI/AN drinkers reported any binge drinking in the past year as well as averaging at least one binge drinking episode a month (i.e., 12 or more times in the past year). AI/AN drinkers were also more likely to report drinking enough to feel drunk and to report symptoms indicative of a DSM-IV alcohol disorder (Chen et al., 2006).

Table 1: Past Year Alcohol Use and Abuse, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 2001-2002.

	AI/AN			Total, U.S.		
Pattern of Alcohol Use or Abuse	<b>%</b>	SE	95% C.I.	%	SE	95% C.I.
Proportion of Entire Population						
Current Drinker <sup>1</sup>	58.2	2.6	(53.1-63.4)	65.4	0.6	(64.3-66.6)
Proportion of Current Drinkers						
Heavy Drinker <sup>2</sup>	21.9	2.6	(16.9-26.9)	15.7	0.3	(15.0-16.3)
Exceed Low-Risk Drinking Limits <sup>3</sup>	51.8	2.9	(46.1-57.4)	43.7	0.5	(42.6-44.7)
Binge Drank <sup>4</sup> at Least Once	44.9	3.0	(39.1-50.7)	36.7	0.6	(35.6-37.8)
Binge Drank 1 to 11 Times	15.9	1.8	(12.4-19.4)	14.7	0.3	(14.1-15.3)
Binge Drank 12 or More Times	27.8	2.7	(22.6-33.0)	21.4	0.4	(20.6-22.2)
Drank Enough to Feel Drunk	44.4	2.9	(38.8-50.1)	37.1	0.6	(36.0-38.2)
DSM-IV Alcohol Disorder <sup>5</sup>	20.8	2.5	(16.0-25.6)	12.9	0.4	(12.2-13.6)

Source: Adapted from Chen et al. (2006)

Notes: <sup>1</sup>Consumed 1 or more drinks in past year.

<sup>2</sup>Consumed, on average, more than 2 drinks/day for men and 1 drink/day for women.

Table 2: Individual and Relatives' Alcoholism and Problem Drinking among Current Drinkers<sup>1</sup>, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 2001-2002.

	AI/AN			Total, U.S.			
<b>Current Drinkers Reporting</b>	<b>%</b>	SE	95% C.I.	%	SE	95% C.I.	
Family History of Alcoholism	73.1	2.5	(78.0-68.2)	55.4	0.8	(56.9-53.8)	
Alcoholic Parents	36.4	2.9	(30.7-42.1)	23.1	0.4	(22.2-23.9)	
Alcoholic Spouse/Partner	16.3	1.7	(12.9-19.7)	10.5	0.3	(9.8-11.1)	
Ever Receiving Alcoholism Treatment	10.0	2.0	(6.1-13.8)	4.3	0.2	(4.0-4.7)	

Source: Adapted from Chen et al. (2006)

Note: <sup>1</sup>Consumed 1 or more drinks in past year.

One unique aspect of the NESARC is that it also asked questions about the problem drinking of the respondents' relatives (Chen et al., 2006). As is shown in Table 2, AI/AN drinkers were more likely than the typical American drinker to report having relatives with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Consumed, on average, more than 3 drinks/occasion or 7 drinks/week for women or 4 drinks/occasion or 14 drinks/week for men (NIAAA, 2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Consumed 5 or more drinks for men or 4 or more drinks for women in a single day.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Met the APA's (1994) criteria for alcohol abuse or alcohol dependence.

alcohol problems<sup>5</sup> including a family history of alcoholism, alcoholic parents, or an alcoholic spouse/domestic partner. AI/AN drinkers were also more likely to report that they had ever received treatment for their problems with alcohol (Chen et al., 2006).

The 1992 National Longitudinal Alcohol Epidemiologic Survey (NLAES), the forerunner of the 2001-2002 NESARC, also allows for similar estimates of AI/AN alcohol use and abuse that can be put in context relative to national estimates. As in the NESARC, the results of the NLAES indicate AI/ANs are more likely to have alcohol problems. In Table 3 we see that AI/AN respondents to the NLAES reported rates of past year alcohol use and heavy drinking that were similar to what was found for the general population while rates of binge drinking (at least once in the past year and between 1 to 11 times in the past year), rates of drinking to drunkenness, and rates of DSM-IV alcohol disorder symptoms were greater than what was found nationally (Stinson et al., 1998). Results from the NLAES also indicate that AI/AN drinkers were more likely than typical American drinkers to report having relatives with alcohol problems. As shown in Table 4, AI/AN drinkers were more likely than drinkers in the general population to report having a family history of alcoholism, having alcoholic parents, or having an alcoholic spouse/domestic partner; they were also more likely to report being treated for problems with alcohol at some point in their lives (Stinson et al., 1998).

Besides the NSDUH, the BRFSS, the NESARC, and the NLAES, there are few other national estimates of AI/AN substance. One other national study that bears mention is the Monitoring the Future survey of middle school and high school students that has been conducted since the 1970s. Unfortunately, very few AI/AN respondents are included in its sample which lessens the reliability of any estimates of substance use and the comparisons made from same. Even when multiple years of Monitoring the Future data are considered as a single cross-section, confidence intervals on estimates of AI/AN students' substance use have been substantial. In separate analyses, one that combined data from 1985 to 1989 (Bachman et al., 1991) and the other that considered the years 1996 to 2000 (Wallace Jr. et al., 2002), 95 percent confidence intervals for some estimates of AI/AN students' reported substance use were as high as

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>An alcoholic or problem drinker was defined in the NESARC "for each respondent as a person who has: physical or emotional problems because of drinking; problems with a spouse, family, or friends because of drinking; problems at work or school because of drinking; problems with the police because of drinking—like drunk driving; or a person who seems to spend a lot of time drinking or being hung-over" (Chen et al., 2006, p. 9).

plus-or-minus 6.3 percent and plus-or-minus 5.6 percent, respectively. As a result, estimated differences would have to be rather sizeable before they would approach statistical significance.

Table 3: Past Year Alcohol Use and Abuse, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 1992.

	AI/AN			Total, U.S.		
Pattern of Alcohol Use or Abuse	%	SE	95% C.I.	%	SE	95% C.I.
Proportion of Entire Population						
Current Drinker <sup>1</sup>	41.9	4.5	(33.1-50.7)	44.4	0.4	(43.6-45.2)
Proportion of Current Drinkers						
Heavy Drinker <sup>2</sup>	12.3	2.9	(6.6-18.0)	16.9	0.3	(16.2-17.6)
Binge Drank <sup>3</sup> at Least Once	80.8	4.5	(72.0-89.6)	55.9	0.6	(54.7-57.1)
Binge Drank 1 to 11 Times	42.9	6.0	(31.1-54.7)	29.6	0.4	(28.8-30.4)
Binge Drank 12 or More Times	38.0	7.0	(24.3-51.7)	25.6	0.5	(24.6-26.6)
Drank Enough to Feel Drunk	69.4	5.0	(59.6-79.2)	45.8	0.5	(44.8-46.8)
DSM-IV Alcohol Disorder <sup>4</sup>	40.2	6.0	(28.4-52.0)	16.7	0.4	(15.9-17.5)

Source: Adapted from Stinson et al. (1998)

Notes: <sup>1</sup>Consumed 1 or more drinks in past year.

<sup>2</sup>Consumed, on average, more than 2 drinks/day for men and 1 drink/day for women.

<sup>3</sup>Consumed 5 or more drinks in a single day.

<sup>4</sup>Met the APA's (1994) criteria for alcohol abuse or alcohol dependence.

Table 4: Individual and Relatives' Alcoholism among Current Drinkers<sup>1</sup>, American Indians/Alaska Natives vs. U.S. Total, 1992.

	AI/AN			Total, U.S.			
<b>Current Drinkers Reporting</b>	<b>%</b>	SE	95% C.I.	%	SE	95% C.I.	
Family History of Alcoholism	76.1	6.1	(64.1-88.1)	55.9	0.5	(54.9-56.9)	
Alcoholic Parents	54.7	6.9	(41.2-68.2)	24.6	0.4	(23.7-25.5)	
Alcoholic Spouse/Partner	24.2	5.0	(14.4-34.0)	11.3	0.3	(10.7-11.9)	
Ever Receiving Alcoholism Treatment	29.4	5.6	(18.4-40.4)	6.5	0.2	(6.1-6.9)	

Source: Adapted from Stinson et al. (1998)

Note: <sup>1</sup>Consumed 1 or more drinks in past year.

For the most part, the results of these nationwide surveys point to important differences in the substance use of AI/ANs relative to that of the general population. The results are consistently indicate that AI/ANs are more likely to use illicit drugs, to report symptoms of drug and alcohol use disorders, to have received alcohol treatment, and to indicate that relatives have drinking problems. And while there were inconsistencies between studies, the results of the

nationwide surveys generally indicate that AI/ANs are less likely to use alcohol but more likely to binge drink or to drink to intoxication.

#### LOCALIZED ESTIMATES OF AI/AN ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE

By aggregating results on a national basis, the surveys considered above mask important facets of the epidemiology of AI/AN substance use. Fortunately, there is a body of literature about AI/AN drug and alcohol use considering samples at tribal, city specific, or regional levels that allows for further consideration of the intricacies of the subject. These epidemiological studies are considered below starting with an examination of research on adult AI/AN substance use, followed by a consideration of the literature on youth AI/AN alcohol and drug use, and then concluded with a discussion of studies about urban AI/AN substance use.

#### ADULT ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE

A few general conclusions can be drawn from the literature on adult AI/AN drug and alcohol use. The first generalization is that we should be careful when making generalizations about AI/AN substance use. The cultural diversity of AI/AN nations is reflected in their patterns of substance use. What conclusions that can be drawn pertain mainly to the patterns of alcohol consumption that have been influenced by the unique legal restrictions placed upon AI/AN drinking. As with some of the results of nationwide surveys, a number of localized studies indicate that, relative to the general population, AI/ANs are less likely to use alcohol but to consume larger quantities during the typical drinking occasion. Finally, in regards to the use of drugs other than alcohol, the few studies that have been conducted indicate that the rate of current drug use is greater among adult AI/ANs than non-AI/ANs while lifetime prevalence and incidence of drug abuse disorders are similar.

With the diversity of culture, history, and geography that makes each tribe unique, it is difficult to generalize about AI/AN substance use based upon tribal-specific studies. Just as it would be foolish to use research on Irish, French, and Russian drinking to make generalizations about European alcohol consumption, it is important to recognize that what is found for one tribe does not necessarily apply to others. Much of the research published on adult AI/AN alcohol consumption supports this point.

One sign of the diversity of AI/AN drinking patterns is the variation across tribes in terms the prevalence of alcohol use. For some tribes, the proportion of American Indians that are

drinkers is similar to that for the general population. For instance, May and Gossage (2001) found that the proportion of respondents to their survey of four Northern Plains tribes reported drinking in the last 12 months (70.7% of males and 60.4% of females) was quite similar to what was found for the American population as a whole (68.3% of males and 60.0% of females). Members of other tribes are less likely to drink. This was found to be true for Navajo men (65% reported to be current drinkers) and, especially, Navajo women (40% reported to be current drinkers) in a survey conducted by May and Smith (1988). In a review of earlier research on the epidemiology of American Indian alcohol use, May (1996) reported that the variation of reported rates of current drinking across tribes varied from a low of 30 percent to a high of 84 percent.

The BRFSS research mentioned in the section on national estimates also allows for comparisons to be drawn across regions provides further indication of the diversity of AI/AN substance use patterns. In the analyses by Denny, Holtzman, and Cobb (2003) using 1997 and 1999 BFRSS data, regional break-downs indicate that only AI/ANs from Alaska of both sexes had past month binge drinking rates that were higher than those of non-AI/ANs of both sexes on a national basis. For men alone, AI/ANs from the Southwest and from Alaska (but not from the Pacific Coast, the Northern Plains, or the East) had higher binge drinking rates than what was reported nationally for non-AI/AN men (Denny et al., 2003). Similar comparisons using BRFSS data from the years 2000 through 2006 found that only AI/ANs from the Northern Plains and from Alaska reported rates of past month binge drinking that were higher than the rate for non-Hispanic whites (Steele et al., 2008).

Although there is variation between tribes in terms of alcohol use, AI/ANs share a common history regarding their access to alcohol that is thought to have shaped some aspects of their modern day drinking patterns. Specifically, alcohol is a previously unknown, foreign substance<sup>6</sup> brought to North America by Europeans that was illegal for AI/ANs to consume for all but the last half of the past century (Fuller, 1975). This lack of cultural precepts for alcohol use combined with the presence of laws that required covert consumption has created a style of drinking that is characterized as low frequency/high quantity (May, 1975). Research in support of this conclusion has shown that AI/ANs drink less often than the general population but on the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The exception to this is, of course, the Tohono O'odham whose consumption of wine made from the fruit of the saguaro cactus predates European incursions into the Sonoran Desert (MacAndrew & Edgerton, 1969)

occasions when they do drink they consume above average quantities.<sup>7</sup> For example, measures of alcohol consumption from the Strong Heart Study, a survey of 4,549 middle age and elderly American Indians from 13 tribes in Arizona, Oklahoma, and the Dakotas, found that the prevalence of alcohol among study participants was lower than in the general population but more likely to involve binge drinking (Welty et al., 1995).

The results of a survey of members of four Northern Plains tribes by May and Gossage (2001) also illustrate the low frequency/high quantity drinking exhibited by many American Indians. In terms of low frequency, May and Gossage (2001) showed that on most days respondents did not drink; males drank on an average of 5 days per month while for females it was 2 days per month. Viewed another way, this indicates that men surveyed May and Gossage (2001) did not drink for 25 days per month and women did not drink for 28 days per month. However, on the occasions when it did occur, the drinking of the Northern Plains respondents to May and Gossage's (2001) survey would best be characterized as binge drinking: on the day in the past month when they drank the most, male respondents reported having an average of 7.5 drinks in a day while female respondents the average was 3.7 drinks per day. Consideration of these two points in tandem led May and Gossage to conclude that "even though respondents are not drinking on *most* days, on days when they do drink, consumption is substantial" (2001, p. 14; emphasis in original).

The low frequency/high quantity pattern of AI/AN drinking was also found among the two tribes surveyed in the comprehensive American Indian Service Utilization, Psychiatric Epidemiology, Risk and Protective Factors Project (AI-SUPERPFP) (Beals et al., 2003). Compared with the nationally representative sample of the NLAES, men from both the Southwestern tribe and from the Northern Plains tribe surveyed in the AI-SUPERPFP drank on fewer days per month but consumed a greater number of drinks on the days that they did drink. This pattern was particularly pronounced among the male members of the Northern Plains tribe who drank on half as many days in the past month relative to the general population while drinking twice as many drinks on the days they did consume alcohol (Beals et al., 2003). An additional comparison with the general population of the NLAES showed that regardless of tribal affiliation, both men and women surveyed in the AI-SUPERPFP were less likely to report

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In this regard, the AI/AN pattern of drinking is more in line with what is found among the 'dry' cultures of northern Europe where a large proportion of the population is abstinent and drinking occasions are infrequent but marked by very heavy consumption (Ramstedt, 2001; Room & Makela,, 2000).

drinking at least once a month or to have drank on more than eight days per month (O'Connell et al., 2005).

Compared with research on alcohol, studies that have considered adult AI/AN drug use at the tribal level are relatively uncommon. The research that has been published indicates similar lifetime prevalence of drug use for AI/ANs and the general population. Kunitz (2008) survey of 1,086 Navajo adults found that the lifetime prevalence of drugs other than alcohol for male Navajo was similar to that found for the US as a whole in the National Comorbidity Study (61.0% vs 55.8 %) while the rate for Navajo females was somewhat lower than the national sample (36.7% vs 46.4%). Comparisons of the results of the AI-SUPERPFP against the NCS also found no differences between the general population and the Northern Plains and Southwestern tribes in lifetime prevalence in drug use (Whitesell et al., 2007).

The differences that do exist between patterns of drug use among AI/ANs and non-AI/ANs is that the former are somewhat more likely to be current users. In their survey of four Northern Plains tribes, May and Gossage (2001) found that in the past year 20 percent had used marijuana, 6 percent had used methamphetamine, and 8 percent had used non-prescription painkillers; each of these rates were considerably higher than what has been found in national studies such as the NSDUH. Differences in current drug use rates between the general population and American Indians surveyed in the AI-SUPERPFP were also found; among lifetime drug users, 35.6 percent of Southwest tribe males and 58.4 percent of Northern Plains tribe males versus 16.6 percent of US males reported drug use in the past year (Whitesell et al., 2007).

Although the limited literature shows American Indians are more likely to be current drug users, there is no evidence from the more localized studies that their illicit drug use should be considered any more problematic than that of the general population. According to the results of the AI-SUPERPFP, the proportion of Northern Plains or Southwestern tribe members diagnosed with any DSM-IV drug use disorder (i.e., lifetime drug abuse or lifetime drug dependence) is similar to that of other Americans (Mitchell, Beals, Novins, Spicer, & AI-SUPERPFP Team, 2003). There is, in fact, some indication that the drug use of those surveyed in the AI-SUPERPFP is less problematic than normal because the proportion of American Indians that were diagnosed as having a *multiple* drug use disorder was less than half that of the general population (Whitesell et al., 2007). While it is important to keep in mind that the AI-

SUPERPFP is but one study (albeit an extremely robust one) that considered only a tiny fraction of tribes (3 of 550+ recognized tribes), their results do point to the possibility that AI/AN drug use is not too different from that of other Americans. On the other hand, it should be kept in mind that these results contradict the results of the NSDUH which indicate that AI/AN adults are more likely than other American adults to report symptoms of drug use disorders (Office of Applied Studies, 2007a).

Surveys conducted in Alaska provide us with a picture of alcohol and drug use by Alaska Natives. The BRFSS is particularly important because in Alaska it is administered (1) to allow for consideration across the diverse geographic regions of the state with a disproportionate stratified sample and (2) to make possible comparisons of Alaska Natives with non-Natives through an oversample of the former. One such comparison was made by Wells (2004) who examined the results of the 2001 through 2003 BRFSS surveys to contrast the drinking patterns of Alaska Natives with those of non-Native Alaskans. Across the state, Alaska Natives were less likely to be current drinkers (49% vs. 64% for non-Natives) overall and regardless of gender or age group. While less likely to drink, Alaska Natives were more likely to report binge drinking (five or more drinks in one sitting) in the past month (23% vs. 17% for non-Natives). The differences in binge drinking were statistically significant overall and for women but not for men (Wells, 2004). An earlier analysis of the 1991 though 1993 BRFSS by Landen (1996) found that past month binge drinking was less prevalent among Alaska Natives relative to non-Natives (21% vs. 26%) and more prevalent among Alaska Native women compared to non-Native women (20% vs. 12%).

A few surveys have considered both alcohol and drug use among Alaska Natives that inhabit the more isolated portions of the state. These studies indicate that the prevalence of alcohol consumption is less than what is found in other areas while the prevalence of marijuana use is considerably greater than that reported in more general surveys. The first study, a survey of 342 Iñupiat parents of preschool students from two Bering Sea villages conducted in the early 1990, found a rate of past month marijuana use three times greater than that of a national comparison group and a rate of past month alcohol use that was 65 percent less than what was found for the U.S. as a whole (Stillner, Kraus, Leukefeld, & Hardenbergh, 1999). More recently, Segal and Saylor (2007) reported on their survey of 296 Iñupiat and Aleut in western Alaska which indicated that lifetime use of alcohol (reported by 55% of women and 65% of men) was

just slightly more prevalent than lifetime use of marijuana (reported by 48% of women and 62% of men).

Recent arrestees are an additional population of AI/AN adults whose alcohol and drug use is of interest. A pair of studies has been conducted of populations of AI/AN arrestees. The first is a survey conduced by May (2003) of 165 individuals arrested by either of two unnamed Northern Plains tribal police agencies. According to the very preliminary results of his study, most arrestees (84%) reported binge drinking (5 or more drinks at one sitting) at least once in the month prior to arrest and that the typical arrestee reported binge drinking more than once a week on average (5.4 occasions in prior month) (May, 2003).

A most useful data source for understanding drug use among those who come into contact with the criminal justice system is that produced by the Arrestee Drug Abuse Monitoring (ADAM) program. Fully operational until 2003, the ADAM program allowed for the estimates of the extent of drug use in the population of individuals accused of criminal behavior and held in jails in cities across the US (Hunt & Rhodes, 2001). What made ADAM unique is the voluntary and confidential urine tests that were completed within 48 hours of booking so as to measure suspects' marijuana, cocaine, heroin, methamphetamine, and other substance use prior to arrest. For the most part, data from ADAM has not been the subject of analyses to consider AI/AN arrestees' drug use patterns. An exception is the analysis conducted by Myrstol (2003) of ADAM data from Anchorage, Alaska for the years 1999 through 2001 which indicated that Alaska Native arrestees were less likely than white arrestees to have used marijuana, cocaine, opiates, or methamphetamine prior to being arrested. Otherwise, no other researchers have considered this potentially useful data source for insights into AI/AN arrestees' patterns of drug use.

#### ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE BY AI/AN YOUTH

The substance use of AI/AN youth has been the subject of a considerable body of research. This includes studies that incorporate AI/AN youth as part of a nationally representative sample, studies that focus on American Indian youth from a broad, culturally diverse range of reservations, and studies limited to samples of youth from specific tribes or geographic areas. With some exceptions, these studies have indicated that the prevalence of drug and alcohol use among AI/AN youth is greater than what is found for American youth in general and for youth from all other races.

One of the more informative lines of research in the study of American Indian youth substance use has been conducted over the past 30 years by Fred Beauvais and his colleagues from the Tri-Ethnic Center at Colorado State University. Since 1975 they have carried out a school-based replication of the Monitoring the Future project (Bachman et al., 1991) to survey American Indian adolescents that reside on or near reservations (Beauvais, Jumper-Thurman, & Burnside, 2008). Their research features a repeated cross-sectional design with an annual sample of between 8 to 12 schools selected from strata of culturally diverse tribes (i.e., California, Northwest Coast, Southwest, Plateau, Basin, Plains, East) to ensure geographic representativeness (Beauvais, Jumper-Thurman, Helm, Plested, & Burnside, 2004). This research has allowed us to track substance use by reservation youth and to compare those trends with what has been found for American youngsters in general.

A number of conclusions can be drawn from the research of Beauvais et al. (2008). First, American Indian youth are more likely than non-Indian youth to report the use of drugs or alcohol. For example, since 1980 there has been a statistically significant difference between the proportion of respondents reporting ever using marijuana with the rate for American Indian youth ranging from 10 to 20 percent higher than the rate for non-Indian youth (Beauvais et al., 2008). Beauvais et al. (2008) report that the difference in prevalence has also held true for drugs other than marijuana. The second main conclusion of Beauvais et al.'s (2008) research is that fluctuations in the prevalence of American Indian youth drug use have corresponded with changes in non-Indian youth drug use; they've shown, for example, that peaks in the rates of American Indian youth marijuana use was also at its highest.

Perhaps the most interesting conclusion of Beauvais et al.'s (2008) research pertains to the trends underlying the observed fluctuations in American Indian youth substance use. Using a measure that categorizes respondents according to their overall involvement with drugs and alcohol (i.e., "high risk" users, "moderate risk" users, and "non/low risk" users), Beauvais et al. (2004) have shown that overall increases and decreases in American Indian youth drug use over time correspond with changes in the proportion of youth classified as moderate risk users. Furthermore, they've found that about 20 percent of American Indian youth can be considered to be "high risk" users and that proportion has remained constant over the past 25 years (Beauvais et al., 2004). Essentially, this indicates that the substance use trends for the large majority of

American Indian youth (roughly 80%) are similar to those of non-Indian youth while, at the same time, about a fifth of American Indian youth have continued to be heavily involved with drugs and alcohol (Beauvais, 1996).

While other multi-tribal research (e.g., Plunkett & Mitchell, 2000) has also shown that drug and alcohol use is more prevalent among AI/AN youth, a few multi-tribal studies that call such a conclusion into question. For instance, a 1989 health survey by Blum, Harmon, Harris, Bergeisen, and Resnick (1992) of reservation middle and high school students from reservations located across the eight Indian Health Services areas found relatively low levels of alcohol use and little difference in AI/AN and non-AI/AN youth drinking. Most of the youth surveyed said that they had never drank alcohol (59.8%) or only drank occasionally (20.7%) and only a small proportion of the respondents (10%) were considered 'problem drinkers' (Blum et al., 1992). To put their results into context, Blum et al. (1992) compared their sample to a sample of rural white youth and found that the white students were more likely to have drank in the past week (17.1% for while males vs. 14.1% for AI/AN males and 15.8% for white females vs. 10.2% for AI/AN females).

It is possible that the incongruence between the findings of Beauvais et al. (2008) and those of Blum et al. (1992) could be a function of the groups of tribes selected for their studies (as well as the demographics of their samples and the specific measures they used). Because prevalence varies greatly across studies of individual tribes or specific geographic areas, it is possible that Blum et al.'s (1992) sample was comprised of tribes with uncharacteristically low rates of youth substance use. In some areas youth substance use is very common, in some areas the prevalence is similar to that found for non-Indians, and in a few areas AI/AN youth are less likely to drink or take drugs.

The youth from some tribes have tremendously high rates of substance use. An extreme example is the sample of Hualapai youth surveyed by Gould (1999, cited in Gould, 2006) that reported almost universal alcohol consumption (88.9 % of boys and 92.6 % of girls). These figures are rivaled by what Cockerham (1975) found in his survey of youth on the Wind River Reservation where 92 percent of youth had consumed alcohol a some point in their lives and 80 percent considered themselves current drinkers.

A few statewide studies point to levels of drug and alcohol use by AI/AN youth that are higher than rates found for non-AI/ANs. For example, a survey of 835 adolescents from

Washington state by Mosher, Rotolo, Phillips, Krupski, and Stark (2004) found that AI/AN youth were more likely than non-AI/AN youth to report using inhalants, marijuana, or alcohol. A similar 1994 survey of over 19,000 7th to 12th graders in New York state found that American Indian students began drinking at an earlier age, used illicit drugs more times during the past month, binge drank (5+ drinks in one setting) more during the past year, and had the highest average volume of alcohol consumption compared to students of other races (Barnes, Welte, & Hoffman, 2002).

In one of the few studies considering American Indian youth from the southeastern U.S., the prevalence of substance use was generally greater among a sub-sample American Indian adolescents relative to a sub-sample of white adolescents living in rural southern Appalachia (Federman, Costello, Angold, Farmer, & Erkanli, 1997). For instance, although rates of alcohol use in the past three months by 15-year-olds were similar (12.5% for American Indians vs. 12.9% for whites), American Indian 15-year-olds were more likely to have drank at some point in their lives (38.9% vs. 33.3% for whites) (Federman et al., 1997). The differences in the two groups use of marijuana were much more pronounced. Nearly a third (30.3%) of American Indian 15-year-olds had used marijuana in their lives compared with less than a fifth (18.7%) of white 15-year-olds (Federman et al., 1997).

Another unique piece of research is the longitudinal study in which Walker et al. (1996) followed a cohort of 277 American Indian youth in Seattle from fifth to ninth grade and found substantial increases in lifetime prevalence of substance use. Their base line survey found 3.4 percent, 21 percent, and 5.5 percent of the fifth graders admitted to drinking to intoxication, to using tobacco, and to smoking marijuana, respectively, at some point in their lives. By ninth grade, the lifetime prevalence of drinking to intoxication was 41.5 percent, the lifetime prevalence of tobacco use was 59.2 percent, and the lifetime prevalence of marijuana smoking was 46.6 percent (Walker et al., 1996). Unfortunately, these rates were presented without a comparison group which makes it difficult to determine if the cohort's drug and alcohol use is much different than non-Indians or American Indians from non-urban areas.

Studies of Alaska Native youth generally indicate that they have rates of substance use that are less than or similar to what is found nationally. For example, a survey conducted by Angstman et al. (2007) in the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta of Alaska found somewhat lower rates of drug and alcohol use among a convenience sample of 665 Yupik youth (ages 6 to 18) who

were participants in a childhood health assessment. The prevalence of "ever trying" a substance varied; for all respondents, one in six (15.9%) had tried alcohol, one in ten (10.0%) had tried other drugs, and one in thirteen (7.5%) reported use of inhalants (Angstman et al., 2007). Among high school youth (those age 15 to 18), 48 percent used alcohol, 31 percent reported trying other drugs, and 14 percent had used inhalants. Compared with what has been found in national surveys, the rates of alcohol use by Yupik high school students was considerably lower; this disparity is partly attributed to the fact that the majority of the villages in the study area prohibit the importation and/or possession of alcohol (Angstman et al., 2007). A 1983 survey of 600 mostly Iñupiat high school students from Barrow, Kotzebue, and Nome, Alaska found rates of lifetime or past year alcohol use (68% and 43%, respectively) that were similar to what was found in that year's national Monitoring the Future study (in which 66% and 47% of students reported drinking in their lifetimes and in the prior year, respectively) (Bowman, Mala, Segal, & McKelvy, 1985).

In addition to the general drug and alcohol surveys, a pair of studies have considered inhalant use by Alaska Native youth and have provided somewhat mixed results. The first, which considered a sample of 376 Iñupiat youth attending school in the Bering Straits region in 1991, estimated that nearly half of the students (48%) used inhalants at least once at some point in their adolescence but that only 6 percent had used inhalants in the month prior to the survey (Zebrowski & Gregory, 1996). A more recent survey considering middle-school students' use of "harmful legal products" in northwestern and southeastern Alaska that included specific questions about inhalant use found (1) there were no statistically significant differences between Alaska Native and non-Native students' lifetime or past-month use and (2) that Alaska Native rates of use were similar to those found nationally (Saylor et al., 2007). The discrepancy between these two studies' outcomes could be a result of the samples studied or it could be a function of true changes over time in the use of inhalants similar to what has been found for American Indian youth in the lower-48 (Beauvais et al., 2008; Miller, Beauvais, Burnside, & Jumper-Thurman, 2008).

An important consideration when making comparisons of AI/AN youth substance use prevalence with that found nationally is the specific ages of the youth being considered. Generally speaking, AI/AN youth (Barnes et al., 2002; Miller et al., 2008; Okwumabua & Duryea, 1987) have an earlier age of substance use onset. As a result, there is a negative

association between the magnitude of differences in substance use prevalence of AI/AN youth relative to youth of other races and the typical age of the youth being studied. In other words, because of their earlier start, drug and alcohol use will appear to be more problematic among younger AI/AN adolescents than among those nearing adulthood.

Another reason to consider the age of onset of substance abuse, especially the age when alcohol use begins, is that it has come to be known as an important risk factor for a whole host of problems. Surveys of adolescents in the general population have found that early onset of drinking is associated with academic problems, drug use and dependence, nicotine dependence, delinquent behavior, and psychopathologies such as conduct disorder and antisocial personality disorder (Ellickson, Tucker, & Klein, 2003; McGue, Iacono, Legrand, Malone, & Elkins, 2001). General population studies among adults have found inverse associations between age of onset of drinking and the likelihood of a host of problems during adulthood including alcohol dependence, frequent heavy drinking, crashing a motor vehicle while intoxicated, unintentional injury, and intentional injury of oneself and others (Hingson, Heeren, Jamanka, & Howland, 2000; Hingson, Heeren, & Zakocs, 2001; Hingson & Zha, 2009). Similar research about American Indian populations has found associations between age of onset of drinking and alcohol problems in adulthood (Robin, Long, Rasmussen, Albaugh, & Goldman, 1998). For instance, a study of southern California Mission Indians found an inverse association between age of first alcohol intoxication and the prevalence of adult alcohol dependence; nearly all (92%) of the respondents who reported getting drunk before age 12 were met the criteria for alcohol dependence while very few (12%) met those criteria if their first time getting drunk came at age 21 or later (Ehlers, Slutske, Gilder, Lau, & Wilhelmsen, 2006).

Research considering the age of onset of drug and alcohol use has generally shown that AI/AN youth start drug and alcohol use earlier than their non-AI/AN counterparts. For example, a survey of western North Carolinian youth found that American Indian children (the large majority who were Cherokee) were more likely than white children of the same age group to report having ever drank alcohol or used drugs (Federman et al., 1997); among 12-year-olds, the reported lifetime prevalence of alcohol use was 7.1 percent for whites and 14.8 percent for American Indians. Similarly, 13-year-old American Indians were more likely to have reported smoked marijuana compared with similarly aged whites (7.7% versus 3.1%) (Federman et al., 1997). Likewise, a survey of New York state middle and high school students found that

American Indian youth reported a lower age of onset of drinking (i.e., age when first had more than just a sip of an alcoholic beverage) compared to students of other races. On average, American Indian youth said that they started drinking a year earlier (at 13.2 years of age) than white or black youth (both on average at 14.3 years of age) (Barnes et al., 2002). There is some research that suggests early onset is more likely for American Indian youth who reside on reservations. Yu and Stiffman's (2007) comparison of 205 reservation American Indian youth with 196 urban American Indian youth found that the former started drinking (defined as having at least one standard drink a month for six months in a row) about 11 months earlier than the latter. The earlier onset of substance use by American Indian youth is also apparent in surveys of pre-teens. In their reconsideration of 10 years of surveys of fourth, fifth, and sixth graders, Miller et al. (2008) showed that American Indian pre-teens were consistently more likely than non-Indian pre-teens to have gotten drunk, to have used marijuana, or to have used other drugs. Additional evidence of earlier onset of alcohol use among AI/ANs comes from the adults surveyed in the NESARC; among respondents who reported drinking in the year prior to the survey, AI/ANs were more than twice as likely as the general population (16.4% vs. 7.2%) to report beginning drinking before turning 15-years-old (Chen et al., 2006).

Not all research has found that AI/AN youth start alcohol and drug use earlier than children of other races or that the association is consistent across substance type. For example, Beauvais (1991) comparison the results for Anglo youth responding to the American Drug and Alcohol Survey with a replicated survey of reservation youth found no differences in the age at which respondents reported getting drunk for the first time. He did, however, present results that indicate American Indian youth who reside on reservations first try marijuana about a year earlier than Anglo youth (Beauvais, 1991).

The decreasing differences noted above in drug use prevalence for AI/AN youth relative to other youth appears to hold true for those who reside on reservations as well as for American Indian youth in general. For example, a consideration of past month substance use among American Indian reservation youth by Beauvais et al. (2004) found that eighth graders were 212 percent more likely to have been drunk and 411 percent more likely to have smoked marijuana when compared to students surveyed in the Monitoring the Future project while the differences between the two groups for tenth graders (American Indian youth were 25% more likely to have been drunk and 138% more likely to have smoked marijuana) and twelfth graders (American

Indian youth were 31% and 131% more likely to have been drunk or to have smoked marijuana, respectively) were much less dramatic (Beauvais et al., 2004). A similar pattern is found when considering American Indian youth drug and alcohol use on a national basis. According to an analysis combining data from the 1996 through 2000 Monitoring the Future surveys, the difference between the prevalence of American Indian youth substance use and the national prevalence was much larger for eighth graders than it was for twelfth graders (Wallace et al., 2003). For instance, American Indian boys in eighth grade had a past 30 days prevalence of marijuana use that was 98 percent greater than what was found nationally while by twelfth grade that difference was only 5 percent. Likewise, American Indian eighth graders were 36 percent more likely than average to have drank alcohol in the past month while for twelfth graders there was no difference between the two groups (Wallace et al., 2003).

Another point worth mentioning in regards to the interpretation of the above survey results is that the comparison groups against which AI/AN rates are contrasted are not necessarily representative of reasonable levels of substance use. With no set standard for an "acceptable prevalence" of youth drug or alcohol use and an ideal rate of zero, judging the degree to which AI/AN substance use is problematic is only possible by considering their rates relative to national rates or to the rates of other racial groups. It is therefore necessary to try to put these comparison groups into some context for a better appreciation of how much concern should be raised over a specific level of AI/AN substance use.

It is possible to contextualize distinctions between AI/AN and national rates of substance use by comparing indications of substance use for the U.S. with what is found in other nations. For youth, the most informative research has considered substance use rates across Europe and North America. These international studies indicate that American youth are much less likely than their European counterparts to drink alcohol but are much more likely to use marijuana (Currie et al., 2008; Grube, 2005). Given this research, it would appear that a convergence of AI/AN and national youth alcohol use rates would be a positive sign whereas comparable rates of marijuana use would still be considered problematic.

However, it is important also to keep in mind inter-racial variations in drug and alcohol use when comparing the prevalence of AI/AN substance use with that of other races. Relative to African-American and Asian-American youth, AI/AN youth *and* white youth generally have higher rates of use of most substances (Barnes et al., 2002; Mosher et al., 2004; Office of

Applied Studies, 2003; Wallace et al., 2003). As such, it is ill advised to consider AI/AN substance use rates that are similar to white rates to be an indication of healthy AI/AN youth. For instance, the finding from an analysis of data from the 1985 through 1989 Monitoring the Future surveys that American Indian and white male binge drinking rates were identical would seem encouraging until one considers that both groups were twice as likely as African-American males and 2.5 times more likely than Asian-American males to have consumed 5 or more drinks in one setting in the 2 weeks prior to the survey (Bachman et al., 1991). In other words, it isn't necessarily a good thing that American Indian adolescents' drug and alcohol use patterns approach those of white adolescents because those white adolescents also have substance use "issues" when considered in light of the experiences of minorities other than AI/ANs.

# ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE BY URBAN AMERICAN INDIANS AND ALASKA NATIVES

It is necessary to consider research on substance use by urban AI/ANs because the majority of the AI/AN population lives in urban areas. According to the 2000 US Census, three-fifths (60.5%) of the population who self-identified only as AI/AN and two-thirds (67.4%) of those who self-identified as wholly or partly-AI/AN lived in urban areas. The research that has been published has mostly focused upon alcohol and is somewhat equivocal in terms of the differences between urban AI/AN and rural AI/AN substance use. Studies that have found differences generally indicate that the frequency of urban AI/ANs drinking is greater than that of rural AI/ANs but that the quantities consumed per drinking occasion are similar.

Some surveys have found little difference between urban and reservation/rural alcohol and drug use for AI/ANs. For instance, among the sub-sample of Washington state American Indians surveyed by Akins, Mosher, Rotolo, and Griffin (2003), reservation or rural residence was unassociated with the likelihood of illicit substance use or being diagnosed with alcohol or drug use disorders. Similarly, Wells' (2004) examination of BRFSS responses found that drinking was more prevalent among Alaska Natives residing the state's urbanized areas but that binge drinking was not associated with level of urbanization. Yu and Stiffman (2007) considered the differences in drinking patterns using a survey of a stratified sample of 205 reservation and 196 urban American Indian youths from the southwestern U.S. Their bivariate results indicated higher levels of alcohol abuse and dependence among reservation youth in terms of number of symptoms and likelihood of diagnosis but the associations were rendered non-significant once considered using logistic regression models controlling for socioeconomic

status, family members' substance problems, peer misbehavior, participation in cultural activities, and having a sense of cultural pride (Yu & Stiffman, 2007).

Two studies, the newest of which was conducted nearly 20 years ago, point to higher levels of alcohol consumption among urban American Indians relative to reservation American Indians of the same cultures. Beltrame & McQueen (1979), in their examination of Lumbee drinking patterns, found that a fifth of reservation residents and a third of city dwellers were classified as heavy drinkers. A comparison of self-reported drinking patterns in matched samples of rural and urban Navajo, Sioux, Cherokee, and California *rancheria* Indians by Weibel-Orlando (1990) indicated that the frequency of drinking was higher for the urban sample and that the two groups were similar in average quantities consumed per occasion. She found that the rural sample drank, on average, once or twice a month while those living in urban areas typically drank one or two times per week. Although the mean consumption for both groups was similar, Weibel-Orlando (1990) noted that there was considerably more dispersion within the urban sample such that their average consumption was skewed by a small number of extremely heavy "skid row" drinkers that overshadowed the majority of urban drinkers who generally had no more than two drinks per occasion.

The results of a number of surveys of AI/AN residents of specific cities have been published without reference to a comparison group to put the findings into context. However, even without a criterion, the results appear to indicate rather high levels of urban AI/AN substance use. For example, a survey of 754 AI/AN primary care patients in Seattle found that more than half (56%) had abused alcohol at some point in their lives and a quarter (27%) were considered to be currently abusing alcohol at the time the survey was conducted (Shore, Manson, & Buchwald, 2002). Nearly a third (31 %) of respondents to a survey of 235 American Indians residing in Navajo Nation border town of Flagstaff, Arizona reported problems with drugs or alcohol (Chester, Mahalish, & Davis, 1999). In 1992, a convenience sample of 374 American Indians residing in Denver, Colorado surveyed to develop an understanding of that population's mental health needs found that roughly three-fifths (61.3%) of respondents reported having a substance abuse problem sometime in their lifetime (King, 1999). A general population survey of American Indians residing in and around Butte, Montana conducted in 1992 found that as adults, 82 percent of men and 67 percent of women met the criteria for alcohol abuse or

dependence while 48 percent of men and 47 percent of women met the criteria for drug abuse or dependence (Barron, Oge, & Markovich, 1999).

In addition to surveys, urban AI/AN drinking has also been examined somewhat less obtrusively using public health records. The results of these studies generally point to higher levels of problematic alcohol consumption among urban AI/AN residents relative to other urban residents with mixed results when compared to rural AI/AN residents. One of the first studies of this kind by Grossman, Krieger, Sugarman, and Forquera (1994) considered AI/AN mortality in the 1980s for 1 urban county and 7 rural counties with reservations in Washington state. Within the urban county, the rates of alcohol-related mortality for AI/AN residents were substantially higher than those found for whites or African-Americans. They also found that the urban AI/AN alcohol-related mortality rate was higher than same rate for rural AI/ANs (Grossman et al., 1994). A recent study by Castor et al. (2006) of health disparities faced by AI/ANs residing in 34 counties served by federally funded urban Indian health organizations compared their mortality rates associated with substance use to similar rates for the counties' general population and for AI/ANs nationally (which includes reservation residents). They found that the rates of death attributed to liver disease and death attributed to other alcohol-related causes were much higher for the urban AI/AN population than for the urban general population but essentially the same found for the national AI/AN population. For drug related deaths, the reverse was true in that the rates for the urban AI/AN population and the urban general population were equal and both were greater than the rate for the national AI/AN population (Castor et al., 2006).

## SUMMARY - PATTERNS OF AI/AN ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE

For the most part, the research reviewed in this chapter provides a bleak picture of AI/AN patterns of substance use. A couple of findings are fairly consistent regardless of whether the sample is youth or adult, comes from reservations or urban areas, or is part of a study that is nationally representative or is more localized in scope. First, surveys of youth, as well as a relatively smaller number of surveys of adults, indicate that illicit drug use appears to be more frequent among AI/ANs than it is in the general population. Even with fluctuations over time that have paralleled national trends, the prevalence of illicit drug use by AI/AN youth has consistently surpassed rates of the general population. The other consistent finding across much of the research on the subject is that the AI/AN style of drinking is best characterized as "low frequency/high quantity." Although the research is not entirely unanimous on this finding, most

studies that have examined AI/AN drinking have shown that they are less likely to use alcohol but are more likely to consume larger volumes during a typical drinking occasion. The drinking of urban AI/ANs is thought to be something of an exception to this characterization of AI/AN drinking because they drink as often as non-AI/ANs while consuming volumes that are similar to those consumed by rural AI/ANs.

To be fair, this seemingly dismal portrayal of AI/AN substance use must be qualified by a recognition of important inter-tribal/cultural differences, intra-tribal differences, and intra-personal differences in drinking and drug use. First, the research indicates that there is substantial inter-cultural diversity across the AI/AN population that is reflected in patterns of substance use. The studies reviewed in this chapter clearly reveal the considerable variation between tribes in the prevalence of alcohol and illicit drug use and abuse with some tribes exhibiting rates similar to or below that of the nation as a whole. There is also a great deal of variability within tribes with most research indicating that the majority of AI/ANs are not current drug users or problem drinkers. Finally, the large majority of those who report substance use are more likely than not to be sober on any given day while also decreasing or eventually desisting their drinking and illicit drug use as they reach middle age.

# CHAPTER 3: THE CONNECTION BETWEEN ALCOHOL AND DRUG USE AND CRIME

Although substance use is harmful in-and-of-itself due to the acute and chronic health effects experienced by drinkers and drug users, it is also problematic because of its apparent effects on criminal behavior. As it is the case for non-AI/ANs, many AI/ANs who come to the attention of criminal justice authorities do so for crimes committed while under the influence of drugs and, especially, alcohol. There is general agreement that substance use often accompanies interpersonal violence. However, beyond that point, there is little agreement that substance use can (or cannot) be thought of as a cause of violent crime. For some, the fact that drinking and drug use is a cause of violence is self-evident. Others are much more wary of describing the relationship between substance use and violence as causal. This disagreement is largely a function of different conceptions of causality.

On the one side, there is the lay conception of causation which looks to a more immediate connection between substance use and violent crime. As Loseke, Gelles, and Cavanaugh noted, "the causal connection between alcohol and violence is often simply assumed" such that "many members of the public accept [it] as common knowledge" (2005, p. 160). This is common in Alaska, where "alcohol is seen as the basic cause of Native problems" (Yamashiro, 1988, p. 442), and has been considered either "a root cause" or "the root cause" of violence amongst Alaska Natives by many including the police (Alaska Department of Public Safety, 1980; Mystrol, 2006), the Attorney General (Morones, 2005), therapeutic court treatment providers (Partners for Progress, 2007), and tribal leaders (Klouda, 2005). This understanding of the relationship between alcohol and violence is beset by what Hamilton and Collins termed the "malevolence assumption" which they define as the "tendency to see alcohol as blameworthy whenever it accompanies problematic behavior" (1981, p. 254).

The immediate connection between substance abuse and violent crime is also seen as causal by criminologists who are proponents of the situational crime prevention approach. Their emphasis on "proximal" causes that are amenable to crime prevention (Cornish, 1993; Ekblom, 1994) treats substance use as but one potential circumstance used to differentiate between types of crime events which can then be the focus of situational solutions. In this sense, alcohol-related violence becomes a specific type of crime against which focused prevention policies and practices may be employed (Deehan, 2004).

Most other scholars of substance use and crime have a more stringent view of what it takes for the former to be considered a cause of the latter. Given that it is well established that substance use is neither a necessary cause of crime (because crime occurs in the absence of substance use) nor a sufficient cause of crime (because drugs and alcohol are widely used without ensuing criminal behavior) (Leonard, 2005), their research is instead guided by the consideration of probabilistic causation in which the issue is whether substance use increases the probability of crime, *ceteris paribus* (i.e., all things held equal). From this standpoint, research must establish time-order (i.e., that substance use proceeds crime), non-spuriousness (i.e., that it is substance use and not some other influence that actually causes crime), and association (i.e., that increases or decreases in substance use are accompanied by increases or decreases in crime) to show that there is a causal relationship between substance use and crime (Ronet Bachman & Schutt, 2007).

To further define the criteria researchers use for establishing causality, it is also necessary to consider the types of measures that can and cannot be used to determine if there is an association between two variables. Specifically, it is important to distinguish between measures of co-occurrence and measures of association because only the latter are of use when considering if there is a probabilistic causal relationship between substance use and crime. To establish association, it is necessary to show that there is a correlation between criminal behavior and alcohol or drug use. In this regard, association would be measured in terms of the extent to which differences in criminal behavior are accompanied by corresponding differences in substance use. Statistically, the strength of an association is a function of the reduction of the number of errors made when predicting the dependent variable based on knowledge of the independent variable without knowledge of the independent variable (Walker, 1999). To calculate a measure of the strength of an association therefore requires full knowledge of all possible values of both independent and dependent variables.

Co-occurrence statistics come from what epidemiologists refer to as "event-based studies" in which the cases considered are limited to some sort of event such as a violent crime (Roizen, 1997). The co-occurrence rate for alcohol or drug-involved crime tells us what proportion of offenses were determined to have involved drinking or drug use. Their use when considering a causal relationship between substance use and crime is problematic because they

are not measures of correlation that allow us to characterize the direction and strength of statistical associations. In their review of the methodological issues involved in the epidemiology of alcohol-related violence, Lipsey, Wilson, Cohen, and Derzon argue that:

"[s]tatistics about the co-occurrence of alcohol use and violent behavior, however, do not constitute a correlation between alcohol and violence, since there is no variation on the violence variable – everyone in the sample is violent. Put another way, there is no base rate information in these statistics about the level of alcohol use among those comparable persons who were not violent. Thus, if alcohol is involved in 50% of violent offenses, we do not know if it is involved in 10, 50, or 90% of nonviolent offenses by otherwise comparable persons. Without the 'other half' of the data required for correlation, no strength of association information can be garnered from co-occurrence statistics" (1997, p. 262)

Essentially, the lack of a basis for comparison makes it impossible to be certain that the rate of alcohol or drug involvement of crime victims or offenders at a certain point in time is any higher (or lower) than that of individuals who are not crime during that same time period (Goodman et al., 1986; Lipsey et al., 1997; McCord, 1993; Offord & Kraemer, 2000; Roizen, 1997).

Although preferred over measures of co-occurrence, measures of association only provide partial evidence of a causal relationship between substance use and criminal behavior. Statistical measures of association (i.e., correlations) cannot be used by themselves to demonstrate causation. Instead, as noted above, before we can accept the notion that substance use is a probabilistic cause of crime it is also necessary (1) to show that substance use precedes criminal behavior and (2) to show that an apparent association between substance use and criminal behavior is not the result of some other causal influence. To demonstrate causation we have to provide evidence of more than just association. Correlation, as the old adage reminds us, is not causation.

This chapter deals with the connection between substance use and crime in AI/AN communities. In doing so, it provides a review of the findings of two different types of studies. The latter portion of this chapter examines studies on the association of substance use and crime among AI/ANs. There we will see that although there is substantial evidence of an association between substance use (especially alcohol use) and violence in AI/AN communities, research has yet to establish substance use as a cause of violence among AI/ANs. Research on the co-occurrence of alcohol and/or drug use and crime in AI/AN populations is considered first.

## CO-OCCURRENCE OF ALCOHOL AND OTHER DRUG USE AND CRIME

The lay conception of the connection between drinking and/or drug use and crime – namely that substance use is an assumed cause of criminal behavior – is most often supported by research on the relative frequency of alcohol and/or drug involvement in criminal acts. From this perspective, the higher the co-occurrence rate (i.e., the greater the proportion of cases categorized as involving alcohol or drugs), the stronger the link between substance abuse and crime. When considered from a more academic standpoint, however, measures of co-occurrence cannot be used to establish causation. At best, they can inform us how often criminal acts are preceded by substance use.

Considering research that used either official statistics (primarily police records) or the results of surveys, a couple of conclusions can be drawn from the research on the co-occurrence of substance use and violent crime in AI/AN communities. First, many violent offenses committed by AI/ANs are drug or, especially, alcohol-related. More than half of the violent offenses were classified as alcohol-involved in some jurisdictions considered. The second point to be drawn from this research is that it is not clear that AI/AN co-occurrence rates are any higher or lower than what is found in the general population. Although a few studies do allow for comparisons of substance use involvement for offenses committed by AI/ANs relative to those committed by non-AI/ANs, most research only considers co-occurrence within AI/AN jurisdictions or among AI/AN survey respondents. The research that does allow for AI/AN cooccurrence rates to be put into context indicates that violent offenses committed by or against AI/ANs are more likely than those committed by or against non-AI/ANs to involve alcohol. Unfortunately, the external validity of these comparative studies is limited because the research is mostly from one atypical state (Alaska), from a single southwestern tribe (the Southern Ute), and from a national survey in which AI/ANs that are rural reservation residents are underrepresented (the National Crime Victimization Survey [NCVS]).

## ALCOHOL AND DRUG INVOLVEMENT ACCORDING TO CRIMINAL JUSTICE SYSTEM RECORDS

From early on, the study of crime and the study of alcohol consumption amongst AI/ANs have been nearly synonymous (Hayner, 1942; von Hentig, 1945; Peak, 1989). For instance, the report *Law and Order on Indian Reservations of the Northwest* that was presented to the US Senate as a larger set of hearings on American Indian social conditions in the 1930s pointed to alcohol use one of the main sources of criminal behavior in Indian Country (Brookings Institute,

1932 [Cited in Staley, 2008]). Somewhat later Whittaker (1962) noted in his early study of alcohol use among the Standing Rock Sioux that the tribal police reported that all serious crimes in the prior 10 years had been committed by suspects under the influence of alcohol. Around that same time Stewart (1964) noted that depending on the reservation an offender was under the influence of alcohol in anywhere from 59 percent to 95 percent of all types of offenses committed.

Research from Alaska considering cases of sexual assault and domestic violence that have been reported to the police provides some indication of the extent to which those offenses when committed by Alaska Natives were suspected by the police to have been alcohol and/or drug involved. The first of these studies involved an analysis of all 4,288 incidents of domestic violence reported in Anchorage between 1989 and 2002 which showed that Alaska Natives had the highest rates of arrest for domestic violence and the cases with Alaska Native suspects were much more likely to be classified by the police, based upon their suspicions, as involving alcohol (Municipality of Anchorage, 2006). Although they only made up about 7 percent of the city's population, Alaska Natives were the suspect in 26 percent of arrests for domestic violence. Four-out-of-five cases (80%) with an Alaska Native suspect was classified (again, based upon the suspicion of the police), as being alcohol-involved, a proportion that was substantially higher than that of suspects that were white (54%), Hispanic (51%), Asian (42%), or African American (38%) (Municipality of Anchorage, 2006).

The co-occurrence of alcohol or other drugs and violent crime in rural Alaska was considered in studies examining the processing of cases of sexual assault (Postle, Rosay, Wood, & TePas, 2007) and of family violence (Rivera, Rosay, Wood, Postle, & TePas, 2008) reported to the Alaska State Troopers (AST). Analyses conducted specially for this report using the data from those two studies indicate that Alaska Native suspects were more likely than non-Native suspects to have been suspected by AST to have been drinking alcohol prior to committing a sexual assault or an act of family violence (see Table 5). Compared with non-Native suspects, Alaska Native suspects were 44 percent and 59 percent more likely to be reported to have used alcohol before committing sexual assaults or family violence, respectively. Alcohol use by victims was more frequent when family violence was committed against Alaska Natives relative to non-Natives and roughly the same in cases involving sexual assault. In cases of family violence, Alaska Native victims were 79 percent more likely than non-Native victims to be

reported to have been drinking prior to being assaulted. Suspects' or victims' use of drugs other than alcohol, as recorded in the case files examined by Postle et al. (2007) and Rivera et al. (2008), was much less frequent than what was found for alcohol use. The only difference in co-occurrence rates of drugs use and violence was for suspects of sexual assault and in those cases non-Native suspects were actually more likely than non-Native suspects to have been reported to have used drugs prior to the commission of their crime.

Table 5: Proportion of Sexual Assault and Family Violence Cases Reported to the Alaska State Troopers Involving Alcohol and/or Drug Use, Alaska Native Victims and Offenders vs. All Other Victims and Offenders, 2003 and 2004.

Offense and	% Used by Suspect		% Used by Victim			
Substance(s) Used	Alaska Native	non-Native	Alaska Native	non-Native		
<u>Sexual Assault</u>						
Drank Alcohol	40.7	28.3***	28.2	24.0		
Used Drugs	4.5	7.7*	4.4	4.9		
Drank Alcohol and/or Used Drugs	39.9	27.6***	28.0	24.5		
Family Violence						
Drank Alcohol	72.7	45.7***	42.5	23.7***		
Used Drugs	1.7	3.3	1.1	1.3		
Drank Alcohol and/or Used Drugs	73.9	48.6***	41.4	23.9***		

Sources: Reanalysis of data from Postle et al., 2007; Rivera et al., 2008

Note: \* p < .05, \*\*\* p < .001

Similar research from North Dakota provides further indication of higher levels of co occurrence of alcohol and violence among AI/ANs. An analysis of police records from the North Dakota Crime Reporting Program for 2001 found that domestic violence cases with American Indian offenders were more likely to be alcohol and/or drug involved than similar cases of non-American Indian offenders. Roughly three-out-of-five domestic violence cases with American Indian offenders (59%) versus two-out-of-five domestic violence cases with non-American Indian offenders (39%) were classified by the police as involving alcohol and/or drug use (Heidt, 2002).

Other indicators from the criminal justice system also show that alcohol is implicated in many AI/AN offenses. Mills (1989), for instance, found that of Wind River Reservation Shoshone and Arapaho convicted for non-violent and violent felonies, 38 percent and 82 percent were intoxicated at the time they committed their offense, respectively. Of those offenders, 77

percent had three or more previous alcohol-related arrests (Mills, 1989). Marenin (1992), in his examination of Alaska Village Public Safety Officer records, found that alcohol was implicated in anywhere from 56 percent to 83 percent of offenses against the person in 5 Alaska Native villages. Interviews conducted with American Indian prison inmates in Nebraska indicate that they were either drunk or drunk and high on drugs while committing 91 percent of the offenses for which they were incarcerated (Grobsmith, 1989). Similarly, only 1 of 30 American Indians serving time for homicide interviewed by Bachman (1991) was not under the influence of alcohol and/or drugs when committing the murder that resulted in their imprisonment.

Most recently, a report by Leonardson (2008) using records provided by the Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) Office of Law Enforcement and Security to examine crime rates on reservations in the Pacific Northwest gives us a good look at the co-occurrence of alcohol and drug use and crime in Indian Country. Comparisons are made in Table 6 on a state by state basis of the total of, and range across, reservations in terms of the alcohol and drug involvement in all offenses known to tribal police in the Northwest. The most distinct conclusion to be drawn is that reservation crime in the Northwest is much more likely to involve alcohol (at 33.1% of all offenses) than it is to involve drugs (at 2.6% of all offenses). There was substantial variation within and between states in terms of the degree to which offenses were deemed to be related to substance abuse. The proportion of crimes involving alcohol reported to the police on Wyoming's one reservation was double the proportions for reservations in Oregon and Montana which were, in turn, more than double the proportions for reservations in Idaho and Washington. Crimes were much more likely to be deemed drug-involved on reservations in Oregon and Washington than in states located more inland.

The statistics reported by Leonardson (2008) also allow for an examination of the co-occurrence of alcohol/drug use with violent crime and with property crime. As is shown in Table 7, substance use was more likely to be associated with UCR violent index offenses relative to UCR property index offenses: in all five Northwestern states, about half of all violent offenses (48.6%) and an eighth of all property offenses (12.7%) involved alcohol. Drug involvement in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Leonardson (2008) does not specify the method by which offenses were determined to have involved alcohol or drug use. When analyses are based on police records, it is typical that alcohol or drug involvement is based upon the judgment of investigating officers (Greenberg, 1981). Furthermore, although Leonardson does not specifically state that it is the perpetrators' alcohol or drug use that is at issue when classifying cases as alcohol or drug involved, it might be implied that is the case because he draws comparisons with national figures on the proportion of cases that were "committed under the influence of alcohol" (2008, p.14).

UCR index offenses was much less commonplace. Only 3.3 percent of violent crimes and 1.8 percent of property crimes were classified as being drug-involved across the five states considered. Interestingly, the state with the highest co-occurrence of drugs and violent crime had the lowest co-occurrence of alcohol and violent crime (Washington) while the state where violent crimes were most likely to be classified as alcohol involved was the state where violent crimes were least likely to be classified as drug involved (Wyoming) (Leonardson, 2008).

Table 6: Proportion of All Offenses Involving Alcohol or Drugs Occurring on Indian Reservations in 5 Northwestern States, 2004 to 2007.

	% of All Crimes that were Alcohol Involved		% of All Crimes that were Drug Involved		
State	Total of all Reservations in State	Range of Individual Reservations in State	Total of all Reservations in State	Range of Individual Reservations in State	
Idaho	15.2	12.2 to 32.5	2.7	0.8 to 17.1	
Montana	38.9	9.2 to 72.8	1.2	0.2 to 19.2	
Oregon	37.0	6.3 to 58.0	9.9	2.3 to 12.1	
Washington	15.0	1.5 to 34.2	5.9	0.2 to 18.1	
Wyoming	75.5	based on 1 reservation	2.4	based on 1 reservation	
Total, 5 States	33.1	1.5 to 75.5	2.6	0.2 to 18.1	

Source: (Leonardson, 2008).

Notes: Excludes 3 reservations with 0 drug or alcohol involved offenses and 3 multi-reservation agencies. Some offenses that were alcohol involved were also drug involved, and *vice versa*.

Table 7: Proportion of UCR Part I Index Offenses Involving Alcohol or Drugs Occurring on Indian Reservations in 5 Northwestern States, 2004 to 2007.

	<b>Violent Index Crimes</b>		<b>Property Index Crimes</b>			
G4 4		% Alcohol	% Drug		% Alcohol	% Drug
State	N	Involved	Involved	N	Involved	Involved
Idaho	370	56.2	7.3	885	8.7	1.9
Montana	2874	51.4	1.6	4219	27.3	0.8
Oregon	285	41.8	4.9	965	3.1	2.4
Washington	807	24.5	7.8	5433	2.6	2.5
Wyoming	238	92.0	0.8	152	55.9	0.0
Total, 5 States	4574	48.6	3.3	11654	12.7	1.8

Source: (Leonardson, 2008).

While Leonardson (2008) provides us with a compelling first glimpse into the patterns of crime reported to police serving on-reservation populations, his findings (and other research using similar statistics) must be interpreted with a number of caveats in mind. Obviously, the first of these is that the above are police crime statistics which are notoriously unreliable due to differential rates of victim reporting. Related to this fact is the problem that the police agencies examined by Leonardson (2008) were much less likely than off-reservation agencies to report crime statistics to the federal government. About a third of the agencies (30.2%) submitted reports to the BIA every year over the four year period considered by Leonardson (2008) while a quarter of the agencies (27.9%) submitted reports to the BIA in only one or two of those years. These rates of report submittal are much less than what was found nationally in 2004 when the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) received crime statistics from 80 percent of police agencies (FBI, 2005; Reaves, 2007). Inconsistencies in submittal of crime statistics to the BIA by reservation police are problematic because we don't know how different the statistics that were submitted are compared to the statistics that should have been submitted. Finally, the other point that should be kept in mind regarding the statistics provided by Leonardson (2008) is that the crimes that occurred on those reservations include an unknown proportion that were committed by non-Indians and therefore are not an accurate reflection of the co-occurrence of alcohol/drugs and crime committed only by American Indians.

On a more general level, it is important to point out that the co-occurrence measures found in studies such as Leonardson's (2008) are problematic because of a lack of standards for what it means for criminal offenses to be defined as alcohol or drug involved. Although jurisdictions that report crimes to the National Incident Based Reporting System (NIBRS) record cases as alcohol or drug involved if perpetrators are suspected by the police of consuming drinking or drug use shortly before or during a specific incident (Federal Bureau of Investigation, 1988), NIBRS participation is nowhere near universal. Usually, it is left to an arresting officer when compiling her/his report to decide if drug or alcohol use is somehow connected to a specific offense. Without specific rules for classifying cases, the judgment of the police regarding alcohol or drug involvement varies between officers and across jurisdictions (Greenberg, 1981) which, in turn, renders comparisons unreliable.

A second issue with the reliability of police records regarding the involvement of substance use in criminal acts is the "slippage" between the number of cases that actually

involved drugs or alcohol and the number of cases where that involvement is eventually recorded. This slippage occurs for two reasons. First of all, the police often have difficulties correctly identifying which suspects actually have been drinking alcohol. Numerous studies have shown that police fail to detect many intoxicated drivers following accidents or in sobriety checkpoints (Brick & Carpenter, 2001; Ferguson, Wells, & Lund, 1995; Moskowitz, Burns, & Ferguson, 1999; Sjogren, Bjornstig, & Eriksson, 1997). The second source of slippage occurs when cases are known to be alcohol related by the police but are not chronicled as such due to sloppy record keeping. Sometimes, drinking is mentioned in the narrative of police reports but not in the data fields used to flag cases as alcohol involved (Davidson, 2001; Saylor, Kehoe, Smith, & Starratt, 2000). This occurs even when cases, by definition, should be labeled as alcohol involved. Leonardson (2008) presented data showing that 28 percent of driving while impaired cases and 15 percent of drunkenness cases known to tribal police in the Pacific Northwest between 2004 and 2007 were not classified as being committed under the influence of alcohol. All too often, as Greenberg (1981) reminds us, noting the role of alcohol in a specific offense is much less of a concern than the information necessary for charges to be laid and for a case to be successfully prosecuted.

Related to the general unreliability of records of alcohol-involvement in criminal acts is the possibility that police in some jurisdictions are more likely than those from other areas to attribute AI/AN criminal behavior to drinking. As the largest non-Anglo racial group in the Great Plains, American Indians there have come to be treated as what Thatcher (1986) termed a "minority of disrepute." Their deviance is seen as especially problematic by non-Indians who are quick to equate American Indian criminal behavior with alcohol use (Holmes & Antell, 2001). This, conceivably, might lead police from places such as Montana or the Dakotas – places where American Indians are the largest minority and their populations are consolidated on reservations – to be more likely to ascribe their crime as alcohol involved when compared to places with less concentrated AI/AN populations.

A final point to keep in mind when considering police records to measure the cooccurrence of substance use and crime is that those records indicate the number of alcohol or drug related crimes the police know about rather than the number of different individuals who have been suspected of committing alcohol or drug related offenses. In many circumstances, a sizeable proportion of arrests are made of a small number repeat offenders. For example, May (2003), in a report of preliminary results of a study of 2000 arrest records kept by two unnamed Northern Plains tribal police departments, found that a sixth of all arrestees (17%) were responsible for nearly half of all arrests (47%).

## CO-OCCURRENCE OF CRIME AND ALCOHOL OR DRUGS IN VICTIMIZATION SURVEYS

The other primary source of data used to study the co-occurrence of alcohol and drug use and crime is the data that is gathered using victimization surveys. One basic benefit of using survey data to study the issue is that surveys capture information on all offenses that the respondent is willing to disclose regardless of criminal justice system involvement. This makes it possible to study the circumstances of offenses that are never brought to the attention of the police. Even though AI/ANs are just as likely – if not more likely – than others to report violent offenses, many crimes committed against AI/AN victims remain unknown to the police. The other benefits of using surveys are that they allow for a focus upon specific populations of interest and that they make it possible to obtain information not generally available in police records.

The National Crime Victimization Survey (NCVS) is an obvious first source of comparisons of perceived substance use by perpetrators of violent offenses against AI/ANs compared to violent offenses against non-AI/ANs. In their analysis of responses to the 1992 through 2005 NCVS, Bachman, Zaykowski, Kallmyer, Poteyeva, and Lanier (2008) compared the circumstances surrounding incidents of violent victimization against AI/AN women with cases of violent victimization against women of other races. For both assault and, especially for sexual assault, Bachman et al. (2008) report that perceived perpetrator alcohol and/or drug use was more likely to be reported by AI/AN victims than by victims of other races. More than a third (38%) of assault victims who self-identified as AI/AN reported that they believed the perpetrator who attacked them had been drinking and/or using drugs prior to the assault compared to 29 percent of victims who self-identified as white, 27 percent of victims who

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>According to the NCVS, between 1992 and 2005, 47.6 percent of assaults with an AI/AN victim were reported to the police versus 43.2 percent of assaults with an non-AI/AN victim while 45.0 percent of sexual assaults with an AI/AN victim were reported to the police versus 33.5 percent of sexual assaults with an non-AI/AN victim (Original analysis of BJS, 2008 conducted for this report). In their survey of Athabaskan women in Alaska, Magen & Wood (2006) found that more than half (51.7%) of the latest incidents of IPV were reported to the police which was almost double the reporting rate (26.7%) found for the nationally representative sample studied in the National Violence Against Women Survey (Tjaden & Thoennes, 2000). Abril (2003), in the Southern Ute Indian Tribe Community Safety Study, found that 43 percent of assaults against Southern Ute victims were reported to the police as opposed to only 35 percent of assaults against non-Indian women that were reported to the police.

self-identified as African American, and 19 percent of victims who self-identified as Asian American (Bachman et al., 2008). For sexual assault, racial differences in the perceived alcohol and drug use of the perpetrator were even more considerable. Victims who self-identified as AI/AN were roughly twice as likely (at 68%) as victims of other races (34% for self-identified white victims, 35% for self-identified African American victims, and 27% for self-identified Asian American victims) to report that they believed the perpetrator who sexually assaulted them had used alcohol and/or drugs prior to the attack (Bachman et al., 2008). While these results point to higher rates of drinking and/or drug use by perpetrators who committed violent crimes against AI/AN victims, it is important to note a couple of limitations of the NCVS that render tenuous the inferences that might be drawn from Bachman et al's. (2008) analyses. Their results are based upon a relatively small number of cases of self-identified AI/AN victims ( $n_{\text{un-weighted}} = 528$  assault victims;  $n_{\text{un-weighted}} = 33$  sexual assault victims) (Bureau of Justice Statistics, 2008) and the AI/ANs included in the NCVS sample are much less likely than AI/ANs in general to call an Indian reservation home (Long, Braunstein, Manning, & Anderson, 2008, p. 46).

Because of the problems with the generalizability of the NCVS to the AI/AN population, a number of local victimization surveys have been conducted in AI/AN communities over the past decade. In 2001, the Bureau of Justice Statistics (BJS) awarded grants for studies of the characteristics of violent victimization in and around three Indian reservations in the western US. These studies include adult victimization surveys conducted on the Confederated Tribes of the Umatilla Indian Reservation (CTUIR) in Oregon, the Zuni Pueblo Indian Reservation in New Mexico, and the Southern Ute Indian Tribe (SUIT) in Colorado (Perry, 2004). A year earlier, work began on a National Institute of Justice (NIJ) funded victimization survey of Athabaskan women from interior Alaska (Magen & Wood, 2006). Each of these studies indicates that there is a high degree of co-occurrence between alcohol use and violence.

Two of these studies – the surveys of the CTUIR and of the Zuni Pueblo – focused exclusively on American Indian populations. The CTUIR survey was administered as an insert to a widely-read tribal newspaper while the Zuni Pueblo survey used both paper-and-pencil and face-to-face administration methods (Perry, 2004). Each study eventually surveyed a non-probabilistic sample of roughly 10 percent of the American Indian population residing in and around the reservation. Of these two reservations, as shown in Table 8, the Zuni Pueblo respondents (25%) were much less likely than the CTUIR respondents (65%) to report being the

victim of a violent crime in the 12 months proceeding their survey. A majority of the residents of the Zuni Pueblo and of the CTUIR that were the victims of any violent offense reported perpetrator intoxication (69% and 60%, respectively). Likewise, a majority (60% in both Zuni and CTUIR) of domestic violence victimizations involved a perpetrator that was perceived by the victim to be intoxicated (Perry, 2004).

Table 8: Violent Victimization and Perpetrator Intoxication in Two Reservation Populations, Circa 2001 to 2002.

	Location			
Value	Umatilla (CTUIR)	Zuni Pueblo		
Sample Size	103	691		
Number of Victims	67	173		
Percent Victimized	65	25		
Number of Victimizations	88	518		
Percent Intoxicated Perpetrator	_			
All Victimizations	60	69		
Domestic Victimizations	61	60		
Non-Domestic Victimizations	60	not reported		

Source: Adapted from Perry, 2004.

The Southern Ute Indian Tribe (SUIT) Community Safety Study, the third BJS sponsored study, surveyed both tribal members as well as non-Indians from the surrounding area which made it possible to put the Southern Ute victimization rates into a comparative context. Questions in the SUIT survey regarding violent victimization asked respondents if specific types of violent acts had occurred. These acts included being threatened with a weapon, being slapped or hit, being beat, being kicked or bit, being pushed, grabbed or shoved, and being raped. Survey respondents who reported being victimized were then asked if the crime was committed by an offender that was under the influence of alcohol or drugs (Abril, 2003). Overall, violent acts against American Indian victims were much more likely than violent acts against non-Indian victims to involve perpetrator intoxication. According to an aggregate analysis conducted for this report using data found in the SUIT survey final report (Abril, 2003), more than two-thirds of the violent acts against American Indian victims (68.0%) versus two-fifths of violent acts against non-Indian victims (40.4%) involved an attacker reported by the victim to intoxicated; this difference was statistically significant ( $\chi^2 = 19.742$ , 1 d.f., p < .001). The rate of alcohol and/or drug involved violent acts for American Indians was substantially higher than that of non-

Indians. Based upon an analysis conducted for this report using data from the SUIT survey final report (Abril, 2003), there were 158 separate violent acts committed against in the past year against the 312 American Indian respondents to the SUIT survey. In that same period, there were 34 separate violent acts committed against the 355 non-Indian respondents. On a standardized basis, this works out to 50.6 alcohol/drug involved violent acts per 100 American Indians versus only 9.6 alcohol/drug involved violent acts per 100 non-Indians surveyed; this difference was also statistically significant ( $\chi^2 = 97.273$ , 1 d.f., p < .001).

Another victimization survey designed to put the results from an AI/AN population into a comparative context used an instrument that mirrored the National Violence Against Women Survey (NVAWS) to measure intimate partner violence (IPV) against a sample of 91 Athabaskan women residing in the interior of Alaska (Magen & Wood, 2006). Alcohol was involved in a large majority of the assaults against the two-thirds of the sample (63.7%) victimized by IPV: 78 percent of the perpetrators and 60 percent of the victims drank alcohol before their latest incident of IPV. The Athabaskan women's cases were more likely to involve alcohol compared to what was found nationally in the NVAWS where 52.3 percent of perpetrators and 8.6 percent of victims drank alcohol prior to their latest incident of IPV (analysis of Tjaden & Thoennes [1998] conducted for this report).

Although the above victimization surveys do provide some indication of the co-occurrence of substance use and violent crime, it is important to note a few limitations of the research. In addition to the general problems inherent in victimization surveys (Mosher, Miethe, & Phillips, 2002), there are a couple of issues specific to their use when considering the co-occurrence of substance use and crime among AI/ANs. First, the measure of perpetrator substance use is of questionable validity because it is based on the victims' judgment that the perpetrator had or had not been drinking or using drugs before the violent act took place. The other shortcoming of the above surveys in terms of understanding the co-occurrence of substance use and violence among AI/ANs is that most do not allow for analyses about the race of the perpetrator. Given the variation across studies regarding the proportion of cases that are inter- or

intra-racial, <sup>10</sup> the degree of co-occurrence of substance use and violence among AI/AN perpetrators is an open empirical question.

With the above caveats in mind, a couple of conclusions about the co-occurrence of substance use and victimization of AI/ANs can be drawn. From the nationwide NCVS to the surveys of more localized populations, each has shown that a sizeable proportion of AI/AN victims were attacked by a perpetrator reported to have been drinking alcohol or using drugs. Furthermore, all of the studies that allowed for comparisons with non-AI/AN victims have shown that AI/AN victims were more likely to have been attacked by a perpetrator that was reported to have been under the influence of alcohol or illicit substances. Although these studies are limited by a lack of information about the perpetrators' racial identity, they do provide some indication that violence against AI/ANs is more likely to involve substance use relative to that committed against those of other races.

#### THE ASSOCIATION BETWEEN DRUG AND/OR ALCOHOL USE AND CRIME

A number of studies from various fields have examined the association between drug and alcohol use and crime among AI/ANs. For the most part, this research has relied upon self-report surveys and has used cross-sectional research designs. Although this correlational approach makes it possible to establish a statistical association between substance use and crime, it does not allow for assertions to be made about drinking and drug use as a *cause* of AI/AN criminal behavior or victimization. One problem is that none of the studies considered are able to account for the time order of the association which makes it uncertain if survey respondents' substance use occurred before or after they offended or were victimized. As a result, the only conclusion that can be drawn this line of research is that AI/AN substance use is positively associated with AI/AN criminal victimization and perpetration but that the time order of that association remains unspecified. The research on simple bivariate associations between AI/AN substance use and assault victimization is considered first. This is followed by a review of studies that examined the association using a multivariate approach to begin to account for potential confounding influences.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Compare the NCVS which shows that at least 63 percent of all assaults against female AI/AN victims between 1992 and 2005 were inter-racial (Bachman, et al., 2008) with Magen and Wood's (2006) survey of Athabaskan women in rural Alaska which found that 79 percent of IPV assaults were intra-racial.

At a bivariate level, a pair of studies considered the association between substance use and assault victimization among samples of AI/ANs. The first of these studies, a review by Buchwald et al. (2000) of the records of 555 older AI/AN patients of the Seattle Indian Health Board, considered the association of elder abuse victimization and alcohol and/or drug use. Their results showed that elders who were abused were slightly more likely than those not abused to be current drinkers (31% versus 26%) but no more likely to be users of illicit drugs.

The other study considering substance use and violence at the bivariate level, a survey by Magen & Wood (2006) focusing upon intimate partner violence (IPV) against Athabaskan women of the Alaskan interior, considered the extent to which a number of measures of alcohol use were associated with victimization. They found that different patterns of alcohol consumption, specifically drinking in the past year and binge drinking, were associated with the likelihood of IPV victimization in the past year. For instance, a third of the Athabaskan women who binge drank in the 30 days proceeding the survey (32.3%) versus only a twelfth of the women that did not binge drink (8.3%) were victims of IPV assault in the past year (Magen & Wood, 2006). Other measures of the quantity and frequency of the Athabaskan women's drinking were also positively associated with the likelihood that they were the victim of IPV assault in the year preceding the survey. Magen & Wood (2006) found statistically significant differences between victims and non-victims for the month prior to the survey in terms of the average number of days drinking, the average number of drinks per day, the average number of days binge drinking, and the average number of most drinks consumed in one day.

Although Buchwald et al. (2000) and Magen & Wood (2006) did find positive associations between drinking and violent victimization, interpretation of their results is difficult due to the lack of specified time order between the two variables. In both studies, it is unclear if respondents' drinking came before their victimization or if their drinking was a reaction to their being attacked. If it could be established that alcohol use preceded victimization, then it would be possible to speak of the positive association in terms of its indicating that drinking is a risk factor (Offord & Kraemer, 2000) for victimization which, in turn, would be suggestive of possible strategies for prevention (Rifkin & Bouwer, 2007).

Other studies of the association between AI/AN alcohol use and violent victimization have employed multivariate analyses so as to test the strength of the association relative to other rival, plausible explanations. The earliest study of this type is Bachman's (1992) analysis based

on the 1985 National Family Violence Resurvey and 167 of its American Indian respondents. Specifically, Bachman (1992) calculated two different logistic regression models to estimate the effects of alcohol use and other causal factors upon past year violence as measured by the Conflict Tactics Scale within couples in which the respondent self-identified as American Indian. In the first model Bachman (1992) considered any violence within the couple while the second model focused specifically upon violence by the husband against the wife. Net the effects of controls for age, family income, urbanization, and respondent's stress, <sup>11</sup> an index measuring the frequency and quantity of the respondent's alcohol consumption was positively associated with the likelihood of violence within a couple (Bachman, 1992). However, when the same model was estimated only for husband-against-wife violence, the quantity/frequency index of the respondent's alcohol consumption was an almost but ultimately non-statistically significant predictor (p = .051) (Bachman, 1992).

The most recent survey to employ multivariate methods to consider the relative strength of the association between substance use and violent victimization was conducted by Yuan, Koss, Polacca, and Goldman (2006) of six reservation samples across the U.S. Their instrument used measures that have been widely employed in the general population including the *Alcohol Use Disorders and Associated Disabilities Interview Schedule* (Grant & Hasin, 1992) and questions about victimization from the NVAWS (Tjaden & Thoennes, 2000). In their analyses Yuan et al. (2006) estimated three separate models – one each for lifetime female and male physical assault victimization and another for lifetime female sexual assault victimization – that took into account victim lifetime alcohol dependency, as well as parental alcoholism and the victims' exposure to abuse and neglect as a child. In all three models, lifetime alcohol dependence was positively associated with the likelihood of lifetime violent victimization: women and men who were alcohol dependent were 2.16 times (95% c.i. = 1.40 to 3.32) and 2.05 times (95% c.i. = 1.34 to 3.12) more likely to have been the victim of physical assault, respectively, while women who were alcohol dependent were 1.67 times (95% c.i. = 1.01 to 2.75) more likely to have been the victim of sexual assault (Yuan et al., 2006). The other finding

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>According to the ICPSR codebook for the study (Gelles & Straus, 1994), one member of a married couple responded to the 1985 National Family Violence Resurvey for both members of the couple. As a result, a number of the measures in the survey such as stress or the quantity/frequency of drinking are only for the husband or for the wife that responded to the survey and who could have been the perpetrator and/or victim of any violence in the relationship.

of interest in Yuan et al.'s (2006) results regarding substance use is that the likelihood of women's physical assault victimization was increased further for those with an alcoholic parent.

Both domestic violence victimization and perpetration were considered by Kunitz, Levy, McCloskey, and Gabriel (1998) using data from their survey of a representative sample of 734 adult Navajo. They tested multivariate models that considered the relative effects of childhood abuse and conduct disorder<sup>12</sup> upon subsequent alcohol dependence and domestic violence in adulthood as a way of examining the commonly referred to "cycle of violence." Domestic violence perpetration or victimization as an adult were measured by asking respondents if they had ever struck, or been struck by, a romantic partner, respectively. In their analyses they found that childhood physical abuse victimization and adult alcohol dependence were positively associated with both domestic violence perpetration and victimization net the relative effects of childhood sexual abuse victimization and conduct disorder (Kunitz et al., 1998).

The association between substance use and self-reported criminal behavior has been considered by a number of researchers. For instance, Barnes et al. (2002) in their survey of New York state junior and senior high school students found that American Indian students had the highest rates of substance use and abuse and the highest rates of self-reported delinquency. A pair of psychological studies examined the association between substance abuse disorder and what are called either "disruptive behavior" or "externalizing" disorders to refer to the combination of attention deficit and hyperactivity disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, and conduct disorder in adolescents. For example, in Beals et al.'s (1997) study of psychiatric disorders of 109 youth age 14 to 16 residing on a Northern Plains reservation, it was found that adolescents diagnosed with a substance-abuse disorder were much more likely than those without such a diagnosis to also be diagnosed with a disruptive behavior disorder (42.1% vs. 9.3%). A similar study by Whitbeck, Yu, Johnson, Hoyt, and Walls (2008) using a longitudinal design to consider the effects of changes in mental and substance abuse disorders among 480 reservation youth from a single un-named northern Midwest U.S. culture found no association between a lagged measure of adolescent substance use disorders with a diagnosis of an externalizing disorder 12 months later. They did, however, find that a diagnosis of maternal substance use disorder at sometime in her lifetime was positively associated with the likelihood

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>"Conduct disorder" is a diagnosis in the American Psychiatric Association's *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* that involves pre-age 15 delinquent behavior (including violence, theft, arson, and status offenses) and lying (Richters & Cicchetti, 1993).

of an adolescent child being diagnosed with an externalizing disorder (Whitbeck et al., 2008). Klausner and Foulks (1982, p. 167), in a survey of Iñupiat in Barrow, Alaska, found that 62 percent of the sample reported fighting while drinking. The Iñupiat who scored higher on an alcoholism screening test were much more likely (nearly twice as likely) to have fought while intoxicated (Klausner & Foulks, 1982).

Another study that considered parental influences upon adolescent substance abuse and criminal behavior involved a self-report survey of 569 American Indian students in grades 3 through 12 in Minneapolis (Bearinger et al., 2005). Their analysis featured a number of protective factors premised upon social learning theory (i.e., peer and parental pro-social behavioral norms) and social control theory (i.e., school connectedness) that were included in a multivariate logistic regression model to consider the effects of a ratio level measure of past month substance use upon past year violent behavior. Bearinger et al. (2005) found that relative to the effects of the other variables in their models, students that used tobacco, marijuana, and alcohol everyday in the month prior to the survey were 2.6 times more likely than those that hadn't used any of the above substances to have stabbed, shot, or repeatedly hit someone in the past year and 5.26 times more likely to have shot or stabbed someone in the past year. Parental pro-social norms were not associated with the likelihood of violence in general but they did serve as a protective factor by reducing the likelihood of violence by shooting or stabbing.

The one psychological study that examined self-reported criminal behavior among adults is a survey of 582 adult members of an American Indian tribe from the Southwestern U.S conducted by Robin, Long, Rasmussen, Albaugh, and Goldman (1998) in which they considered the relationship between behavioral problems associated with violence or lawlessness and alcohol problems including binge drinking and alcohol dependence. In this research the criteria for classifying binge drinkers – those who drank 24 beers or a fifth of spirits or 3 bottles of wine in a day for three consecutive days at least three times in their lifetime – was quite different from the standard '5 or more drinks in a setting' measure. In their multivariate models predicting problem outcomes they found that the 41 percent of the tribe that were binge drinkers (using the above classification) were much more likely to have trouble with work, with their health, with family and friends, and with lawlessness and violence (Robin et al., 1998).

Overall, the research on the association between alcohol use and crime among AI/ANs is unequivocal. Study after study has shown that there is a correlation between alcohol use and

AI/AN criminal victimization and perpetration. This is true for the studies that considered alcohol use and violence at a bivariate level as well as for the studies that considered alcohol use as but one of many correlates of crime. In short, the research on the association between drinking and crime indicates that AI/ANs who use alcohol are more likely to be involved with violence either as a perpetrator or as a victim. Although the findings across all of the above studies provide firm support for an association between AI/AN alcohol use and criminal behavior, there is considerable room for improvement across that body of research in terms of establishing a causal relationship between drinking and crime among AI/ANs. In no way should this conclusion be taken to indicated that this research has even begin to establish that alcohol causes crime among AI/ANs.

One problem with the above mentioned research on the association between AI/AN substance use and crime is that almost all of it is based upon self-report surveys. Given that both substance use and criminal behavior are seen by most as shameful acts, there is a potential for survey measures of criminal victimization and perpetration and drinking and drug use to be woefully inaccurate. The extent to which the responses to surveys about AI/AN substance use and crime are afflicted with social desirability bias (Fisher, 1993) is largely unknown because none of the studies validated their measures. This criticism of research considering the association between substance use and crime among AI/ANs also applies to the surveys regarding AI/AN drug and alcohol use in general. With the exception of the ADAM project which combined interviews of recent arrestees with urinalysis, the reliability and measurement validity of the surveys on substance use is uncertain.

Even though it is not reasonable to expect every study to subject participants to urine tests (or polygraphs or reverse-record checks) to validate responses, the self-report survey is by no means the only research design available for studying the relationship between substance use and crime among AI/ANs. The case-control study is one design alternative to surveys that has been successfully used for many years across numerous non-AI/AN populations to study substance use as a cause of violence (Cherpitel, 2007). Case-control studies are a retrospective type of design which compares a sub-sample of patients suffering a condition (i.e., the 'cases') with a matched sub-sample of patients without the condition (i.e., the 'controls') in terms of their relative exposure to factors suspected as causes of the condition (Coggon, Barker, & Rose, 2003). For example, a study of the association between alcohol consumption and serious injury

conducted in Anchorage, Alaska used a case-control design comparing the blood alcohol content of emergency room patients admitted for intentional and unintentional injuries with the blood alcohol content of a matched group of emergency room patients that were admitted for reasons other than injury ailments (Diamond, Ingle, & Middaugh, 1997). To date, this potentially fruitful type of research design has yet to be used to study the relationship between substance use and violence among AI/ANs.

The other primary methodological shortcoming of the aforementioned body of survey research on AI/ANs involves issues surrounding the temporal precedence of substance use and criminal behavior. From the standpoint of trying to understand the causal link between substance use and crime, these studies are problematic because of difficulties establishing that drinking and drug use came before, rather than after, the problems they were found to be associated with. For instance, one study uses a cross-sectional design with multivariate models that treats measures of alcohol problems at any point in a person's lifetime as an independent variable used to predict the likelihood of his or her being the victim of a physical or sexual assault at some point during adulthood (Yuan et al., 2006). In another study, the time frame of substance abuse (e.g., past month binge drinking) that is associated with the problem outcome (e.g., past year assault victimization) almost by necessity precludes a time order that would place the substance abuse before the problem outcome (Magen & Wood, 2006). Even the most theoretically compelling studies such as Kunitz et al.'s (1998) examination of the cycle of violence in examining the effects of childhood abuse and conduct disorder did not demonstrate the temporal precedence of measures of adult alcohol dependence upon adult domestic violence. The need for a clear delineation of causal time order becomes even more pertinent when one considers research that reverses independent and dependent variables with past criminal behavior and victimization seen as the causes of substance use and abuse. For instance, childhood physical and sexual abuse victimization (Jacobs & Gill, 2002; Koss et al., 2003; Saylors & Daliparthy, 2006) or delinquency (Ehlers et al., 2006; Kunitz et al., 1999) have been shown to be positively associated with the likelihood of alcohol use disorders during adulthood. Ultimately, research that fails to establish the temporal precedence of substance use before crime can only be regarded as correlational at best rather than compelling evidence for a causal relationship.

## CHAPTER 4: RESPONSES TO ALCOHOL AND DRUG ABUSE IN AI/AN COMMUNITIES

The human consequences of drug and alcohol use can be severe and among AI/ANs, they are especially acute. For those on the front lines dealing with the effects of substance abuse in AI/AN communities, concerns over issues such as 'temporal precedence' or 'co-occurrence versus correlation' must seem rather academic. In their minds, it is the need for solutions to the problem that is paramount. An example of this point of view comes from the director of an American Indian battered women's shelter who was interviewed by Bachman (1992, p. 95):

"the alcohol is, of course, ever present, and you wonder, is alcohol the cause of the problems, or is it the result of everything that these people must live with like the unemployment? But this is not for us here to answer. We must deal with the violence, but we do know that alcohol certainly seems to enhance the violence"

Research on the effects of responses to alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities is considered in this chapter.

#### LOCAL ALCOHOL PROHIBITION

The one policy geared toward dealing with the problems of substance use in AI/AN communities that has been the subject of considerable research is local alcohol prohibition. A primary solution to alcohol-related harm that dates back to the earliest days of the United States, 13 the formal legal prohibition of the possession of alcohol by AI/ANs was national law until 1953 with the passage of Public Law 277 (18 U.S.C. 1161). During that period, it was illegal for any AI/AN to possess alcohol or for a non-AI/AN to sell alcohol to any AI/AN. With the 1953 repeal, the U.S. Congress granted American Indian tribes in the lower-48 states the "local option" authority to regulate alcohol availability. It wasn't until 1980 when the Alaska State Legislature granted the same authority all localities across the state, including Alaska Native villages (Berman & Hull, 2001). Today, roughly a third of American Indian reservations (Kovas, McFarland, Landen, Lopez, & May, 2008) and two-out-of-five Alaska Native villages (Griffin, 2007) have some form of legal prohibition over the importation and/or possession of alcohol.

When the Federal local option legislation was passed in 1953, American Indian tribes in the lower-48 states could choose to pass regulations that allowed on-reservation sale or

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Under section 21 of the *Trade and Intercourse Act of 1802*, the President of the United States was given authority to "prevent or restrain the vending or distributing of spirituous liquors among all or any of the said Indian tribes." For a succinct historical description of Federal alcohol policy pertaining to AI/AN people, see Back (1981).

possession of alcohol. Those tribes that did not choose to legalize alcohol within their borders effectively continued prohibition because remaining 'dry' after 1953 did not require a tribe to change its regulations. A recent review by Kovas et al. (2008) indicates that there is a diverse range of tribal alcohol regulations that not only legalize alcohol possession but also allow for alcohol sales with specific provisions for tribal licensing, for exclusive tribal sales, and for tribal alcohol taxes.

In Alaska, where tribes have considerably less recognized authority, alcohol regulations are instead the purview of local governments. Each community may hold a referendum to decide on varying levels of local availability including (1) allowing alcohol to be purchased and sold in a village (i.e., 'wet' villages), (2) allowing alcohol to be imported into a village (i.e., 'damp' villages), or (3) making alcohol sales and importation and/or possession illegal in a village (i.e., 'dry villages') (Berman & Hull, 2001). Unless a village chooses to become 'dry,' the default regulation in Alaska is for a locality to be 'damp' or 'wet' depending upon the state's issuance of a liquor license allowing local sales. According to Lonner, village residents who have banned alcohol see themselves as living under prohibition: "they (and many government agency personnel) talk about voting 'dry' and having 'dry' communities. To villagers, 'dry' means no more alcohol, no more drinking, and no more drunks in the villages" (1985, p. 335).

Although intended to reduce the incidence of alcohol-related harms, the effectiveness of local prohibition has been mixed. For the most part, the effectiveness of local alcohol prohibition is a function of geographic isolation. Prohibition has been largely ineffective in the lower-48 states where reservations are connected by highway to off-reservation alcohol merchants. However, in Alaska, where the majority of Alaska Native villages are removed from the state's highway system, access to alcohol outlets is much more difficult which makes local alcohol prohibition a more effective policy response to the trauma that often accompanies drinking.

### ALCOHOL PROHIBITION ON LOWER-48 RESERVATIONS

Research on the effects of prohibition as practiced by American Indian tribes in the lower-48 states has followed three paths. The first includes research that examines a single tribe before-and-after implementation of changes in alcohol regulations. Other research points to the negative consequences specific tribes have experienced under prohibition. A third set of studies – a set that is much more widely cited – makes cross-tribal comparisons for reservations with

versus reservations without prohibition. As a whole, these studies provide little support for the policy.

What support there is for prohibition as an antidote to alcohol-related harm comes from specific before-and-after analyses. In his comparison of wet and dry reservations in Montana and Wyoming, May's (1976) also considered the specific case of the Wind River Reservation in Wyoming after it repealed prohibition. He found there were dramatic increases in the rates of alcohol-related mortality in the 3 years after alcohol was allowed at Wind River (1972-1974) compared to the 12 prior years under prohibition (1959-1971): liver cirrhosis deaths increased by 83 percent, alcoholism deaths increased by 126 percent, homicides increased by 46 percent, and suicides increased by 151 percent (May, 1976).

The other evidence of increases in alcohol abuse following the repeal of probation comes from Whittaker's (1962) survey of self-reported drinking patterns of Standing Rock Reservation Sioux. To gauge the effects of the changes that allowed legal alcohol sales at Standing Rock, Whittaker asked respondents about their own drinking habits and also about the drinking habits of their parents. He then compared the two generations, using parental drinking habits as a proxy for pre-repeal drinking patterns and respondents' drinking habits as an indication of post-repeal drinking patterns. Overall, given that male respondents were more likely than their fathers and female respondents were more likely than their mothers to drink at all or to drink three or more days per week, Whittaker (1962) concluded that the repeal of prohibition was detrimental to the Standing Rock Sioux and that it brought about changes in harmful drinking practices that persisted for many years (Whittaker, 1982). This conclusion, however, should be tempered with the possibility that the differences in drinking practices were not a result of a change in alcohol availability policy but were instead due to the maturation of the parents that is similar to the seemingly spontaneous remission of problem drinking during middle-age that is often found among other American Indian cultures (Henderson, 2000; Kunitz, 2006; Kunitz & Levy, 1974, 1994; Leung, Kinzie, Boehnlein, & Shore, 1993; May, 1996; May & Gossage, 2001; Quintero, 2000).

In the 'Indian drinking' literature there are only two other considerations of the differences in alcohol problems before and after a tribe chose to legalize alcohol. In passing, Riffenburgh (1964) commented upon the effects of the Jicarilla Apache opening a tribally owned and operated liquor store on their reservation in Dulce, New Mexico. Contrary to the

expectations of "unprecedented drinking orgies and drunken crimes of violence," there was little change in drinking patterns, drunken behavior, or criminal arrests when the Jicarilla Apache legalized drinking and made alcohol readily available (Riffenburgh, 1964, p. 42). The other study considering the after-effects of legalization was conducted by May (1975) who considered the impact of the brief opening of package and grocery store sales of alcohol in June and July of 1970 on the Pine Ridge Reservation in South Dakota. According to the records examined by May (1975), there were fewer arrests by tribal police and by the sheriff of the bordering county in the two months of legalization in 1970 than there were in June and July of 1969 and 1971 when alcohol sales were prohibited. At least for the two months considered, legalization brought about fewer arrests to Pine Ridge.

Some of the most damning arguments against tribal prohibition have pointed to the death and devastation that occurs among American Indians in and around the border towns adjacent to reservations that they travel to obtain alcohol (Florio, 2002). The most telling empirical consideration of this problem by Gallaher, Fleming, Berger, and Sewell (1992) examined deaths from hypothermia and pedestrian-motor vehicle crashes among American Indians in New Mexico. Using death-certificate records, they compared the unintentional death rates of American Indians and non-Indians during the 1980s in terms of the specific cause of death and the location on or off-reservation and found that American Indians were 7.5 times more likely to die from injuries received as a pedestrian struck by a motor vehicle and 30.5 times more likely to die from hypothermia (Gallaher et al., 1992). Perhaps the most astounding figure reported by Gallaher et al. (1992) is that 8 percent of all deaths of American Indians in New Mexico in the 1980s were pedestrian or hypothermia deaths; in other words, 1 out of every 12 American Indians who died from all causes either froze to death or was run over by a motor vehicle. In nearly all of the cases the victim had been drinking alcohol and a majority of the deaths occurred on or near highways that connect the dry Navajo Nation with the off-reservation border towns of Gallup and Farmington, New Mexico. Because the study only considered the deaths of residents of New Mexico and did not include the deaths of out-of-state American Indians, Gallaher et al.'s (1992) results possibly underscore the carnage that occurred in northwestern New Mexico in the 1980s.

A pair of studies has considered the effects of prohibition on self-reported drinking patterns. Neither study indicated that there were higher levels of drinking among American

Indians living on reservations where alcohol has been legalized. In the first of these studies, Bellamy (1984) did a secondary analysis of surveys conducted by Beauvais, Oetting, and Edwards (1985) between 1980 and 1982 of students in grades 7 to 12 attending school on 1 of 3 unnamed Rocky Mountain reservations. To determine the effects of prohibition upon underage drinking, Bellamy (1984) compared the survey responses of students from one dry reservation with those of students from a reservation that had been wet since repeal in 1953 and from a reservation that legalized alcohol in the early 1970s. In three of the four regression models estimated by Bellamy (1984) predicting the students' scores on a 3 item scale measuring beer drinking and a 2 item scale measuring drunkenness, there were no differences between dry reservation students and students from either of the wet reservations. Only in the model estimating males beer drinking did reservation alcohol policy impact students' self-reported alcohol use and the results indicated that students from the reservation that legalized alcohol in the early 1970s were less likely to drink beer compared to students from the dry reservation. Bellamy's (1984) results indicate that laws intended to reduce access to alcohol did not translate into lower levels of underage beer drinking or drunkenness.

The other study that examined American Indian alcohol use relative to reservation alcohol regulations is a survey by Weibel-Orlando (1990) which compared self-reported drinking patterns of Cherokee, Navajo, Sioux, and California rancheria Indians. For the purposes of considering the effects of prohibition, Cherokee drinking was compared with that of American Indians from other three groups because the Cherokee resided where alcohol was legal while the other nations prohibited it. Comparisons of self-reported quantity and frequency showed that the 'wet' Cherokee were the least likely to drink and those that did drink drank less on average than all other groups except the Sioux (Weibel-Orlando, 1990). This result led Weibel-Orlando to conclude that "prohibition, as practiced on the Navajo, the Sioux, and the majority of the California reservations and *rancherias*, does not preclude high levels of alcohol consumption among their residents" (1990, p. 315). However, in her discussion Weibel-Orlando (1990) mentioned the fundamentalist Christianity practiced by the Cherokee as an alternative explanation for the inter-tribal differences in drinking thereby calling into question the conclusion that their relative sobriety was a function of a policy that legalized alcohol. The comparability of the Cherokee with other American Indians is also questioned by other authors

who point to a lack of reservations in Oklahoma as potentially effecting patterns of alcohol use (Beauvais et al., 2004, p. 495).

Research comparing wet and dry reservations in terms of the rates of problems associated with drinking has largely shown prohibition to be a failed policy. The most influential study in this area is Phil May's (1976) dissertation in which he examined rates of mortality and arrests related to alcohol on wet and dry reservations in Montana and Wyoming for a 15 year period between 1959 and 1974. Two sets of comparisons were made by May (1976). First, after establishing their geographic and socioeconomic similarities as a way of controlling for potential confounders, May (1976) compared the Blackfeet (whose reservation is wet) with the Crow and the Northern Cheyenne (whose reservations are dry). In these analyses May (1976) found that the Blackfoot alcohol-related death rates and on- and off- reservation arrest rates were lower than the combined rate for the Crow and Northern Cheyenne. May (1976) then expanded his analyses to include two other wet reservations (Rocky Boy's and Fort Belknap) and two other dry reservations (Fort Peck and Wind River). This analysis provided similar results, namely that the 3 reservations with legalized alcohol had lower rates of alcohol-related deaths and arrests compared to the 4 reservations with prohibition; for instance, the mortality rates on the wet reservations were less for homicide (-18%), for suicide (-47%), and for liver cirrhosis (-28%) (May, 1976). Altogether, May's (1976) results indicate that alcohol prohibition on the four reservations he studied had an effect opposite that intended, actually making things worse.

Two decades later, Landen (1997) replicated May's (1976) research by examining the rates of alcohol-related mortality for the same seven reservation populations over the period 1979 through 1990. In doing so, Landen (1997) improved upon the original analysis by employing the latest epidemiological methods to his comparisons including the calculation of age-adjusted rates and the use of the Alcohol Related Disease Impact approach (Schultz et al., 1991) to refine estimates of mortality directly attributable to alcohol use. With some improvements on dry reservations in the years following May's (1976) research, Landen (1997) found that the differences between the two groups' rates of alcohol-related mortality dissipated and were no longer statistically significant. The difference in the results of the two studies was partly attributed to one of the reservations – Wind River – changing from dry to wet in the 1970s which simultaneously increased the rate of alcohol-related mortality across wet reservations and decreased it on dry reservations (Landen, 1997). Even with this change, however, a policy of

prohibition was still not associated with reduced levels of alcohol-related harm when compared to the policy of legalization.

# ALCOHOL PROHIBITION IN ALASKA NATIVE VILLAGES

Contrary to what has been found for Indian reservations in the Lower-48, research on prohibition in Alaska supports the policy as a response to violence. A number of different studies have shown that Alaska Native villages are safer places when they prohibit alcohol. Included in this research are studies of the effects of changes in alcohol legality in Barrow, Alaska as well as studies that consider the policy across numerous Alaska Native villages.

Although neither focused specifically on criminal behavior, a pair of studies on local prohibition in the largely Iñupiat populated "city" of Barrow, Alaska support the policy as a means of improving public health and safety. In the 1990s, Barrow changed its local alcohol regulations four times starting from damp (from 1977 until October 1994), to dry (November 1994 to October 1995), then damp again (November 1995 to February 1996), then dry again (March 1996 to October 1997), and, finally back to damp (November 1997) where it's been every since (Berman & Hull, 1999). 'Natural experiments' considering these changes showed decreased alcohol-related problems during the dry periods relative to the damp periods. The first of these studies, an examination of changes in self-reported drug and alcohol use by women seeking prenatal care in Barrow before and after the first imposition of prohibition, found no changes in the maternal use of tobacco, marijuana, or cocaine and statistically significant decreases in alcohol abuse by pregnant mothers both during the first trimester and during the full gestational term (Bowerman, 1997). The other study of the effects of Barrow's alcohol policy reversals which used autoregressive integrated moving average models to consider changes in alcohol-related outpatient hospital visits found substantial and statistically significant differences between the periods: the hospital averaged about 82 alcohol-related outpatients per month when alcohol was available versus only 16 per month when it was prohibited (Chiu, Perez, & Parker, 1997).

The effect of local alcohol prohibition upon violence across a large number of isolated Alaska Native villages was first considered by Landen et al., (1997). They examined crude-rates of injury mortality due to a number of causes including motor vehicle crashes, hypothermia, drowning, suicide, and, of particular interest in this report, homicide. Overall, they found higher rates of injury death for Alaska Natives that were residents of wet or damp villages relative to

Alaska Native residents of dry villages (Rate Ratio [RR] = 1.6, 95% c.i. = 1.3-2.1) (Landen et al., 1997). The differences in homicide rates were even more extreme: for every homicide death in a dry village there were at least 1.9 homicide deaths in a wet village (RR = 4.5, 95% c.i. = 1.9-10.8) (Landen et al., 1997).

The second study that considered prohibition across multiple Alaska Native villages was by Berman, Hull, and May (2000) in which they considered changes in violence in 89 villages that exercised local option between 1980 and 1993. Their study was an improvement over the work done by Landen et al. (1997) because it allowed for a consideration of the effects of local prohibition that also ruled out any self-selection bias that is inherent in pure cross-sectional comparisons. In their analysis Berman et al. (2000) compared the total homicide death rates among the 89 villages when they were wet with the total homicide rates among those same villages once they became dry. They found that the total homicide rate for the villages when they were wet, at 40.4 per 100,000 population, was more than double the homicide rate of 19.5 per 100,000 population they experienced once they became dry (Berman et al., 2000). In order to ensure that the decrease was not part of an overall trend across all villages, Berman et al. (2000) also examined changes in the homicide rates in those villages that did not prohibit alcohol and found no statistically significant differences in their rates for the period 1980-1986 versus 1987-1993. All together, these results indicate that villages that prohibited alcohol have much less homicide and the reduction in homicide is thought to be a result of the policy change rather than being a function of some sort of self-selection effects (Berman et al., 2000).

In the final multi-village study, Wood and Gruenewald (2006) examined the effects of local prohibition upon the incidence of serious injuries caused by assault. Their study was an improvement upon the research by Landen et al. (1997) and Berman et al. (2000) for a couple of reasons. First, it used a public health measure of assault that combined both deaths and serious injuries rather than using just a measure of homicide deaths alone (which can be biased on a geographical basis due to access to medical care (Doerner, 1988)). Their study also improved upon the earlier studies because it considered the effects of a lack of a local police presence upon violence. In their analyses, Wood and Gruenewald (2006) first compared age-adjusted rates of serious assaults in wet and dry villages and in terms of local police presence which found that the rate of serious injury by assault was one-and-a-half times greater in wet villages compared to dry villages (RR = 1.52; 95% c.i. = 1.23–1.88) and that the rate of serious injury caused by assault

was 36 percent higher in villages during periods of police absence than when police were present (RR = 1.36, 95% c.i. = 1.04–1.78) (Wood & Gruenewald, 2006). In addition to their rate comparisons, Wood and Gruenewald (2006) also estimated a multivariate, negative binomial regression model at the village-level to take into account a number of potential confounding variables including the connection of the village to a hub with alcohol sales, the geographic isolation of the village, and the demographic structure of the village to consider the relative effects of local prohibition and police presence upon serious assaults. The results of their model corresponded with the findings of their crude-rate comparisons. Specifically, the model indicated that villages that were always dry had assault rates that were 36 percent less than villages that were always wet and villages that always had a local police presence had assault rates that were 40 percent less than villages that never had a local police presence (Wood & Gruenewald, 2006).

#### UNDERSTANDING THE EFFECTS OF LOCAL PROHIBITION

The results of the research on the effects of local prohibition underscore the importance of recognizing the diversity of contexts across which AI/ANs reside and criminal justice policy operates. Clearly, there are substantial differences between the villages Alaska Natives inhabit and the reservations American Indians populate. These differences have important ramifications for understanding why prohibition is or is not effective. This understanding, however, is not the last word on the issue and there are a number of questions about the effects of local prohibition that remain unresolved.

The big difference between Alaska and the Lower-48 is, of course, the presence or absence of highways connecting communities to places where alcohol is legally sold. Prohibition appears to be a much more viable policy for Alaska Native villages because their isolation hinders residents' alcohol purchases and enhances enforcement. Studies of violence in the Canadian Arctic where travel between communities is hampered by a lack of roads also indicate that prohibition is an effective policy that can reduce alcohol-related problems (Smart, 1979; Wood, 2008).

Although prohibition does reduce violence in geographically isolated Alaska Native villages, it is important to note that the policy is not a panacea because dry villages are still much more dangerous places when compared with places outside the Alaska Native *milieu*. For example, Wood and Gruenewald (2006) found that although the rate of serious assault injuries in

dry villages (135 per 100,000) was less than that of wet villages (205 per 100,000), it was still 68 percent higher than the rate for all of Alaska (80 per 100,000). Likewise, the results of Berman et al.'s (2000) analysis indicated that the imposition of alcohol prohibition in Alaska Native villages reduced homicide death rates from 9 times higher than the national rate to roughly 2.5 times higher than the national rate. There are, undoubtedly, other factors such as a lack of a local police presence (Wood & Gruenewald, 2006) or extreme levels of socio-economic deprivation that contribute to the violence in those villages regardless of policies that prohibit alcohol.

It is also possible that local option prohibition is insufficient as a policy because of limits to what can be accomplished with formal legal sanctions. Evidence for this comes from an evaluation of the Rural Alcohol Interdiction, Investigation, and Prosecution Program (RAI Program) which indicated that enhanced enforcement of alcohol statutes did not result in reductions of serious violence in isolated Alaska Native villages (Shively, Wood, Olsho, Rhodes, & Chapman, 2008). Beginning in 2002, the RAI Program combined increases in police interdiction activities focused on transportation hubs leading to dry villages in western Alaska with a prosecutor whose caseload was dedicated entirely to alcohol cases. Relative to the period before its implementation, the RAI program brought about increased police activity and prosecutions for violation of liquor laws which, in turn, resulted in increases in the number of seizures of alcohol and the volume of alcohol seized as well as increases in alcohol-related arrests, police referrals to prosecutors, and convictions (Shively et al., 2008). These increases, however, did not result in the intended decreases in violence in dry villages in western Alaska. Despite the aggressive enforcement of Alaska's liquor laws under the RAI Program, its implementation was not associated with decreases in simple, aggravated, or sexual assault as measured by offenses known to the police and by serious injuries as recorded in public health records (Shively et al., 2008).

An additional issue regarding the effectiveness of local option prohibition in Alaska's rural villages is the extent to which banning the importation of alcoholic beverages leads to substitution of potentially more dangerous substances. Even when interdiction is effective, the substitution of intoxicants may render bans on alcohol powerless. Arguments can be made that three substances in particular – marijuana, inhalants, and homebrewed/non-beverage alcohol – are used as substitutes to fill the consciousness-alteration void left by prohibition in dry Alaska Native villages.

There are a couple of reasons why marijuana may be one substance that is substituted for alcohol in dry villages. One sign is the extremely high rates of adult marijuana use (Segal & Saylor, 2007; Stillner et al., 1999) and dependence (Division of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse, 1999) relative to that of other Alaskans while their rates of alcohol use and abuse are typical. A second reason to expect that marijuana is a substitute intoxicant is that there is an interplay of illegal markets (Felson, 2002) such that techniques used to smuggle alcohol into a dry village would also be effective for procuring marijuana. Given that marijuana is much more concealable relative to alcohol on a dose for dose basis, it is conceivable that it has broader availability in Alaska Native villages and is more affordable due to "street" prices that are similar to what is found in less isolated domains. Ultimately, the true effects of the interplay of illegal markets upon the substitution of marijuana for alcohol in local option villages is unknown and would require empirical research to understand what effect, if any, prohibition has upon its elevated prevalence in those communities.

A second possible form of substitution in local option Alaska Native villages is that of adolescent inhalant use. Canadian research indicates that youngsters from isolated Aboriginal communities that prohibit alcohol are more likely to use inhalants relative to those from communities that allow for importation (Angle & Eade, 1975; Smart, 1988). This finding is premised upon the idea that teens are more likely to turn to inhalants in dry villages because the tightening of the alcohol supply ensures that alcohol smuggled into a village is consumed only by adults which, in turn, compels teens to turn to inhalants to get high. Although research has not established a specific link between teen inhalant use and residence in a dry village, surveys of teenagers from the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta (Angstman et al., 2007) and the Bering Strait (Zebrowski & Gregory, 1996) regions – both of which have a majority of villages that prohibit alcohol (Griffin, 2007) – found a prevalence of inhalant use that was substantially greater than that of teens in the general population.

Perhaps the "truest" forms of substitution in dry villages include the consumption of non-beverage alcohol as well as locally produced "homebrew." Use of these "surrogates" (McKee et al., 2005) is most common when the availability of beverage alcohol is limited. For example, in Anchorage, Alaska, the local liquor stores' well-intended campaign to end sales to chronic inebriates (Roberts, 2004) led many to turn to mouthwash for a source of intoxication (Shinohara, 2005) which, in turn, has led to many other problems (Hopkins, 2008). Likewise,

near the Navajo Nation in McKinley County, New Mexico, hair spray has become an inexpensive alternative to beverage alcohol that is used most often on Sundays when package liquor sales are forbidden (Linthicum, 2002). Homebrew is apparently the most problematic surrogate in the Alaska Native villages that prohibit alcohol. According to Alaska State Troopers' investigators interviewed for the evaluation of the Alaska RAI Program, shipments to dry villages of homebrew precursors (i.e., sugar and yeast) are usually much larger than one would expect given normal household consumption of baked goods. The results of the RAI Program evaluation provide some evidence of the connection between prohibition and the local production of alcohol (Shively et al., 2008). According to Alaska State Trooper case file records, the proportion of the RAI Program caseload involving homebrew increased as the RAI Program matured and had increasing success with the interdiction of beverage alcohol. It appears that a greater proportion of the demand for alcohol in dry villages was being met by locally produced homebrew in order to offset the supply reduction made possible by the enhanced enforcement of the RAI Program (Shively et al., 2008).

Apart from substitution, another issue regarding the effectiveness of prohibition in Alaska is whether local regulations displace problems thereby masking the true effects of the policy. There are some signs that residents of dry villages might be at an elevated risk of alcohol-related violence when traveling to Alaska's larger cities. A clear estimate of the extent of this risk is unknown, but data showing that 1 out of every 15 sexual assaults reported to the police in Anchorage in 2000 and 2001 was against a non-resident victim (Rosay & Langworthy, 2003) serves to raise questions about the likelihood of alcohol-related violence against residents of dry villages. Further indication of the possibility of displacement is the short-term increases in alcohol sales and sexual assault against Alaska Native women in downtown Anchorage that have occurred during past weeklong annual conferences of the Alaska Federation of Natives (National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, 2003). The effect of banishment of undesirable residents from dry villages is an additional potential source of displacement that could confound the effects of local prohibition in Alaska Native villages. A number of villages still practice what is called "blue-ticketing" to get rid of troublemakers (Justice Center, 1996; Toomey, 2003), many of whom end up on the street in cities such as Anchorage (Hobfoll, Kelso, & Peterson, 1980). Given that many of these individuals suffer from extreme problems of alcoholism (Segal, 1991), it could be difficult to separate the effects of banishment from the effects of local

prohibition when trying to understand the effects of the latter upon alcohol-related problems in dry villages.

While the reasons for the effectiveness of prohibition in Alaska are obvious, understanding why American Indian reservations in the Lower-48 that are dry have been found to have more problems with alcohol compared to wet reservations requires some explanation. Essentially, the problem is that prohibition does not reduce the availability of alcohol but it does create a style of drinking that increases the chances of harm. With roads connecting dry reservations to the outside world, prohibition does little to stem the flow of alcohol because off-reservation stores and bootleggers make it readily available. However, because the alcohol that makes it to a dry reservation is illegal, drinkers are said to consume it quickly so as to reduce the risk of being caught with it in their possession. Hayner, more than 65 years ago, told us about the American Indian leader who said that the rapid consumption of alcohol on reservations to avoid confiscation and arrest was because "the boys figure they can't take it away if it's inside" (1942, p. 603). This style of consumption, which was said to be related to higher alcohol-related injury and arrest rates (Dozier, 1966; Stewart, 1964), was much more common among American Indians who were drinking on-reservation. For instance, Levy and Kunitz (1974) drew some interesting distinctions between the drinking patterns of Navajos who resided on the reservation and the drinking patterns of Navajos who lived in Flagstaff, Arizona. They characterized on-reservation drinking as being a peer group activity generally involving the consumption of fortified wine which involved bottles being passed from drinker to drinker until the supply was depleted and/or drunkenness was achieved. The typical pattern of drinking of Navajos living in Flagstaff was said to be more like that of blue-collar Anglos who would buy a six-pack of beer on the way home from work and drink it while watching television before going to sleep to be ready for the next working day (Levy & Kunitz, 1974).

Although border town mayhem continues in some locations (Florio, 2002) and the American Indian drinking pattern is still best characterized as low frequency/high quantity (May & Gossage, 2001), it is unclear just how much has changed in terms of the effects of local prohibition upon alcohol-related problems on American Indian reservations. Most of the research from the lower-48 is about two decades old and a number of changes in the interim indicate a need for updated study of the subject. One important change is that fewer tribes prohibit alcohol today than they did in the past. According to Kovas et al. (2008), 60 tribes

legalized alcohol between 1991 and 2006 including 48 tribes that now permit on-reservation sales. With these changes, there are numerous natural "experiments" that could be conducted to determine what effect legalization has had upon alcohol-related problems.

Of course, quasi-experimental considerations of changes in prohibition policy should take into account other structural changes that have taken place in Indian Country over the past quarter-century. For one, urban sprawl has encroached some reservations formerly more isolated from metropolitan areas and influences (Center of the American West, 2005). The growth of casino gaming, another major development that has impacted many tribes, also has the potential for confounding studies of tribal alcohol policies. Although research has shown that casinos generally have a positive economic benefit for tribes (Anderson, 2009; Conner & Taggart, 2009; Costello, Compton, Keeler, & Angold, 2003; Kim, 2006) with unclear impacts on crime (cf., Mays, Casillas, & Maupin, 2006; Thompson, Gazel, & Rickman, 1996), the effects of casinos on patterns of American Indian substance use appears to be fertile ground for further study. Newspaper accounts have pointed to a rise in drug use on some reservations that resulted from the influx of cash that came with casino operations (e.g., Kershaw, 2006), but there is little empirical evidence of such increases. Similarly, there is little evidence either way of the impact of casinos on drinking behavior. As casinos develop into all-inclusive Las Vegas-style resorts that include a variety of on-premise alcohol services (e.g., cocktail lounges, dance clubs, sports pubs, complimentary drinks while gaming), it is just as possible that tribal members' drinking habits will moderate because of new outlets for more normative styles of consumption as it is that tribal members will be influenced by casino guests' "what happens in Vegas stays in Vegas" style of time-out debauchery.

Aside from the effects of policy developments and structural changes, there are indications that the nature of American Indian drinking has evolved since the effects of prohibition were last tested. The extent to which drinking on dry reservations can still be characterized as a peer group activity geared toward intoxication is questionable. There are indications that drinking styles have moderated in conjunction with other recent changes in the lives of American Indians. For instance, in summing up 30 years of research on Navajo drinking by Levy and Kunitz, Henderson (2000) points to changes in drinking behaviors and attitudes toward drinking that have come about with the integration of the Navajo population into the off-reservation world. Compared with the late-1960s when Levy and Kunitz began their studies,

contemporary Navajos are much more likely to live in border towns and to have "considerable social involvement" with non-Indians in the course of education, military service, employment, and leisure which has, in turn, shaped Navajo drinking (Henderson, 2000, p. 52). One aspect of this change is the type of alcoholic beverages consumed. According to Henderson (2000), Navajo consumption of fortified wine has declined over the years while beer has become the beverage of choice.

A concomitant transformation is the developing connection of American Indian youth to the larger "adolescent culture" in the U.S. that has been fostered by mass media influences and off-reservation interactions (Beauvais et al., 2004, p. 498). With this development, peers rather than adult relatives have become the group American Indian youth learn about drinking. For example, Henderson (2000) has shown that Navajos were more likely to have taken their first drink with friends, classmates, and cousins in the 1980s whereas in the 1950s it was most common for Navajos to have their first drink with an older relative. One result of this change is that the effect of the youth culture on drinking has blurred cultural differences that were once useful for understanding the inter-tribal variations in drug and alcohol use behaviors (Spicer, Novins, Mitchell, & Beals, 2003). While the extent to which changes in drinking styles would mediate the effects of prohibition is unclear, reconsideration is warranted given that nearly a generation has passed since the policy was last examined.

# OTHER CRIMINAL JUSTICE RESPONSES TO SUBSTANCE ABUSE RELATED CRIME

Although we have some understanding of the effects of tribal and village legal regulations regarding alcohol, less is known about the impact of other criminal justice responses to harm associated with substance use and abuse. As with most other programs outside of AI/AN communities, the effectiveness of criminal justice initiatives aimed at reducing the drug and alcohol related crime that affects reservations and Alaska Native villages is largely unknown. Most programs are unevaluated and, with rare exceptions, those that have had their effects considered have not been fruitful. Likewise, we have little understanding about the effects of Indian Country criminal justice policy (e.g., Public Law 280 or cross-deputization) upon crime associated with drugs and alcohol.

The lack of impact evaluations of programs designed to deal with substance abuse related crime in AI/AN communities is not surprising given the paucity of evaluation generally found in the criminal justice system. Evaluation in the criminal justice system is rare; rigorous

examination of the effects of specific programs is even less frequent. A series of reports recently published by the U.S. General Accounting Office were extremely critical of evaluations of programs sponsored by the myriad agencies of the U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ). According to a summary by the National Research Council (2005), the large majority of evaluations of the DOJ sponsored initiatives suffered from (1) questionable representativeness in terms of sites receiving the program or the populations served, (2) a lack of controls for spurious effects, and (3) missing, invalid, and/or unreliable outcome measures for assessing program effects.

There are a number of additional factors underlying the lack of robust evaluations of criminal justice programs (or other social services) implemented in AI/AN communities. First, measuring outcomes, particularly at the community level, is problematic. Recordkeeping difficulties experienced by police serving American Indian (Nichols, Litchfield, Holappa, & Van Stelle, 2002; Wakeling, Jorgensen, Michaelsen, & Begay, 2001) and Alaska Native (Marenin, 1992; Wood, 2004, 2008) communities often impede consideration of effects of programs upon violent crime and other forms of disorder. Another problem is that local program providers are often reluctant to have their programs evaluated because of their belief they already know what works in their community which makes any evaluation pointless (Gone & Alcántara, 2007). According to Bubar and Jumper-Thurman (2004), the value of evaluation is also questioned by some AI/AN officials who see research as a frivolous luxury when basic programs such as those serving battered women go unfunded. When these problems are added to all the other impediments to conducting valid evaluations in AI/AN communities – including past researcher "malpractice" (Norton & Manson, 1996) and a commonly held feeling of being "researched to death" (Tom-Orme, 2006) – it is little wonder there is a paucity of published research on the subject. Literature reviews point to similar problems with evaluation research on youth substance abuse prevention (Hawkins, Cummins, & Marlatt, 2004), community-based substance abuse treatment (Jiwa, Kelly, & Pierre-Hansen, 2008), and general mental health treatment (Gone & Alcántara, 2007) programs in AI/AN communities. A pair of recently released evaluations of programs aimed at dealing with substance abuse related crime in AI/AN communities are representative of the difficulties described above.

The first study of this sort is the participatory evaluation of the Sisseton Wahepton Oyate (SWO) Indian Alcohol Substance Abuse Program (IASAP) Demonstration Project (Joe, Chong, et al., 2008). Prompted by the alcohol-involved motor vehicle deaths of eight young adults over

a two week period, the SWO IASAP was funded by BJA to hire additional personnel (including a police officer, a probation officer, and a drug and alcohol counselor) and to establish enhanced agency coordination and cooperation. For a number of reasons, the evaluation findings allow for few summative conclusions to be drawn about the effectiveness of the SWO IASAP. First of all, as is the case for many BJA funded initiatives, the evaluation was conducted *ex post facto* without pre-existing metrics built into the intervention (Joe, Chong, et al., 2008). As a result, evaluators were required to piece together secondary measures to determine if the project met its goals. Unfortunately, this led to the second problem, namely that evaluators were unable to obtain complete outcome measures because of the "checkerboard" nature of the SWO's Lake Traverse Reservation and its interspersal of tribal, federal, state, and county criminal jurisdictions (Joe, Chong, et al., 2008). The evaluation was also hampered by a relatively low base rate on one of the key outcomes of interest: the drunk driving death rate. As the evaluators point out, it is not necessarily a sign of success that only a single drunk driving death occurred post-implementation because a decline from the extreme pre-implementation drunk driving death rates was bound to happen even without the SWO IASAP (Joe, Chong, et al., 2008).

Another evaluation with similar difficulties considered the Lummi Nation's Community Mobilization Against Drugs (CMAD) initiative. Beginning in 2003, CMAD was developed to reduce substance abuse, addiction, and drug trafficking (Joe, Hassin, et al., 2008). Toward that end, a laundry list of measures was put in place including implementation of drug testing of tribal employees, establishment of an adult drug court, adoption of banishment as punishment for convicted drug dealers, enactment of a zero-tolerance substance use policy in tribal schools, operation of a youth drug treatment center and family wellness program, and enhancement of law enforcement capabilities including the hiring of a narcotics detective by the tribal police (Joe, Hassin, et al., 2008). In addition to the difficulties faced in the SWO IASAP study (ex post facto evaluation using spotty secondary data sources in a jurisdiction with a relatively small population), the CMAD evaluation raised other problems often seen in similar research. One problem is that it is difficult to study the initiative from a quasi-experimental 'pre-test/post-test' standpoint because the initiative wasn't implemented at a specific point in time. Even though the initiative began in 2003, it was at least a couple of years before the entire myriad of measures was put in place (Joe, Hassin, et al., 2008). There is the possibility of premature false negative conclusions to be drawn under these circumstances because the evaluation considered the effects

of CMAD when it was in its infancy rather than examining its effects as a mature, fully developed set of programs. Another issue raised in the CMAD study that impacts evaluations conducted in AI/AN communities is that political considerations can have an especially strong influence upon research. For example, during the course of the evaluation the research team was required to deal with a change in tribal leadership to insure the continuity of the study (Joe, Hassin, et al., 2008). Interestingly, during a focus group, the CMAD evaluators received confirmation from a political leader to what many researchers have feared about the views of some tribal authorities toward evaluation: "a frank statement from one policy maker was that 'I don't like evaluations. I run from evaluations. That's what a politician does" (Joe, Hassin, et al., 2008, p. 64). In the often contentious realm of tribal politics, such an attitude could be expected.

In some regards, it shouldn't be too surprising that we lack a clear understanding of the effects of the many initiatives against drug and alcohol related crime in AI/AN communities. There is much about the effects of regular day-to-day policing policy in Indian Country and Alaska Native villages that remains an open, empirical question. For the most part, we have little idea about the effects of policy variations upon crime associated with substance abuse in AI/AN communities. As examples, it is unclear if either Public Law 280 (PL-280) or the policy of cross-deputization have an impact upon alcohol and drug related crime. Ultimately, research on these policies will provide us with insights into the limits of law enforcement in the fight against substance abuse in AI/AN communities.

Passed in 1953, PL-280 transferred criminal jurisdiction from federal to state authority in six states thereby granting responsibility over policing reservations to local sheriffs and state patrols (Jimenez & Song, 1998). Testing the effect of PL-280 upon the incidence of crime associated with substance abuse would allow for an understanding of differences in the effect of tribal versus non-tribal responsibility for policing. A survey of residents and police of both PL-280 and non-PL-280 reservations conducted by Goldberg, Valdez Singleton, and Champagne (2007) provides some interesting insights into respondents' perceptions of issues of policing substance abuse related crime. When questioned about the most serious 'law and order problem' facing their reservations, roughly seven-in-ten respondents pointed to alcohol abuse, drug

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Tests of the effects of the CMAD initiative were further problematized by a lack of pre-2003 data on the most robust measures used in the evaluation including police records traffic fatalities, traffic crashes, DWI arrests or health clinic records of visits for alcohol and drug related diagnoses (Joe, Hassin, et al., 2008)

offenses, and domestic violence with no differences along the lines of PL-280 status (Goldberg et al., 2007). However, there were differences in respondents' perceptions of the extent to which the police focus upon those offenses. Specifically, 35 percent of PL-280 reservation residents thought that county police focus on drug offenses, alcohol abuse, and domestic violence which was somewhat less than the 44 percent of non-PL-280 reservation residents who thought that the tribal police had a similar focus (Goldberg et al., 2007). Largely due to difficulties in securing reliable data, no empirical research has been conducted to determine if the jurisdictional differences brought about by PL-280 make reservation residents any more susceptible to offenses associated with drug or alcohol use.

Cross-deputization is another policing policy with a possible impact upon substance abuse related crime that has yet to be given due empirical consideration. Useful for dealing with the jurisdictional quagmire in Indian Country, 15 cross-deputization involves the creation of formal, government-to-government agreements that allow for tribal enforcement of state laws and/or state enforcement of tribal laws (American Indian Development Associates, 2002). Tribes have found it particularly useful for responding to criminal acts committed on their reservations by non-Indians (Barker & Mullen, 1993). According to a 2002 census of tribal justice agencies conducted by BJS, cross-deputization is a fairly common practice; of the 165 lower-48 tribes served by tribal police, 101 (62%) reported being empowered to arrest non-Indians on reservation (Perry, 2005).

More recently, cross-deputization has been enacted to deal with the alcohol-related carnage occurring in the Pine Ridge Reservation bordertown of Whiteclay, Nebraska. In 2005 the Nebraska Attorney General authorized the Pine Ridge Oglala Sioux Tribal Police to deal with tribe members who get in trouble when traveling from their dry reservation to Whiteclay for the purpose of becoming intoxicated (Walker, 2005). Federal funds were also made available to the tribal police to support their efforts. At the time it was hoped that the policy would help alleviate many of the problems, but a recent newspaper story indicates that little has changed in Whiteclay (Stoddard, 2009).

There are a few noteworthy instances of drug trafficking occurring on reservations where tribes lack arrest powers over non-Indians. For instance, the Yakima Nation in Washington has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> A primary impetus for cross-deputization is decision in *Oliphant v. Squamish Indian Tribe* (435 U.S. 191 [1978]) in which the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that tribes did not have criminal jurisdiction over non-Indians who committed crimes on Indian reservations.

become a hotspot for marijuana cultivation by non-tribal members (Associated Press, 2007). A more notorious case involves the spread of the Mexican-national Sagaste-Cruz drug gang operating from Ogden, Utah into Indian Country. What makes this case interesting is that, according to a business plan discovered by investigators, the gang specifically targeted Indian reservations for its methamphetamine trafficking because, in part, of the difficulties tribal police have in dealing with non-Indians (Farquhar, 2005). Before it was broken up, the Sagaste-Cruz gang was successful in establishing distribution networks in previously untapped markets on reservations in two states – South Dakota and Wyoming – that do not have cross-deputization agreements allowing the arrest of non-Indians by tribal police (*Colyer v. State of Wyoming Department of Transportation*, 2009 [203 P.3d 1104]; Perry, 2005; Riverton City Council, 2000). Although there were other reasons why the Sagaste-Cruz gang targeted reservations in those two states, one wonders if the gang might not have been as successful if the tribal police had the authority to deal with gang members at a point in time before their network was so well entrenched.

Aside from questions about the effects of broad initiatives or specific policies, at a very basic level we might also wonder how much of a priority dealing with drug and alcohol abuse is for the police serving Indian Country and Alaska Native villages. <sup>16</sup> There are a few indications that it is an important issue for the police, but it is difficult to know if that level of concern is commiserate with the harm substance use brings to AI/AN communities. In the one survey that asked police about their main concerns, roughly three-quarters of the officers interviewed by Goldberg et al. (2007) felt that the combination of alcohol abuse, drug offenses, and domestic violence was the most serious law and order problem facing the reservations they serve. Another way to gauge the extent to which dealing with substance abuse is a priority to police in AI/AN communities is to consider the actual functions they fulfill. According to an analysis conducted by Wells and Falcone (2008), a sizable proportion of the 160 tribal police agencies responding to the 2000 Census of State and Local Law Enforcement Agencies were not involved with drug enforcement. Tribal police (78.8%) were much less likely than county sheriffs (93.8%) or municipal police (90.6%) to declare drug law enforcement as one of their functions. Participation in multiagency drug task forces was also much less amongst tribal police (40.4%) than for county sheriffs (77.1%) or for municipal police (50.7%) (Wells & Falcone, 2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> This question was raised in a personal communication with Fred Beauvais.

Rather than indifference about the issue, these results are most likely a reflection of the lack of specialization generally found in small size police organizations such as tribal police agencies. Nonetheless, they do indicate that drug law enforcement on Indian reservations may not be on par with that found in most other locations.

## CHAPTER 5: PROMISING RESEARCH APPROACHES

Obviously, the previous chapter raises more questions than answers when it comes to understanding criminal justice policy and its effect on crime associated with substance abuse amongst American Indians and Alaska Natives. There are, however, a number of research approaches that have the potential for narrowing the knowledge gap. These approaches include conducting community trials, assessing community readiness, considering local non-AI/AN substance use patterns when studying those of AI/ANs communities, and employing specific methodological techniques such as oversampling, measuring outcomes with public health records, and using individual level surveys to examine community level policies. Each of these approaches is considered below.

## **COMMUNITY TRIALS**

Community trials are a recent approach to the examination of the effectiveness of local environmental interventions<sup>17</sup> upon the harms associated with alcohol and drug abuse. The three hallmarks of the community trials that have been conducted over the past 20 years include (1) quasi-experimental research designs, (2) multiple outcome measures, and (3) the use of multiple interventions. Project Northland, a Minnesotan study aimed at reducing the likelihood of initiation of alcohol use, is typical in its combination of community-wide policy changes, parental involvement, youth peer leadership training, and school-based skills education (Wagenaar & Perry, 1994). Community trials employ multiple interventions aimed at disrupting the complex, interconnected systems (e.g. legal, social, retail, economic systems) within a community that influence problematic alcohol use in order to bring about changes that are not possible when single interventions are employed (Holder, 1998; Kibel & Holder, 2003). The Project Northland interventions were employed in 14 public schools which received project 'treatments' and another 10 other public schools that served as controls. This quasi-experimental design helps to enhance the internal validity of the study by helping to rule out many confounding influences. Students, parents, community leaders, and alcohol merchants were all surveyed in pre-test/post-test fashion to measure the changes brought about by Project Northland (Wagenaar & Perry, 1994). Multiple measures are used in community trials to account for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In the public health field, environmental interventions are those directed toward all other aspects of the disease except the host (i.e., the patient) or the agent (i.e., the problematic substance).

effects of the multiple interventions and to reduce the likelihood of Type II errors (i.e., "false negative" findings of no effect when there is really is an effect).

The interventions employed in community trials come from multiple sources. In some studies, such as Project Northwood, interventions are theoretically and empirically based and are introduced by researchers with little local input (Wagenaar & Perry, 1994). In other studies, as was the case in the Robert Wood Johnson Foundation's Fighting Back program, communities were mobilized to develop their own interventions geared toward achieving program goals (Hingson et al., 2005). A mixture of these two approaches has been used in trials conducted in neighborhoods in Sacramento, California (Treno, Gruenewald, Lee, & Remer, 2007) and in trials conducted across communities from northern California, southern California, and South Carolina (Holder et al., 2000) whereby aspects of community mobilization were combined with proven interventions all to reduce the incidence of injuries from alcohol-related assault and motor vehicle crashes.

The community trials approach is, perhaps, a remedy for the problems that plague the NIJ funded ex post facto evaluations of the BJA sponsored programs considered in the previous chapter of this report. With community trials, the researchers and communities are partners from the very beginning of a project. These relationships enhance the likelihood that a study will provide robust findings because they are based on valid and reliable measures that include pre-tests of program effects and because they consider outcomes in control communities to deal with potential confounding influences. It is an approach that has proven useful in AI/AN communities; for instance, Project Northwood was partly implemented in a few schools with sizeable Ojibwa student populations (Wagenaar & Perry, 1994). More recently, the community trials approach has been used to study school-based and community developed interventions aimed at reducing the use of inhalants and other 'harmful legal products' in hub communities located across Alaska - including those with substantial Alaska Native populations - in the Alaska Harmful Legal Products Prevention Study (Alaska HLP) (Johnson et al., 2007). Community trials have the potential for providing meaningful research results while, at the same time, allowing for community participation in the design and execution of initiatives and their evaluation.

#### **COMMUNITY READINESS**

Community interventions – including those aimed a preventing drug and alcohol related crime among AI/ANs – are feasible only to the extent that communities are capable of their implementation. Much like it is for drug or alcohol addicted individuals (Connors, Donovan, & DiClemente, 2004), successful community interventions are predicated upon readiness for change. Unfortunately, it is usually the case that the communities most in need of interventions are generally those that are least able to enact the necessary changes (Crawford, 1999; Skogan, 1990). The answer to this dilemma is for interventions to be catered to community capabilities.

The Community Readiness Model (CRM), a tool developed by Colorado State University's Tri-Ethnic Center for Prevention Research, allows for an assessment of community readiness for prevention initiatives (Oetting et al., 1995). Using semi-structured interviews with key local informants, the CRM measures a community on a scale ranging from a lack of awareness of a problem to complete community ownership of the problem (Jumper-Thurman, Vernon, & Plested, 2007). In doing so, the CRM serves two purposes. First, it establishes the point from which communities must be mobilized to begin prevention efforts. Second, the CRM serves as a post-test when measured after implementation to gauge the amount of community capacity built during prevention programming. For example, the Alaska HLP study employed CRM to cater mobilization efforts to each of its four participating communities and then measured community readiness at the end of the study to determine how much more able communities were to tackle prevention efforts (Ogilvie et al., 2008).

An important lesson to be drawn from the CRM is that change in readiness is possible and that communities seemingly beyond hope can build the capacity to prevent drug and alcohol related problems. Communities at lower levels of readiness can parlay smaller victories into larger triumphs as their capabilities increase; in some regards, changes in community readiness follow the adage that 'nothing breeds success like success.' An obvious example of this point is the experience of the Alkali Lake band of Shuswap of British Columbia, Canada who, as a community, went from universal alcoholism to near total sobriety. Dramatized in the 1985 film *The Honour of All* (Lucas, 1985), the story of Alkali Lake follows their transformation starting with one woman who decided to quit drinking and ending with the band being held as a model for indigenous communities across North America. A key early step in the process was what Bopp, Bopp, and Lane (1998) refer to as the creation of a "safe place" within Alkali Lake that (1)

allowed a small but steadily growing core group of residents to support one another in their sobriety efforts and that (2) served as a model for other community members who wanted to deal with their addiction. It was upon this foundation that the many other efforts at Alkali Lake – banning bootleggers, reviving traditional ceremonies, threatening criminal justice system processing to encourage in-patient treatment, establishing education and job training programs – were possible (Guillory, Willie, & Duran, 1988). Although Alkali Lake is unique in its culture, history, and location, it serves as an inspiration for all communities (AI/AN and non-AI/AN alike) because it started at the lowest levels of "readiness" and developed its own capacities to eventually defeat its addiction.

#### CONSIDERING SUBSTANCE ABUSE IN THE LOCAL NON-AI/AN POPULATION

Another key point to consider regarding substance abuse in AI/AN communities is that AI/AN drinking and drug use patterns are often a reflection of what is found in the general population of a given locale. This is important for a couple of reasons. First, it may be an indication that the factors underlying crime related to AI/AN substance abuse are a function of something other than the socio-economic and historical legacies of colonization. It is also important because preventative efforts specifically aimed at AI/AN communities without dealing with the larger alcohol environment might be fruitless. For some AI/AN communities, reductions in substance abuse require changes by their neighbors beyond reservation borders.

A comparative consideration of alcohol use at more of a local level often reveals similarities between AI/AN drinking and that of their non-AI/AN neighbors. For instance, early research by Levy and Kunitz (1974) found that Navajos who lived off reservation in Flagstaff, Arizona drank more like blue collar Anglos than like reservation resident Navajos. Problems with alcohol appear to be especially acute in two states in particular – Alaska and New Mexico – regardless of race. Of all the locations participating in the ADAM program, Alaskan and New Mexican arrestees were the most likely to report binge drinking and to be at risk for alcohol dependency (Zhang, 2004). Although these two states have relatively large AI/AN populations, there is reason to believe that the high rates of arrestee problem drinking is not a function of AI/AN alcohol use alone because of similarities in the patterns of alcohol use for AI/ANs and non-AI/ANs in those states. For instance, the BRFSS conducted Alaska and New Mexico each indicate no differences in adult alcohol use in terms of the prevalence of AI/AN and non-AI/AN binge drinking or of heavy drinking (Honey, Murphy, Roeber, & Brady, 2008; Wells, 2008).

Given the similarities in rates of problem drinking, the issue becomes less about wondering if the alcohol problems in Alaska or New Mexico are so pronounced because of their relatively large AI/AN populations and more about the possibility that the alcohol problems of AI/ANs residing in Alaska or New Mexico a function of the larger culture of those two states.

In a number of studies, the factors underlying substance use are similar for AI/ANs and for their non-AI/AN neighbors. For instance, a report on the socioeconomic effects of oil exploration on the Alaskan North Slope discussing the similarities of non-Iñupiat transients' and Iñupiat substance use noted "the general character of alcohol use is quite similar" in that frustrations over isolation, a lack of recreation, inter-cultural conflicts and other personal problems were dealt with, often problematically, by both groups (Worl Associates, 1978, p. 142). Likewise, survey research focused on samples combining American Indian and Anglo adolescents has shown that they have similar rationales for alcohol and drug use (Binion, Miller, Beauvais, & Oetting, 1988) and that factors such as peer influences (Oetting, Swaim, Edwards, & Beauvais, 1989) and dropping out of school (Swaim, Beauvais, Chavez, & Oetting, 1997) have much greater influences upon drug and alcohol use relative to race. As AI/AN adolescents become more enmeshed in the larger American youth culture (Beauvais et al., 2004) we might expect to see further similarities in the etiology of AI/AN and non-AI/AN substance abuse.

The idea that alcohol and drug related criminal behavior in AI/AN communities stems from common roots is of consequence from the standpoint of prevention. For some AI/AN communities, reductions in substance abuse require changes by their neighbors beyond reservation borders. In this regard, the transformation that took place in Gallup, New Mexico is informative. Located to the east of the 'dry' Navajo Nation, Gallup had long been notorious as "Drunk Town" due to extreme levels of alcohol abuse. For example, in the 1970s McKinley County (where Gallup is located) had alcohol-related traffic fatality rates 7 times the national average and the rate of chronic alcoholism was estimated to be 19 times that found in the U.S. as a whole (Daw & Mosher, 1995). During the 1980s the Gallup police department recorded more than 35,000 admissions of public inebriates annually (Guthrie, 1999) and at one point in the late 1970s, McKinley County was ranked as having the highest level of alcohol related mortality in all of the U.S. (Ellis, 2003).

Beginning in 1989, a coalition of McKinley County residents developed and implemented numerous initiatives that brought about a substantial decline in the problems

associated with alcohol abuse by the mid 1990s. A convergence of forces served to mobilize the community into action. First came a series of articles in the *Albuquerque Tribune* in late 1988 that brought national attention to the problem (and led to features on the *Today Show*, 20/20, and the *MacNeil/Lehrer Newshour*). Shortly thereafter, a tragic alcohol-involved head-on car crash resulting in the deaths of 5 including a Navajo family of 4 and the Anglo drunk driver sparked "The March of Hope" involving over 2000 participants who marched 200 miles from Gallup to the state capitol in Santa Fe to present the governor with a package of reforms (Daw & Mosher, 1995). In due course, a number of changes were instituted in McKinley County including closing drive-up liquor window sales, passing a local alcohol excise tax, reinstating a ban on Sunday alcohol sales, requiring alcohol server training, closing nuisance bars, and replacing Gallup's drunk tank with a protective custody/substance abuse treatment center that provides a continuum of care (Ellis, 2003). By 1997, most of the indicators of alcohol abuse in Gallup had been cut in half (Ellis, 1999).

An important facet of the developments in Gallup is that they were based upon a broad based coalition of American Indians, Hispanics, and Anglos. Some argue that what set the initiatives of the 1990s apart from earlier efforts is that alcohol abuse came to be seen as a problem that afflicted the entire community rather than just being the "Gallup Indian problem". Politically, the multi-cultural coalition was important because it sent a signal to state lawmakers that the safety of all New Mexicans was threatened by alcohol abuse which made the legislative reforms requested by the coalition somewhat more palatable (Daw & Mosher, 1995). The multi-cultural coalition had the additional benefit of insuring the participation of members of each cultural group. It gave local Hispanics and Anglos who had a stake in the liquor trade some say in the process. Furthermore, area tribes didn't feel singled out as the sole focus of the interventions but rather that they were an important part of a much larger effort to prevent alcohol abuse (Ellis, 2003). Ultimately, this approach was fruitful and turned Gallup and McKinley County into something of a model for alcohol abuse prevention.

## SPECIFIC USEFUL METHODOLOGICAL TECHNIQUES

The study of crime and substance abuse in AI/AN communities is challenging. With the lack of reliable data, low outcome base rates in small populations, distrust toward researchers, and a politically sensitive topic, it is a wonder that much methodologically rigorous research has been published at all. As seen in a few of the studies considered above, there are a number of

specific useful methodological techniques that have the potential to enhance the validity of research findings in this area. These include (1) oversampling AI/ANs in larger studies, (2) measuring outcomes with public health records, and (3) examining community-level policies with the results from individual level surveys.

The first technique – oversampling – involves the selection from the population of many more sampling elements of a given strata than would be needed to approximate representativeness so that the results from that strata are statistically meaningful. It is a technique that has been used in surveys of the general population to insure that enough racial or ethnic minorities are interviewed to allow for their responses to be compared with the responses of the majority population. For instance, in their drug and alcohol use survey of Washington state adults by Akins et al. (2003), 16 percent of their sample of 7,000 respondents was AI/AN even though they comprise less than 2 percent of the state's residents. This oversample provided the statistical power to draw some interesting comparisons of drug and alcohol use across Washington's racial and ethnic spectrum.

Oversampling is also indicated when interested in portions of the population normally missed when multi-stage sampling techniques are employed. This was the approach used in the Canadian General Social Survey to obtain reliable estimates of victimization in the Aboriginal communities of Canada's isolated, sparsely populated northern territories (de Léséleuc & Brzozowski, 2006). The results of that survey showed just how much more violent the Canadian north is relative to the remainder of the country because it was able to rule out the confounding influence of differential reporting rates that call police statistics into question.

The second methodological technique that has proven fruitful in many of the studies considered above is the use of public health records to measure program and policy outcomes. There are a few different reasons why death certificate records and/or injury surveillance systems are an attractive alternative to police records when studying violence associated with substance abuse in AI/AN communities. First, with measures of violence based on medical records are less likely to be biased by the underreporting that is endemic to police statistics in general. Furthermore, considering the difficulties police agencies in Indian country have with recordkeeping, public health measures of violence are a preferred substitute data because they generally are much more reliable (Wood, 2009). As such, there is good reason why we know so much more about the effects of local alcohol prohibition compared to other policies: those

studies were able to use public health data to consider policy impacts. Public health records can also be of benefit for studying the effects of interdiction efforts as was done in the evaluation of the Lummi CMAD in which trends in clinic visits for drug dependency and abuse were followed (Joe, Hassin, et al., 2008).

One of the more underutilized methodological techniques that holds promise for studying substance abuse and the crime associated with it is to study the effects of community level policies using the results of individual level surveys. This was the approach taken by Bellamy (1984) who conducted secondary data analyses of a survey by Beauvais et al. (1985) to compare the drinking behaviors of youth residing on wet and dry reservations. Otherwise, policies that would be expected to effect substance abuse related crime have not been considered in this fashion. Aside from studying the effects of alcohol prohibition, this technique could be used to consider the effects on violence of policies such as PL-280 reservations vs. tribal/federal jurisdiction reservations or tribes with cross-deputization agreements vs. tribes without agreements. The data from a multi-tribal study such as the AI-SUPERPFP which measured drug and alcohol abuse as well as victimization (Beals et al., 2003) might go a long way to understanding those policies' effects.

There are a couple of ways that individual survey responses could be connected to reservation policies so as to better understand both. The first, and perhaps the easiest, would be to build these comparisons into proposed surveys and choose tribes accordingly. A second way would be to follow Bellamy's (1984) lead and use pre-existing data. This latter option would be limited by the restrictions of the original informed consent regarding the use of survey responses which could preclude any additional analyses. In either case, protocols would have to be developed to maintain the collective right of privacy among the tribes studied (Champagne & Goldberg, 2005; Kaufman & Ramarao, 2005).

### **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSIONS**

This report presents a summary and analysis of literature on alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities. It first considered the epidemiology of AI/AN alcohol and drug use, then examined the co-occurrence of, and association between, substance use and crime in AI/AN communities, and finally took a look at the effects of programs, policies, and initiatives intended to alleviate the problem. The literature review presented above provides a fairly clear picture of the extent to which alcohol and drug related crime afflicts the AI/AN population. Although the problem is fairly well defined, preventive efforts have largely gone unevaluated which leaves us without an empirical basis for understanding what AI/ANs can do to reduce the incidence of alcohol and drug related crime in their communities.

This report began with an examination of the epidemiology of AI/AN alcohol and drug use. According to the majority of studies on the subject including nationwide surveys, the use and abuse of alcohol and drugs is more prevalent among AI/ANs than what is found in the general population. Alcohol consumption is marked by a pattern best characterized as "low frequency/high quantity" meaning that AI/ANs are less likely to drink but are more likely to consume potentially hazardous amounts per drinking occasion. Illicit drug use is also reported to occur at higher rates among AI/ANs compared with Americans in general.

The relationship between substance use and crime in AI/AN communities was then examined in Chapter 3. The research indicates that alcohol use is more likely to co occur with violent crime and more likely to be associated with violent crime among AI/ANs than among non AI/ANs. In terms of co occurrence, police statistics from Indian Country and Alaska Native villages point to high levels of alcohol involvement in violent offenses committed by AI/ANs. Victimization surveys conducted at national and at tribal levels also indicate that AI/AN victims of violent crimes are more likely than non AI/AN victims to have been victimized by a perpetrator who was under the influence of alcohol. Studies reporting measures of association provide fairly conclusive evidence that there is a correlation between alcohol use and crime or victimization among AI/ANs. Both bivariate and multivariate analyses indicate that AI/ANs who drink are more likely to be involved with violence either as a perpetrator or as a victim. However, due to methodological limitations involved with the study of substance use and violence, none of the studies considered establish alcohol or illicit drug use as a cause of crime among AI/ANs.

Empirical research on the responses to alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities is fairly limited. Local alcohol prohibition, the one policy that has received considerable attention, has been shown to be an effective response only under certain circumstances. Although it has largely been a failure for lower-48 tribes due to easy access to off-reservation alcohol retailers, local alcohol prohibition has proven to be an effective response to alcohol related crime in isolated Alaska Native villages that is limited only by bootlegging and by village residents' substitution of other intoxicants. Mainly a function of the daunting challenges to conducting summative evaluations in Indian country and Alaska Native villages, little empirical research has been published on the effects of policies, programs, or initiatives specifically aimed at preventing alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities.

The next to last chapter of this report suggests a number of research approaches that have the potential to allow for an empirical understanding of remedies to the high incidence of criminal behavior associated with substance abuse in many AI/AN communities. Some of these suggestions are more specifically methodological in nature and are aimed at improving sampling and measurement of outcomes. Other suggestions, such as conducting quasi-experimental, multiple-intervention community trials, mark a fundamental shift in the way that research on the topic is conducted. Evaluation that is built into programs and initiatives is much more likely than current approaches to help us understand what works in AI/AN communities.

In addition to the findings from the individual chapters of this report, a few particular points emerged across the entire report. Rather than being seen as empirical findings *per se*, these points are probably best thought of as guidance for those who design, conduct, and consume research on alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities.

The first point to be made is that even though many individual AI/ANs abuse alcohol and drugs and run afoul of the law when doing so, the large majority of AI/ANs lead healthy and productive lives without the ravages of substance abuse. What Hayner noted two-thirds of a century ago still applies today: "It should be clear, of course, that most Indians are peaceful, law-abiding citizens" (Hayner, 1942, p. 603). In a similar vein, it should be remembered that Anglos, Hispanics, and other non-AI/ANs also have their fair share of problems with substance abuse and crime and that in many places those problems are intertwined with those of the AI/AN population. As noted in the discussion of efforts to deal with alcohol abuse in Gallup, New Mexico, one of the keys to the coalition's success was that the problem was framed as an issue

that affected the health and safety of everyone in the community rather than just the area's American Indian population.

As with the variability among individual AI/ANs, there is a great deal of variation across American Indian and Alaska Native tribes in their aggregate levels of alcohol and drug related crime. In some places the rates of alcohol and drug related criminality among AI/ANs are especially acute while in other places those rates are virtually indistinguishable from what is found in the general population. Recognition of these variations is important because it reminds us of the geographic and cultural diversity of AI/ANs and that those differences in location and culture can have an impact upon patterns of substance abuse and crime.

A third important point that bears mention is that it is necessary to be realistic about the time it takes for programs and initiatives to have their desired effects. It was roughly a decade before either of the community success stories examined earlier – Gallup, New Mexico and Alkali Lake, British Columbia – began to see substantial improvements in their respective alcohol abuse problems. It is likely that evaluations that fail to find positive impacts might be prematurely testing community initiatives or innovative programs before they have built the capacity to actually effect individuals' alcohol and drug use behaviors. With this in mind, the evaluation results of the Lummi or the Sisseton Wahepton Oyate projects might be considered in a new light with the lack of demonstrable impact on alcohol and drug problems being seen as an indication that interventions have *not yet* had a positive impact.

Finally, it is important to point out that the relative lack of understanding of the effects of policies and programs directed against the problem of alcohol and drug related crime in AI/AN communities should not be taken to mean that there are no effective solutions to the problem. Although the research that has been conducted to this point provides very little evidence about what works, it is clear that AI/AN communities have found ways to deal with the problem on their own. As researchers who study the problems of substance abuse in AI/AN populations, our job is to continue to try to identify those effective initiatives so that other communities may learn about them and apply them to their own benefit.

# WORKS CITED

- Abril, J. C. (2003). *Results from the Southern Ute Indian Community Safety Survey*. Irvine, CA: School of Social Ecology, University of California Irvine. Retrieved from http://www.ncjrs.gov/pdffiles1/bjs/grants/212237.pdf.
- Akins, S., Mosher, C., Rotolo, T., & Griffin, R. (2003). Patterns and correlates of substance use among American Indians in Washington State. *Journal of Drug Issues*, *33*(1), 45-71.
- Alaska Department of Public Safety. (1980). The Village Public Safety Officer Program: A conceptual design to improve law enforcement and public safety in the rural areas of Alaska. Juneau, AK: Alaska Department of Public Safety.
- American Indian Development Associates. (2002). *Indian County law enforcement and the challenges of enforcing underage drinking laws*. Washington, DC: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- American Psychiatric Association (APA). (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, fourth edition*. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Anderson, R. J. (2009). Tribal casino impacts on American Indian household well-being. Presented at the Population Association of America, Detroit, MI.
- Angle, M. R., & Eade, N. R. (1975). *Gasoline sniffing and tetraethyl lead poisoning in a Northern Native community*. Ottawa, Ontario: Canadian Department of National Health and Welfare.
- Angstman, S., Patten, C. A., Renner, C. C., Simon, A., Thomas, J. L., Hurt, R. D., et al. (2007). Tobacco and other substance use among Alaska Native youth in western Alaska. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 31(3), 249-60.
- Associated Press. (2007, August 11). Raid yields 40,000 pot plants on reservation. Seattle Times.
- Bachman, J. G., Wallace, J. M., O'Malley, P. M., Johnston, L. D., Kurth, C. L., & Neighbors, H.
  W. (1991). Racial/Ethnic differences in smoking, drinking, and illicit drug use among
  American high school seniors, 1976-89. American Journal of Public Health, 81(3), 372-377.
- Bachman, R. (1991). The social causes of American Indian homicide as revealed by the life experiences of thirty offenders. *American Indian Quarterly*, 15(4), 469-492.
- Bachman, R. (1992). Death and violence on the reservation: Homicide, family violence, and suicide in American Indian populations. New York, NY: Auburn House.

- Bachman, R., & Schutt, R. K. (2007). *The practice of research in criminology and criminal justice* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Bachman, R., Zaykowski, H., Kallmyer, R., Poteyeva, M., & Lanier, C. (2008). Violence against American Indian and Alaska Native women and the criminal justice response: What is known. Newark, DE: Department of Sociology and Criminal Justice, University of Delaware.
- Back, W. D. (1981). The ineffectiveness of alcohol prohibition on the Navajo Indian Reservation. *Arizona State Law Journal*, *4*, 925-943.
- Barker, M. L., & Mullen, K. (1993). Cross-deputization in Indian Country. *Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management*, 16, 157-166.
- Barnes, G. M., Welte, J. W., & Hoffman, J. H. (2002). Relationship of alcohol use to delinquency and illicit drug use in adolescents: Gender, age, and racial/ethnic differences. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 32(1), 153-178.
- Barron, L., Oge, L. L., & Markovich, J. (1999). North American Indian Alliance mental health needs assessment report. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 8(3), 13-24.
- Beals, J., Piasecki, J., Nelson, S., Jones, M., Keane, E., Dauphinais, P., et al. (1997). Psychiatric disorder among American Indian adolescents: Prevalence in Northern Plains youth. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 36(9), 1252-1259.
- Beals, J., Spicer, P., Mitchell, C. M., Novins, D. K., Manson, S. M., Big Crow, C. K., et al. (2003). Racial disparities in alcohol use: comparison of two American Indian reservation populations with national data. *American Journal of Public Health*, *93*(10), 1683-1685.
- Bearinger, L. H., Pettingell, S., Resnick, M. D., Skay, C. L., Potthoff, S. J., & Eichhorn, J. (2005). Violence perpetration among urban American Indian youth: Can protection offset risk? *Archives of Pediatric and Adolescent Medicine*, 159(3), 270-277.
- Beauvais, F. (1996). Trends in drug use among American Indian students and dropouts, 1975 to 1994. *American Journal of Public Health*, 86(11), 1594-1598.
- Beauvais, F. (1991). Comparison of drug use rates for reservation Indian, non-reservation Indian and Anglo youth. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, *5*(1), 13-31.

- Beauvais, F., Jumper-Thurman, P., & Burnside, M. (2008). The changing patterns of drug use among American Indian students over the past 30 years. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 15(2), 15-24.
- Beauvais, F., Jumper-Thurman, P., Helm, H., Plested, B., & Burnside, M. (2004). Surveillance of drug use among American Indian adolescents: patterns over 25 years. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, *34*(6), 493-500.
- Beauvais, F., Oetting, E. R., & Edwards, R. W. (1985). Trends in drug use of Indian adolescents living on reservations: 1975-1983. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 11(3/4), 209-229.
- Beauvais, F., & Trimble, J. E. (2006). The effectiveness of alcohol and drug abuse prevention among American-Indian youth. In Z. Sloboda & W. J. Bukoski (Eds.), *Handbook of drug abuse prevention* (pp. 393-410). New York, NY: Springer.
- Bellamy, G. R. (1984). *Policy implications for adolescent deviance: The case of Indian alcohol prohibition*. Doctoral Dissertation, Johns Hopkins University.
- Beltrame, T., & McQueen, D. V. (1979). Urban and rural Indian drinking patterns: the special case of the Lumbee. *International Journal of the Addictions*, *14*(4), 533-48.
- Berman, M. D., & Hull, T. (2001). Alcohol control by referendum in northern Native communities: The Alaska local option law. *Arctic*, *54*(1), 77-83.
- Berman, M. D., & Hull, T. (1999). A historical sketch of the elections for local option control of alcoholic beverages in communities of Alaska. Anchorage, AK: University of Alaska Anchorage, Institute for Social and Economic Research.
- Berman, M. D., Hull, T., & May, P. A. (2000). Alcohol control and injury death in Alaska native communities: Wet, damp and dry under Alaska's local option law. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 61(2), 311-9.
- Binion, A., Miller, C. D., Beauvais, F., & Oetting, E. R. (1988). Rationales for the use of alcohol, marijuana, and other drugs by eighth-grade native American and Anglo youth. *The International Journal of the Addictions*, 23(1), 47-64.
- Blum, R. W., Harmon, B., Harris, L., Bergeisen, L., & Resnick, M. D. (1992). American Indian-Alaska Native youth health. *JAMA*, 267(12), 1637-1644.

- Bopp, M., Bopp, J., & Lane, P. (1998). The Alkali Lake community story. In *Community healing* and Aboriginal social security reform: A study prepared for the Assembly of First Nations Aboriginal Social Security Reform Strategic Initiative (pp. 135-148). Lethbridge, Alberta: Four Worlds Institute.
- Bowerman, R. J. (1997). Effect of a community-supported alcohol ban on prenatal alcohol and other substance abuse. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(8), 1378-1379.
- Bowman, J. D., Mala, T. A., Segal, B., & McKelvy, J. G. (1985). Recreational drug use by Alaska's youth: A report on secondary school students in two regions. In R. Fortune (Ed.), *Circumpolar Health 84: Proceedings of the Sixth International Symposium on Circumpolar Health* (pp. 348-351). Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press.
- Brick, J., & Carpenter, J. A. (2001). The identification of alcohol intoxication by police. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 25(6), 850-5.
- Brookings Institute. (1932). *Law and order on Indian reservations of the Northwest*. Survey of conditions of the Indians in the United States, Part 26. Hearings before a subcommittee of the Committee on Indian Affairs, United States Senate 72nd Congress.
- Bubar, R., & Jumper-Thurman, P. (2004). Violence against native women. *Social Justice*, 31(4), 70-86.
- Buchwald, D., Tomita, S., Hartman, S., Furman, R., Dudden, M., & Manson, S. (2000). Physical abuse of urban native Americans. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *15*(8), 562-564.
- Castor, M. L., Smyser, M. S., Taualii, M. M., Park, A. N., Lawson, S. A., & Forquera, R. A. (2006). A nationwide population-based study identifying health disparities between American Indians/Alaska Natives and the general populations living in select urban counties. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(8), 1478-1484.
- Center of the American West. (2005). Western futures: A look into the patterns of land use and future development in the American West. Boulder, CO: University of Colorado.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2008). Alcohol-attributable deaths and years of potential life lost among American Indians and Alaska Natives--United States, 2001-2005. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, 57(34), 938-41.
- Champagne, D., & Goldberg, C. E. (2005). Changing the subject: Individual versus collective interests in Indian Country research. *Wicazo Sa Review*, 20(1), 49-69.

- Chen, C. M., Yi, H., Falk, D. E., Stinson, F. S., Dawson, D. A., Grant, B. F., et al. (2006). Alcohol use and alcohol use disorders in the United States: Main findings from the 2001–2002 National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC). Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.
- Cherpitel, C. J. (2007). Alcohol and injuries: a review of international emergency room studies since 1995. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 26(2), 201-14.
- Chester, B., Mahalish, P., & Davis, J. (1999). Mental health needs assessment of off-reservation American Indian people in northern Arizona. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 8(3), 25-40.
- Chiu, A. Y., Perez, P. E., & Parker, R. N. (1997). Impact of banning alcohol on outpatient visits in Barrow, Alaska. *JAMA*, 278(21), 1775-1777.
- Cockerham, W. C. (1975). Drinking attitudes and practices among Wind River Reservation Indian youth. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, *36*(3), 321-326.
- Coggon, D., Barker, D., & Rose, G. (2003). *Epidemiology for the uninitiated* (5th ed.). London, UK: BMJ Books.
- Conner, T. W., & Taggart, W. A. (2009). The impact of gaming on the Indian nations in New Mexico. *Social Science Quarterly*, 90, 50-70.
- Connors, G. J., Donovan, D. M., & DiClemente, C. C. (2004). Substance abuse treatment and the stages of change. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Cornish, D. (1993). Theories of action in criminology: Learning theory and rational choice approaches. In R. V. G. Clarke & M. Felson (Eds.), *Routine activity and rational choice* (pp. 351-382). Piscataway, NJ: Transaction Publishers.
- Costello, E. J., Compton, S. N., Keeler, G., & Angold, A. (2003). Relationships between poverty and psychopathology: A natural experiment. *JAMA*, 290(15), 2023-2029.
- Crawford, A. (1999). *The Local governance of Crime: appeals to community and partnerships*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Currie, C., Gabhainn, S. N., Godeau, E., Roberts, C., Smith, R., Currie, D., et al. (2008). *Inequalities in young people's health*. Copenhagen, Denmark: World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe.
- Davidson, P. (2001). Legislative audit of Council on Domestic Violence and Sexual Assault batterer intervention programs. Juneau, AK: Alaska State Legislature.

- Daw, R., & Mosher, H. (1995). The bridges of McKinley County: building rural recovery coalitions. In Center for Substance Abuse Treatment (Ed.), *Treating alcohol and other drug abusers in rural and frontier areas* (pp. 21-26). Washington, DC: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Deehan, A. (2004). The prevention of alcohol-related crime: Operationalising situational and environmental strategies. *Crime Prevention and Community Safety: An International Journal*, 6, 43-52.
- Denny, C. H., Holtzman, D., & Cobb, N. (2003). Surveillance for health behaviors of American Indians and Alaska Natives: Findings from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1997–2000. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 52(SS-7), 1-13.
- Diamond, J., Ingle, D., & Middaugh, J. (1997). *Epidemiology of alcohol-related injuries in emergency rooms in Anchorage, Alaska 1996*. Anchorage, AK: Department of Health and Human Services, Municipality of Anchorage.
- Division of Alcoholism and Drug Abuse. (1999). *A summary of recent findings regarding substance abuse in Alaska*. Juneau, AK: Department of Health and Social Services. http://www.hss.state.ak.us/DBH/PDF/substance%20abuse/ExecSmries.pdf.
- Doerner, W. G. (1988). The impact of medical resources on criminally induced lethality: A further examination. *Criminology*, 26, 171-180.
- Dozier, E. P. (1966). Problem drinking among American Indians: The role of sociocultural deprivation. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, *39*, 72-86.
- Ehlers, C. L., Slutske, W. S., Gilder, D. A., Lau, P., & Wilhelmsen, K. C. (2006). Age at first intoxication and alcohol use disorders in Southwest California Indians. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 30(11), 1856-65.
- Ekblom, P. (1994). Proximal circumstances: A mechanism-based classification of crime prevention. *Crime Prevention Studies*, 2, 185-232.
- Ellickson, P. L., Tucker, J. S., & Klein, D. J. (2003). Ten-year prospective study of public health problems associated with early drinking. *Pediatrics*, *111*(5 Pt 1), 949-955.
- Ellis, B. H. (2003). Mobilizing communities to reduce substance abuse in Indian country. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 35(1), 89-96.

- Ellis, B. H. (1999). The latest view: An updated report on substance abuse-related social indicators, McKinley County, New Mexico. Gallup, NM: Northwest New Mexico Fighting Back, Inc.
- Farquhar, B. (2005, August 21). Meth ring targeted reservations. Casper Star-Tribune, A1.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (2005). *Crime in the United States*, 2004. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice.
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (1988). *Uniform Crime Reporting: National Incident-Based Reporting System*. Washington, DC: US Department of Justice.
- Federman, E. B., Costello, E. J., Angold, A., Farmer, E. M. Z., & Erkanli, A. (1997). Development of substance use and psychiatric comorbidity in an epidemiologic study of white and American Indian young adolescents the Great Smoky Mountains Study. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 44(2-3), 69-78.
- Felson, M. (2002). Crime in everyday life (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Ferguson, S. A., Wells, J. K., & Lund, A. K. (1995). The role of passive alcohol sensors in detecting alcohol impaired drivers at sobriety checkpoints. *Alcohol, Drugs, and Driving*, 11, 23-29.
- Fisher, R. J. (1993). Social desirability bias and the validity of indirect questioning. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 20, 303-315.
- Florio, G. (2002, April 4). 'Killing field' still troubles Lakota: Protests don't stop alcohol, woe from flowing. *Denver Post*, A-21.
- Fuller, L. L. (1975). Alcoholic beverage control: Should the remaining reservations repeal prohibition under 18 U.S.C. 1161? *American Indian Law Review*, *3*(2), 429-444.
- Gallaher, M. M., Fleming, D. W., Berger, L. R., & Sewell, C. M. (1992). Pedestrian and hypothermia deaths among Native Americans in New Mexico. Between bar and home. *JAMA*, 267(10), 1345-1348.
- Gelles, R. J., & Straus, M. A. (1994). *Physical violence in American families, 1985* (3rd ed.). Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research [distributor].
- Goldberg, C., Valdez Singleton, H., & Champagne, D. (2007). *Law enforcement and criminal justice under Public Law 280*. Los Angeles, CA: University of California, Los Angeles, Tribal Law and Policy Institute.

- Gone, J. P., & Alcántara, C. (2007). Identifying effective mental health interventions for American Indians and Alaska Natives: A review of the literature. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology. Vol.* 13(4), 13(4), 356-363.
- Goodman, R. A., Mercy, J. A., Loya, F., Rosenberg, M. L., Smith, J. C., Allen, N. H., et al. (1986). Alcohol use and interpersonal violence: alcohol detected in homicide victims. *American Journal of Public Health*, 76(2), 144-149.
- Gould, L. A. (1999). *Youth risk survey: Hualapai Nation*. Flagstaff, AZ: Northern Arizona University.
- Gould, L. A. (2006). Alcoholism, colonialism, and crime. In I. J. Ross & L. A. Gould (Eds.), *Native Americans and the criminal justice system* (pp. 87-101). Boulder, CO: Paradigm Publishers.
- Grant, B. F., & Hasin, D. S. (1992). *The Alcohol Use Disorders and Associated Disabilities Interview Schedule*. Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.
- Greenberg, S. W. (1981). Alcohol and crime: A methodological critique of the literature. In J. J. Collins (Ed.), *Drinking and crime* (pp. 70-109). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Griffin, D. B. (2007). *Schedule of local option communities*. Anchorage, AK: Alaska Alcoholic Beverage Control Board. http://www.dps.state.ak.us/ABC/docs/localopt.xls.
- Grobsmith, E. (1989). The Relationship between substance abuse and crime among Native American inmates in the Nebraska Department of Corrections. *Human Organization*, 48(4), 285-298.
- Grossman, D. C., Krieger, J. W., Sugarman, J. R., & Forquera, R. A. (1994). Health status of urban American Indians and Alaska Natives. A population-based study. *JAMA*, 271(11), 845-50.
- Grube, J. W. (2005). Youth drinking rates and problems: A comparison of European countries and the United States. Washington, DC: Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention.
- Guillory, B., Willie, E., & Duran, E. (1988). Analysis of a community organizing case study: Alkali Lake. *Journal of Rural Community Psychology*, *9*(1), 27-35.
- Guthrie, P. (1999). Gallup, New Mexico: On the road to recovery. In J. Streicker (Ed.), *Case histories in alcohol policy* (pp. 143-168). San Francisco, CA: Trauma Foundation.

- Hamilton, C. J., & Collins, J. J. (1981). The role of alcohol in wife beating and child abuse: A review of the literature. In J. J. Collins (Ed.), *Drinking and Crime* (pp. 253-287). New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Hawkins, E. H., Cummins, L. H., & Marlatt, G. A. (2004). Preventing substance abuse in American Indian and Alaska Native youth: Promising strategies for healthier communities. *Psychological Bulletin*, *130*(2), 304-323.
- Hayner, N. S. (1942). Variability in the criminal behavior of American Indians. *The American Journal of Sociology*, 47(4), 602-613.
- Heidt, T. M. (2002). *Domestic violence in North Dakota*, 2001. Bismarck, ND: North Dakota Office of the Attorney General.
- Henderson, E. (2000). Patterns of alcohol use. In S. J. Kunitz & J. E. Levy (Eds.), *Drinking, conduct disorder, and social change: Navajo experiences* (pp. 29-53). New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- von Hentig, H. (1945). The delinquency of the American Indian. *Journal of Criminal Law and Criminology*, 36(2), 75-84.
- Hingson, R., Zakocs, R., Heeren, T., Winter, M., Rosenbloom, D., & DeJong, W. (2005). Effects on alcohol related fatal crashes of a community based initiative to increase substance abuse treatment and reduce alcohol availability. *Injury Prevention*, 11(2), 84–90.
- Hingson, R. W., Heeren, T., Jamanka, A., & Howland, J. (2000). Age of drinking onset and unintentional injury involvement after drinking. *JAMA*, 284(12), 1527-1533.
- Hingson, R. W., Heeren, T., & Zakocs, R. (2001). Age of drinking onset and involvement in physical fights after drinking. *Pediatrics*, 108(4), 872-877.
- Hingson, R. W., & Zha, W. (2009). Age of drinking onset, alcohol use disorders, frequent heavy drinking, and unintentionally injuring oneself and others after drinking. *Pediatrics*, 123(6), 1477-1484.
- Hobfoll, S. E., Kelso, D., & Peterson, W. J. (1980). The Anchorage skid row. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 41(1), 94-9.
- Holder, H. D. (1998). *Alcohol and the community: A systems approach to prevention*. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

- Holder, H. D., Gruenewald, P. J., Ponicki, W. R., Treno, A. J., Grube, J. W., Saltz, R. F., et al. (2000). Effect of community-based interventions on high-risk drinking and alcohol-related injuries. *JAMA*, 284(18), 2341-7.
- Holmes, M. D., & Antell, J. A. (2001). The social construction of American Indian drinking: Perceptions of American Indian and white officials. *Sociological Quarterly*, 42(2), 151-173.
- Hopkins, K. (2008, January 13). Minty fresh, blind drunk; Grocery stores lock up their high-alcohol mouthwashes. *Anchorage Daily News*.
- Hunt, D., & Rhodes, W. (2001). *Methodology guide for ADAM*. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.
- Jacobs, K. J., & Gill, K. J. (2002). Substance abuse among urban aboriginals: Association with a history of physical/sexual abuse. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, *1*(2), 19-39.
- Jimenez, V. J., & Song, S. C. (1998). Concurrent tribal and state jurisdiction under Public Law 280. *American University Law Review*, 47(6), 1627-1707.
- Jiwa, A., Kelly, L., & Pierre-Hansen, S. N. (2008). Healing the community to heal the individual: Literature review of aboriginal community-based alcohol and substance abuse programs. *Canadian Family Physician*, 54(7), 1000–1007.
- Joe, J. R., Chong, J., Young, R., Lopez, D., Jones, B. J., & Gaikowski, G. (2008). Final report:

  Participatory evaluation of the Sisseton Wahepton Oyate IASAP Demonstration Project.

  Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona, Native American Research and Training Center.
- Joe, J. R., Hassin, J., et al. (2008). Final report: Participatory evaluation of the Lummi Nation's Community Mobilization Against Drugs Initiative/Bureau of Justice Assistance's Indian Alcohol and Substance Abuse Demonstration Project. Tucson, AZ: University of Arizona, Native American Research and Training Center.
- Johnson, K., Holder, H., Ogilvie, K., Collins, D., Ogilvie, D., Saylor, B., et al. (2007). A community prevention intervention to reduce youth from inhaling and ingesting harmful legal products. *Journal of Drug Education*, *37*(3), 227-247.
- Jumper-Thurman, P., Vernon, I. S., & Plested, B. (2007). Advancing HIV/AIDS prevention among American Indians through capacity building and the community readiness model. *Journal of Public Health Management*, 13, S49-S54.

- Justice Center. (1996). Village Alaska: Community characteristics and public safety. *Alaska Justice Forum*, 12(4), 1,6-8.
- Kaufman, C. E., & Ramarao, S. (2005). Community confidentiality, consent, and the individual research process: Implications for demographic research. *Population Research and Policy Review*, 24(2), 149-173.
- Kershaw, S. (2006, February 20). Dizzying rise and abrupt fall for a reservation drug dealer. *New York Times*, A1.
- Kibel, B. M., & Holder, H. D. (2003). Community-focused drug abuse prevention. In Z. Sloboda & W. J. Bukoski (Eds.), *Handbook of drug abuse prevention: Theory, science, and practice* (pp. 145-156). New York, NY: Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers.
- Kim, W. (2006). *The economic impacts of American Indian casinos*. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Maryland, College Park.
- King, J. (1999). Denver American Indian mental health needs survey. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 8(3), 1-12.
- Klausner, S. Z., & Foulks, E. F. (1982). *Eskimo capitalists: Oil, politics, and alcohol*. Totawa, NJ: Allanheld, Osmun and Co.
- Klouda, N. (2005, February 17). Where does all the booze come from? *Tundra Drums [Bethel, AK]*, 1,10-11.
- Koss, M. P., Yuan, N. P., Dightman, D., Prince, R. J., Polacca, M., Sanderson, B., et al. (2003). Adverse childhood exposures and alcohol dependence among seven Native American tribes. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 25(3), 238-244.
- Kovas, A. E., McFarland, B. H., Landen, M. G., Lopez, A. L., & May, P. A. (2008). Survey of American Indian alcohol statutes, 1975-2006: evolving needs and future opportunities for tribal health. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 69(2), 183-91.
- Kunitz, S. J., Gabriel, K. R., Levy, J. E., Henderson, E., Lampert, K., McCloskey, J., et al. (1999). Alcohol dependence and conduct disorder among Navajo Indians. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 60(2), 159-67.
- Kunitz, S. J. (2008). Risk factors for polydrug use in a Native American population. *Substance Use & Misuse*, 43(3/4), 331-339.
- Kunitz, S. J. (2006). Life-Course Observations of Alcohol Use among Navajo Indians: Natural History or Careers? *Medical Anthropology Quarterly*, 20(3), 279-296.

- Kunitz, S. J., & Levy, J. E. (1974). Changing ideas of alcohol use among Navajo Indians. Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 35(1), 243-259.
- Kunitz, S. J., & Levy, J. E. (1994). *Drinking careers: A twenty-five year study of three Navajo populations*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Kunitz, S. J., Levy, J. E., McCloskey, J., & Gabriel, K. R. (1998). Alcohol dependence and domestic violence as sequelae of abuse and conduct disorder in childhood. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 22(11), 1079-1091.
- Landen, M. C. (1996). *Alcohol related mortality in Alaska: 1992-94*. State of Alaska Epidemiology Bulletin (Number 6). Juneau, AK: Alaska Division of Public Health. http://www.epi.alaska.gov/bulletins/docs/b1996\_06.htm.
- Landen, M. C. (1997). Alcohol-related mortality and tribal alcohol legislation. *The Journal of Rural Health*, *13*(1), 38-44.
- Landen, M. C., Beller, M., Funk, E., Propst, M., Middaugh, J., & Moolenaar, R. L. (1997). Alcohol-related injury death and alcohol availability in remote Alaska. *JAMA*, 278(21), 1755-1758.
- Leonard, K. E. (2005). Alcohol and intimate partner violence: when can we say that heavy drinking is a contributing cause of violence? *Addiction*, 100(4), 422-425.
- Leonardson, G. R. (2008). *Native American Crime in the Northwest: 2004-2007*. Dillon, MT: Mountain Plains Research.
- de Léséleuc, S., & Brzozowski, J. (2006). *Victimization and offending in Canada's territories*, 2004 and 2005. Ottawa, Ontario: Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics.
- Leung, P. K., Kinzie, J. D., Boehnlein, J. K., & Shore, J. H. (1993). A prospective study of the natural course of alcoholism in a Native American village. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 54(6), 733-8.
- Levy, J. E., & Kunitz, S. J. (1974). *Indian drinking*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Linthicum, L. (2002, December 15). With liquor sales banned in Gallup, toxic brew 'Ocean' a growing choice for alcoholics. *Albuquerque Journal*, A1.
- Lipsey, M. W., Wilson, D. B., Cohen, M. A., & Derzon, J. H. (1997). Is there a causal relationship between alcohol use and violence? A synthesis of evidence. In M. Galanter (Ed.), *Recent developments in alcoholism, volume 13: Alcoholism and violence* (pp. 245-282). New York, NY: Plenum Press.

- Long, L., Braunstein, R., Manning, B., & Anderson, W. D. (2008). Understanding contextual differences in American Indian criminal justice. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 32(4), 41-65.
- Lonner, T. D. (1985). Village alcohol control: Traditional methods and the Local Option Law. *Circumpolar Health*, 84, 335-339.
- Loseke, D. R., Gelles, R. J., & Cavanaugh, M. M. (2005). *Current controversies on family violence* (2nd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Lucas, P. (1985). The Honour of All. Filmwest Associates, Carson City, NV.
- MacAndrew, C., & Edgerton, R. B. (1969). *Drunken comportment: A social explanation*. Clinton Corners, NY: Percheron Press.
- Magen, R. H., & Wood, D. S. (2006). *Intimate partner violence against Ahtna (Alaska Native)* women in the Copper River Basin. Anchorage, AK: University of Alaska Anchorage, School of Social Work.
- Marenin, O. (1992). Explaining patterns of crime in the native villages of Alaska. *Canadian Journal of Criminology*, 34, 339-368.
- May, P. A. (1996). Overview of alcohol abuse epidemiology for American Indian populations. In
  G. D. Sandefur, R. R. Rindfuss, & B. Cohen (Eds.), *Changing numbers, changing needs:*American Indian demography and public health (pp. 235-261). Washington, DC:
  National Academy Press.
- May, P. A. (1992). Alcohol policy considerations for Indian reservations and bordertown communities. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 4(3), 5-59.
- May, P. A. (1975). Arrests, alcohol, and alcohol legalization among an American Indian tribe. *Plains Anthropologist*, 20(68), 129-134.
- May, P. A. (2003). Binge drinking in the Northern Plains tribes. *National Institute of Justice Journal*, 249, 30-31.
- May, P. A. (1976). *Alcohol legalization and Native Americans: A sociological inquiry*. Doctoral Dissertation, University of Montana.
- May, P. A., & Gossage, P. (2001). New data on the epidemiology of adult drinking and substance use among American Indians of the northern states: male and female data on prevalence, patterns, and consequences. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 10(2), 1-26.

- May, P. A., & Smith, M. B. (1988). Some Navajo Indian opinions about alcohol abuse and prohibition: a survey and recommendations for policy. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 49(4), 324-34.
- Mays, G. L., Casillas, C., & Maupin, J. (2006). New Mexico's experience with Indian casinos and crime. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 30(2), 193-207.
- McCord, J. (1993). Considerations in causes of alcohol-related violence. In S. E. Martin (Ed.), *Alcohol and Interpersonal Violence: Fostering Multidisciplinary Perspectives* (pp. 71-79). Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.
- McGue, M., Iacono, W. G., Legrand, L. N., Malone, S., & Elkins, I. (2001). Origins and consequences of age at first drink. I. Associations with substance-use disorders, disinhibitory behavior and psychopathology, and P3 amplitude. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 25(8), 1156-1165.
- McKee, M., Sűzcs, S., Sárváry, A., Ádany, R., Kiryanov, N., Saburova, L., et al. (2005). The composition of surrogate alcohols consumed in Russia. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 29(10), 1884-1888.
- Miller, K. A., Beauvais, F., Burnside, M., & Jumper-Thurman, P. (2008). A comparison of American Indian and non-Indian fourth to sixth graders' rates of drug use. *Journal of Ethnicity in Substance Abuse*, 7(3), 258-67.
- Mills, D. K. (1989). Alcohol and crime on the reservation: A 10 year perspective. *Federal Probation*, 53(4), 12-15.
- Mitchell, C. M., Beals, J., Novins, D. K., Spicer, P., & AI-SUPERPFP Team. (2003). Drug use among two American Indian populations: prevalence of lifetime use and DSM-IV substance use disorders. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 69(1), 29-41.
- Morones, M. (2005, October 17). Department of Law secures funding for Statewide Rural Prosecution Support Team [Press Release]. *Juneau*, *AK: Alaska Department of Law*. http://www.law.state.ak.us/pdf/press/rural-prosecution-release-101705.pdf.
- Mosher, C., Rotolo, T., Phillips, D., Krupski, A., & Stark, K. D. (2004). Minority adolescents and substance use risk/protective factors: A focus on inhalant use. *Adolescence*, *39*, 489-502.
- Mosher, C. J., Miethe, T. D., & Phillips, D. M. (2002). *The mismeasure of crime* (1st ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

- Moskowitz, H., Burns, M., & Ferguson, S. (1999). Police officers' detection of breath odors from alcohol ingestion. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *31*(3), 175-80.
- Municipality of Anchorage. (2006). Domestic violence analysis incidents reported to police in Anchorage, Alaska: Police response and incident characteristics, fourteen year study, 1989-2002. Anchorage, AK: Municipal Department of Health and Human Services.
- Myrstol, B. (2003). Drug use trends among Anchorage arrestees: 1999-2001. *Alaska Justice Forum*, 19(4), 1,1-12.
- Mystrol, B. (2006). *Myth, culture, and meaning: Police patrol, citizen alcohol use and the social construction of the alcohol-related workload myth.* Doctoral Dissertation, Indiana University.
- National Center for Injury Prevention and Control. (2003). Sexual violence prevention: building leadership and commitment to underserved communities. Atlanta, Georgia: Centers for Disease Control.
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (NIAAA). (2004). *The physicians' guide to helping patients with alcohol problems (revised)*. Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.
- National Research Council. (2005). *Improving evaluation of anticrime programs*. Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.
- Nichols, V. R., Litchfield, A., Holappa, T., & Van Stelle, K. (2002). *Tribal strategies against violence: Fort Peck Assiniboine and Sioux Tribes case study*. Washington, DC: ORVUS Associates.
- Norton, I. M., & Manson, S. M. (1996). Research in American Indian and Alaska Native communities: navigating the cultural universe of values and process. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64(5), 856-60.
- O'Connell, J. M., Novins, D. K., Beals, J., & Spicer, P. (2005). Disparities in patterns of alcohol use among reservation-based and geographically dispersed American Indian populations. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 29(1), 107-16.
- Oetting, E. R., Donnermeyer, J. F., Plested, B. A., Edwards, R. W., Kelly, K., & Beauvais, F. (1995). Assessing community readiness for prevention. *International Journal of the Addictions*, 30(6), 659-683.

- Oetting, E. R., Swaim, R. C., Edwards, R. W., & Beauvais, F. (1989). Indian and Anglo adolescent alcohol use and emotional distress: Path models. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 15(2), 153-172.
- Office of Applied Studies. (2003). Substance use among American Indians or Alaska Natives. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Office of Applied Studies. (2007a). Substance use and substance use disorders among American Indians and Alaska Natives. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Office of Applied Studies. (2007b). *Use of marijuana and blunts among adolescents: 2005*. The NHSDA Report. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Offord, D. R., & Kraemer, H. C. (2000). Risk factors and prevention. *Evidence-Based Mental Health*, *3*(3), 70-71.
- Ogilvie, K. A., Moore, R. S., Ogilvie, D. C., Johnson, K. W., Collins, D. A., & Shamblen, S. R. (2008). Changing community readiness to prevent the abuse of inhalants and other harmful legal products in Alaska. *Journal of Community Health*, 33(4), 248-258.
- Okwumabua, J. O., & Duryea, E. J. (1987). Age of onset, periods of risk, and patterns of progression in drug use among American Indian high school students. *International Journal of the Addictions*, 22(12), 1269-76.
- Partners for Progress. (2007). Welcome to the Partners for Progress Website. Retrieved from http://www.partnersforprogressak.org/index.php?option=com\_frontpage&Itemid=1.
- Peak, K. (1989). Criminal justice, law, and policy in Indian Country: A historical perspective. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 17, 393-407.
- Pemberton, M., Colliver, J., Robbins, T., & Gfroerer, J. (2008). *Underage alcohol use: Findngs from the 2002-2006 National Surveys on Drug Use and Health*. Rockville, MD: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Perry, S. W. (2004). *American Indians and crime, 1992-2002*. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Perry, S. W. (2005). *Census of tribal justice agencies in Indian County, 2002*. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics.

- Plunkett, M., & Mitchell, C. M. (2000). Substance use rates among American Indian adolescents: Regional comparisons with Monitoring the Future high school seniors. *Journal of Drug Issues*, 30(3), 575-591.
- Postle, G., Rosay, A. B., Wood, D. S., & TePas, K. (2007). *Descriptive analysis of sexual assault incidents reported to Alaska State Troopers:* 2003-2004. Anchorage, AK: Justice Center, University of Alaska Anchorage.
- Quintero, G. (2000). "The lizard in the green bottle": "aging out" of problem drinking among Navajo men. *Social Science & Medicine*, *51*(7), 1031-1045.
- Ramstedt, M. (2001). Alcohol and suicide in 14 European countries. *Addiction*, 96(Suppl. 1), S59-S75.
- Reaves, B. A. (2007). *Census of state and local law enforcement agencies*, 2004. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Richters, J. E., & Cicchetti, D. (1993). Mark Twain meets DSM-III-R: Conduct disorder, development, and the concept of harmful dysfunction. *Development and Psychopathology*, 5, 5-29.
- Riffenburgh, A. S. (1964). Cultural influences and crime among Indian-Americans of the Southwest. *Federal Probation*, 23(1), 38-46.
- Rifkin, E., & Bouwer, E. (2007). *The illusion of certainty: Health benefits and risks*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Rivera, M., Rosay, A. B., Wood, D. S., Postle, G., & TePas, K. (2008). *Descriptive analysis of assaults in domestic violence incidents reported to Alaska State Troopers: 2004.*Anchorage, AK: Justice Center, University of Alaska Anchorage.
- Riverton City Council. (2000). *Minutes of the Special Meeting, June 13, 2000*. Riverton, WY. http://riverton.wyoming.com/Minutes/00-06-13 Special Council Meeting.htm.
- Roberts, J. (2004, May 6). Brew Review. Anchorage Press, 38.
- Robin, R. W., Long, J. C., Rasmussen, J. K., Albaugh, B., & Goldman, D. (1998). Relationship of binge drinking to alcohol dependence, other psychiatric disorders, and behavioral problems in an American Indian tribe. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research*, 22(2), 518-523.

- Roizen, J. (1997). Epidemiological issues in alcohol-related violence. In M. Galanter (Ed.), Recent developments in alcoholism, volume 13: Alcoholism and violence (pp. 7-40). New York, NY: Plenum Press.
- Room, R., & Makela,, K. (2000). Typologies of the cultural position of drinking. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 61, 475-483.
- Rosay, A. B., & Langworthy, R. H. (2003). *Descriptive analysis of sexual assaults in Anchorage, Alaska*. Anchorage, AK: Justice Center, University of Alaska Anchorage.
- Saylor, B., Fair, M., Deike-Sims, S., Johnson, K., Ogilvie, K., & Collins, D. (2007). The use of harmful legal products among pre-adolescent Alaskan students. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 66(5), 425–436.
- Saylor, B., Kehoe, B., Smith, S., & Starratt, P. (2000). *Evaluation of the Chemical Misuse Treatment and Recovery Services (CMTRS) Program*. Anchorage, AK: University of Alaska Anchorage, Institute for Circumpolar Health Studies.
- Saylors, K., & Daliparthy, N. (2006). Violence against Native women in substance abuse treatment. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 13(1), 32-51.
- Schenker, N., & Gentleman, J. F. (2001). On judging the significance of differences by examining the overlap between confidence intervals. *American Statistician*, 55(3), 182-186.
- Schultz, R. D., Rice, D. P., Parker, D. L., Goodman, R. A., Stroh, G., & Chalmers, N. (1991). Quantifying the disease impact of alcohol with ARDI software. *Public Health Reports*, 106(4), 443-450.
- Segal, B. (1991). *Homelessness and drinking: A study of a street population*. New York, NY: Haworth Press.
- Segal, B., & Saylor, B. (2007). Social transition in the North: Comparisons of drug-taking behavior among Alaska and Russian Natives. *International Journal of Circumpolar Health*, 66(1), 71-76.
- Shinohara, R. (2005, June 26). Clean campaign; Liquor store owner works to establish camps for those in need. *Anchorage Daily News*, A1.
- Shively, M., Wood, D. S., Olsho, L., Rhodes, W., & Chapman, M. (2008). *Evaluation of the Rural Alaska Alcohol Interdiction, Investigation, and Prosecution Program*. Cambridge, MA: Abt Associates.

- Shore, J., Manson, S. M., & Buchwald, D. (2002). Screening for alcohol abuse among urban Native Americans in a primary care setting. *Psychiatric Services*, *53*(6), 757-760.
- Sjogren, H., Bjornstig, U., & Eriksson, A. (1997). Comparison between blood analysis and police assessment of drug and alcohol use by injured drivers. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 25(3), 217-223.
- Skogan, W. G. (1990). Disorder and decline: Crime and the spiral of decay in American neighborhoods. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Smart, R. G. (1979). A note on the effects of changes in alcohol control policies in the Canadian North. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 40, 908-913.
- Smart, R. G. (1988). Inhalant use and abuse in Canada. In R. A. Crider & B. A. Rouse (Eds.), *Epidemiology of inhalant abuse: An update* (pp. 121-139). Rockville, MD: National Institute on Drug Abuse.
- Spicer, P., Novins, D. K., Mitchell, C. M., & Beals, J. (2003). Aboriginal social organization, contemporary experience and American Indian adolescent alcohol use. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 64(4), 450-457.
- Staley, R. A. (2008). Congressional hearings: Neglected sources of information on American Indians. *Government Information Quarterly*, 25(3), 520-540.
- Steele, C. B., Cardinez, C. J., Richardson, L. C., Tom-Orme, L., & Shaw, K. M. (2008). Surveillance for health behaviors of American Indians and Alaska Natives - Findings from the behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 2000-2006. Cancer, 113(S5), 1131-1141.
- Stewart, O. C. (1964). Questions regarding American Indian criminality. *Human Organization*, 23, 61-66.
- Stillner, V., Kraus, R. F., Leukefeld, C. G., & Hardenbergh, D. (1999). Drug use in very rural Alaska villages. *Substance Use & Misuse*, *34*, 579-93.
- Stinson, F. S., Yi, H., Grant, B. F., Chou, P., Dawson, D. A., & Pickering, R. (1998). *Drinking in the United States: Main findings from the 1992 National Longitudinal Alcohol Epidemiologic Survey (NLAES)*. Bethesda, MD: National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism.
- Stoddard, M. (2009, March 3). Troubles from Whiteclay prompt call for protest. *Omaha World-Herald*.

- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. (2007). Results from the 2006 National Survey on Drug Use and Health: National Findings. Rockville, MD: Department of Health and Human Services.
- Swaim, R. C., Beauvais, F., Chavez, E. L., & Oetting, E. R. (1997). The effect of school dropout rates on estimates of adolescent substance use among three racial/ethnic groups. *American Journal of Public Health*, 87(1), 51-55.
- Thatcher, R. (1986). The functions of minority group disrepute: The case of Native peoples in Canada. In B. McLean (Ed.), *The political economy of crime: Readings for a critical criminology* (pp. 272-294). Scarborough, Ontario: Prentice Hall.
- Thompson, W. N., Gazel, R., & Rickman, D. (1996). Casinos and crime in Wisconsin: What's the connection? *Wisconsin Policy Institute Report*, 9(9), 1-20.
- Tjaden, P., & Thoennes, N. (1998). Violence and threats of violence against women and men in the United States: 1994-1996 [Computer file]. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research.
- Tjaden, P., & Thoennes, N. (2000). Extent, nature, and consequences of intimate partner violence: Findings from the National Violence Against Women Survey. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Tom-Orme, L. (2006). Research and American Indian/Alaska Native health: A nursing perspective. *Journal of Transcultural Nursing*, 17, 261-265.
- Toomey, S. (2003, November 2). Trouble in Perryville: Village banished their problem resident, but state officials say they had no right. *Anchorage Daily News*.
- Treno, A. J., Gruenewald, P. J., Lee, J. P., & Remer, L. G. (2007). The Sacramento Neighborhood Alcohol Prevention Project: outcomes from a community prevention trial. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 68(2), 197-207.
- Wagenaar, A. C., & Perry, C. L. (1994). Community strategies for the reduction of youth drinking: Theory and application. *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 4(2), 319-345.
- Wakeling, S., Jorgensen, M., Michaelsen, S., & Begay, M. (2001). *Policing on American Indian reservations*. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.
- Walker, C. (2005, August 17). A border solution. Casper Star-Tribune.
- Walker, J. T. (1999). *Statistics in criminal justice: Analysis and interpretation* (1st ed.). Gaithersburg, MD: Aspen Publishers.

- Walker, R. D., Lambert, M. D., Walker, P. S., Kivlahan, D. R., Donovan, D. M., & Howard, M. O. (1996). Alcohol abuse in urban Indian adolescents and women: a longitudinal study for assessment and risk evaluation. *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research*, 7(1), 1-47.
- Wallace Jr., J. M., Bachman, J. G., O'Malley, P. M., Johnston, L. D., Schulenberg, J. E., & Cooper, S. M. (2002). Tobacco, alcohol, and illicit drug use: Racial and ethnic differences among U.S. high school seniors, 1976-2000. *Public Health Reports*, 117(Suppl. 1), S67-S75.
- Wallace Jr., J. M., Bachman, J. G., O'Malley, P. M., Schulenberg, J. E., Cooper, S. M., & Johnston, L. D. (2003). Gender and ethnic differences in smoking, drinking and illicit drug use among American 8th, 10th and 12th grade students, 1976-2000. Addiction, 98(2), 225-234.
- Weibel-Orlando, J. C. (1990). American Indians and prohibition: effect or affect? Views from the reservation and the city. *Contemporary Drug Problems*, 19, 293-321.
- Wells, L. E., & Falcone, D. N. (2008). Tribal policing on American Indian reservations. Policing: An International Journal of Police Strategies & Management, 31(4), 648-673.
- Wells, R. (2004). Selected results from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System for Alaska Natives, 2001-2003. Anchorage, AK: Alaska Native Epidemiology Center.
- Welty, T. K., Lee, E. T., Yeh, J., Cowan, L. D., Go, O., Fabsitz, R. R., et al. (1995). Cardiovascular disease risk factors among American Indians. The Strong Heart Study. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 142(3), 269-287.
- Whitbeck, L. B., Yu, M., Johnson, K. D., Hoyt, D. R., & Walls, M. L. (2008). Diagnostic prevalence rates from early to mid-adolescence among indigenous adolescents: first results from a longitudinal study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 47(8), 890-900.
- Whitesell, N. R., Beals, J., Mitchell, C. M., Spicer, P., Novins, D. K., & Manson, S. M. (2007). Disparities in drug use and disorder: comparison of two American Indian reservation communities and a national sample. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 77(1), 131-41.
- Whittaker, J. O. (1962). Alcohol and the Standing Rock Sioux tribe. *Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 23, 468-479.

- Whittaker, J. O. (1982). Alcohol and the Standing Rock Sioux Tribe; a twenty-year follow-up study. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 43(3), 191-200.
- Wood, D. S. (2008). Alcohol and violence in Nunavut: A comparison of wet and dry communities. Presented at the Canada Research Showcase, Washington State University, Pullman, WA. http://www.darrylwood.com/NunavutAlcoholViolence.pdf.
- Wood, D. S. (2004). Measures of outcomes associated with alcohol abuse in Alaska. *Alaska Justice Forum*, 21(1), 5-9.
- Wood, D. S. (2008). Village Public Safety Officer turnover and violent crime in Alaska Native communities. *The Northern Review*, 28, 248-260.
- Wood, D. S. (2009). The validity of injury surveillance system measures of assault: A lesson from the study of violence in alaska. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 0886260509334398. doi: 10.1177/0886260509334398.
- Wood, D. S., & Gruenewald, P. J. (2006). Local alcohol prohibition, police presence and serious injury in isolated Alaska Native villages. *Addiction*, *101*(3), 393-403.
- Worl Associates. (1978). Alaska OCS Socioeconomic Studies Program: Beaufort Sea Region sociolcultural systems. Anchorage, AK: Bureau of Land Management, Alaska OCS Office.
- Yamashiro, J. M. (1988). Alcohol control in Alaska Eskimo communities: Communal vs. 'official' law. In B. W. Morse & G. R. Woodman (Eds.), *Indigenous law and the state* (pp. 441-465). Dordrecht, Holland: Foris Publications.
- Yu, M., & Stiffman, A. R. (2007). Culture and environment as predictors of alcohol abuse/dependence symptoms in American Indian youths. *Addictive Behaviors*, 32(10), 2253–2259.
- Yuan, N. P., Koss, M. P., Polacca, M., & Goldman, D. (2006). Risk factors for physical assault and rape among Six Native American tribes. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 21(12), 1566-1590.
- Zebrowski, P. L., & Gregory, R. J. (1996). Inhalant use patterns among Eskimo school children in western Alaska. *Journal of Addictive Diseases*, *15*(3), 67-77.
- Zhang, Z. (2004). *Drug and alcohol use and related matters among arrestees*, 2003. Washington, DC: National Institute of Justice.